CHEMICAL REVIEWS

Review

Subscriber access provided by V. Vernadsky | National Library of Ukraine

Ionic Liquids in Heterocyclic Synthesis

Marcos A. P. Martins, Clarissa P. Frizzo, Dayse N. Moreira, Nilo Zanatta, and Helio G. Bonacorso *Chem. Rev.*, **2008**, 108 (6), 2015-2050 • DOI: 10.1021/cr078399y • Publication Date (Web): 11 June 2008

Downloaded from http://pubs.acs.org on December 24, 2008

More About This Article

Additional resources and features associated with this article are available within the HTML version:

- Supporting Information
- Links to the 1 articles that cite this article, as of the time of this article download
- Access to high resolution figures
- Links to articles and content related to this article
- Copyright permission to reproduce figures and/or text from this article

View the Full Text HTML



Ionic Liquids in Heterocyclic Synthesis

Marcos A. P. Martins,* Clarissa P. Frizzo, Dayse N. Moreira, Nilo Zanatta, and Helio G. Bonacorso

Núcleo de Química de Heterociclos (NUQUIMHE), Departamento de Química, Universidade Federal de Santa Maria, 97105-900 Santa Maria-RS, Brazil

Received October 25, 2007

Contents

1.	Introduction	2015
2.	Ionic Liquids	2017
2	.1. Ionic Liquids in Organic Reactions	2017
2	.2. Ionic Liquids as Solvent	2018
2	.3. Ionic Liquids as Catalyst	2019
2	.4. The Role of Ionic Liquids in Specific Reactions	2019
2	.5. Ionic Liquids Presented in This Review	2020
3.	Cyclocondensation Reactions	2020
4.	Synthesis of Three-Membered Heterocycles	2022
4	.1. Aziridines	2022
5.	Synthesis of Five-Membered Heterocycles	2022
5	.1. Pyrroles	2022
5	.2. Furans	2022
5	.3. Thiophenes	2023
5	.4. Pyrazoles	2024
5	.5. Imidazoles	2025
5	.6. Isoxazoles	2027
5	.7. Oxazoles, Oxazolines, and Oxazolidinones	2027
5	.8. Thiazoles and Thiazolidinones	2028
6.	Synthesis of Six-Membered Heterocycles	2030
6	.1. Pyridines	2030
6	.2. Quinolines	2031
6	.3. Acridines	2033
6	.4. Pyrans	2033
6	.5. Flavones	2035
6	.6. Pyrimidines and Pyrimidinones	2035
6	.7. Quinazolines	2037
6	.8. β -Carbolines	2038
6	.9. Dioxanes	2039
6.1	10. Oxazines	2039
6.1	 Benzothiazines 	2040
6.1	12. Triazines	2040
7.	Synthesis of Seven-Membered Heterocycles: Diazepines	2041
8.	Green Aspects of Ionic Liquids	2041
9.	Economic Perspectives for Ionic Liquids	2042
10.	Conclusions	2043
11.	List of Abbreviations	2043
12.	Acknowledgments	2044
13.	References	2044

* Address correspondence to this author. Fax: +55 55 3220 8756. E-mail: mmartins@base.ufsm.br.

1. Introduction

Heterocycles form by far the largest of the classical divisions of organic chemistry. Moreover, they are of immense importance not only both biologically and industrially but to the functioning of any developed human society as well. Their participation in a wide range of areas can not be underestimated. The majority of pharmaceutical products that mimic natural products with biological activity are heterocycles. Most of the significant advances against disease have been made by designing and testing new structures, which are often heteroaromatic derivatives. In addition, a number of pesticides, antibiotics, alkaloids, and cardiac glycosides are heterocyclic natural products of significance for human and animal health. Therefore, researchers are on a continuous pursuit to design and produce better pharmaceuticals, pesticides, insecticides, rodenticides, and weed killers by following natural models. A significant part of such biologically active compounds is composed of heterocycles. These compounds play a major part in biochemical processes and the side groups of the most typical and essential constituents of living cells. Other important practical applications of heterocycles can also be cited, for instance, additives and modifiers in a wide variety of industries including cosmetics, reprography, information storage, plastics, solvents, antioxidants, and vulcanization accelerators. Finally, as an applied science, heterocyclic chemistry is an inexhaustible resource of novel compounds. A huge number of combinations of carbon, hydrogen, and heteroatoms can be designed, providing compounds with the most diverse physical, chemical, and biological properties.¹ In fact, in the Comprehensive Medicinal Chemistry (CMC) database, more than 67% of the compounds listed contain heterocyclic rings, and nonaromatic heterocycles are twice as abundant as heteroaromatics.² It is therefore easy to understand why both the development of new methods and the strategic deployment of known methods for the synthesis of complex heterocyclic compounds continue to drive the field of synthetic organic chemistry. Organic chemists have been engaged in extensive efforts to produce these heterocyclic compounds by developing new and efficient synthetic transformations. Among the new synthetic transformations, cyclocondensation reactions are among the most attractive methodologies for synthesizing heterocyclic compounds,¹ and the need for improved cyclocondensation reactions is evident.

Additionally, ionic liquids (ILs) have attracted increasing interest recently in the context of green organic synthesis. Although ionic liquids were initially introduced as alternative green reaction media because of their unique chemical and physical properties of nonvolatility, nonflammability, thermal stability, and controlled miscibility, today they have marched



Marcos A. P. Martins was born in Carazinho, Rio Grande do Sul (RS) state, Brazil, in 1956 and in 1973 completed the elementary studies in Palmeira das Missões, in the same state. In 1977, he received his undergraduate degree in Chemistry from the Federal University of Santa Maria (RS), and in 1982, he received his Ph.D., under the direction of Professor R. Rittner, from the University of São Paulo, Brazil. In 1981, he moved to the Federal University of Santa Maria, where he is now a Titular Professor in Organic Chemistry. In 1987, he received a DAAD Postdoctoral Fellowship to work with Dr. G. Clar (GTZ), Dr. P. Fischer, and Professor F. Effenberger at Universität Stuttgart, Germany. In 1999, he received the FAPERGS award of the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul for his "outstanding contributions to chemistry". In the Federal University of Santa Maria, he now has leadership for the research group (three Research Associates, one Postdoctoral fellow, seven Ph.D. students, two M.S. students, and five undergraduate students) named NUQUIMHE, Núcleo de Química de Heterociclos, at the Department of Chemistry. His work has appeared in nearly 170 publications, reviews, and book chapters. Professor M. A. P. Martins is a researcher (1A) of the Brazilian National Research Council (CNPq) and serves as independent consultant to several cellulose and tobacco companies. His research interests are centered in heterocyclic chemistry with special emphasis in the development of novel building block precursors, synthetic methods, and use of ionic liquids in condensation reactions, "green procedures", and structural studies.



Clarissa Piccinin Frizzo was born in Ivorá, Rio Grande do Sul state, Brazil, in 1983. She received her B.S. in Pharmacia in 2005 from the Federal University of Santa Maria, Brazil. In 2007, she completed her M.S. degree at the same university under the supervision of Professor Marcos A. P. Martins, working with the synthesis of heterocycles and derivatives in ionic liquids. After that, she started her Ph.D. studies in the same group. Her research interests are focused on the design, preparation, and application of new methods to heterocyclic synthesis.

far beyond this boundary, showing their significant role in controlling reactions as solvent or catalysts.³ Another feature of ionic liquids is their ability to be reused many times. Over the last few years, there have been several reviews published in which ionic liquids occupied a central theme. In these reviews, ionic liquids were considered in terms of (i) how



Dayse das Neves Moreira was born in Canguçu, Rio Grande do Sul state, Brazil, in 1984. She received her undergraduate degree in Chemistry from the Federal University of Pelotas, RS, in 2006, and in 2008, she received her M.S. degree from the Federal University of Santa Maria, RS, Brazil, working under the direction of Prof. Dr. Marcos A. P. Martins. Currently, she is a Ph.D. student with Prof. Dr. Marcos A. P. Martins in the Department of Chemistry of the Federal University of Santa Maria. Her major research interest is to develop new methodologies to synthesize heterocyclic compounds.



Nilo Zanatta was an undergraduate student in Chemistry at the Federal University of Santa Maria, Santa Maria, Brazil. He obtained his graduate degree at the Chemistry Institute of São Paulo University, São Paulo, Brazil, in 1981 under the supervision of Professor Roberto Rittner Neto. In 1982, he started his Ph.D. degree at the Chemistry Department of Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY, under the guidance of Professor George C. Levy, obtaining his Ph.D. degree at the beginning of 1986. His doctoral thesis focused on carbon-13 NMR assignments, structure, and dynamics of deoxyoligonucleotides. In 1986, he began his professional carrier as professor at the Chemistry Department of Federal University of Santa Maria, and now he is Associate Professor. Since 1986 he has been the director of the NMR laboratory and GC-MS facilities. His research activity is focused on heterocyclic chemistry, synthesis from halogenated enones, and structural studies thereof.

ionic liquids might be useful in catalysis, not only for homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysis but for transition metal-mediated catalysis and organometallic reactions as well,^{4c,d} (ii) their use as solvents in organic and bio-organic reactions,^{5,6} and (iii) their reactivity.⁷ However, there are few reviews available that deal with specific reactions in ionic liquids.^{6,8} Although condensation reactions are among the reactions mentioned in some of these reviews, there has not yet been any review dealing with the employment of ionic liquids in heterocyclic synthesis from cyclocondensation reactions. In addition, some common heterocycles, for example, pyrazoles and isoxazoles, have not yet been synthesized from cyclocondensation reactions using ionic liquids.



Helio Gauze Bonacorso was born in Santa Maria, Brazil, in 1962. He studied chemistry at the Federal University of Santa Maria, Brazil, where he obtained his graduate degree in 1985 and his M.Sc. degree in 1988. Subsequently, he received his doctorate in 1993 from the University of Stuttgart, Germany, working within the group of Prof. Franz Effenberger and focused his doctoral thesis on the development of new methods for the synthesis of azepinones and condensed heterocyclic system derivatives. Since 1991, he has been Professor of Organic Chemistry of the Federal University of Santa Maria, Brazil, and during his research career, he has been the author or coauthor over 120 scientific papers, reviews, and book chapters. His current research interests include heterocyclic chemistry focused on the synthesis, structure determination, and biological evaluation of five-, six- and seven-membered trichloro(fluoro)methyl-substituted heterocycles.

Hence, the purpose of this review is to show the application of ionic liquids in heterocyclic syntheses from cyclocondensation reactions. This denotes a great deal of material to be covered; thus it was necessary to make some limitations to the scope of this review: (i) heterocycles obtained from cycloaddition reactions were excluded; (ii) only papers using ionic liquids as a solvent, liquid support, or catalyst have been considered, but biocatalyst reactions have been excluded; (iii) papers in which the reactivity of ionic liquids was evaluated have also been excluded.

The data shown in this review correspond to the period ending in March 2007. If some references are more recent, they correspond to results that were available to us during the elaboration of this manuscript. The data in the tables referred to as "the present study" are reported here for the first time. We have arranged the large volume of data in terms of the type of heterocycle formed, starting with three-, five-, six-, and seven-membered rings in the order of an increasing number of heteroatoms (that is, first with one heteroatom, two heteroatoms, and three heteroatoms) and the heteroatom order of N then O then S. Such systematic treatment may be useful in selecting the direction of further research.

2. Ionic Liquids

Ionic liquids are generally defined as liquid electrolytes composed entirely of ions, and occasionally a melting point criterion has been proposed to distinguish between molten salts and ionic liquids (mp < 100 °C). However, both molten salts and ionic liquids are better described as liquid compounds that display ionic—covalent crystalline structures.^{9,10} Room-temperature ionic liquids (ILs) based on 1-alkyl-3methylimidazolium salts were first reported in 1982 by Wilkes et al. as tetrachloroaluminates (first generation).¹¹ Replacement of this moisture-sensitive anion by the tetrafluoroborate ion and other anions led, in 1992, to air- and



Figure 1. The three IL generations.

water-stable (second generation) ionic liquids,¹² which have since found increasing applications as reaction media for various kinds of organic reactions. At the onset of the new millennium, the concept of task-specific ionic liquids (third generation) was introduced by Davis.¹³ These compounds are defined as ionic liquid in which the anion, cation, or both covalently incorporate a functional group (designed to endow them with particular properties, either physical or chemical or in terms of reactivity) as a part of the ion structure (Figure 1).^{13,14}

Suitably selected, many combinations of cations and anions allow the design of ionic liquids that meet all the requirements for the chemical reaction under study. This has gained them the alias of "designer solvents".¹⁵ Properties such as solubility, density, refractive index, and viscosity can be adjusted to suit requirements simply by making changes to the structure of the anion, the cation, or both.^{3,16,17}

2.1. Ionic Liquids in Organic Reactions

Many studies have reported on the application of ionic liquids in different areas and, in particular, on their use in organic reactions. On the other hand, there are a few reports that provide a clear discussion on questions such as "how do ionic liquids act in organic reactions?" or "are ionic liquids solvents, catalysts, or both?" Perhaps for the synthetic organic chemist, these questions are secondary, considering the significant improvement in products yields, reaction times, reaction work-up, etc., that they confer. However, we believe that the answer to (or at least the awareness of) these questions will allow the synthetic organic chemist to better plan the synthesis and thus improve results, making ionic liquids a strong tool in the area of organic synthesis.

"How ionic liquids act in organic reactions" is not clear and there has been and continues to be much controversy over this fact. Nevertheless, the authors agree that "the data on properties, such as dielectric constants, polarity, etc. are not sufficient to explain the solvent/catalyst effect of ionic liquids in organic transformations". Some have suggested that ionic liquids act as an organocatalyst.¹⁸ One of the promising approaches to organocatalysis is through hydrogenbonding interactions, and the results obtained with some ionic liquids have confirmed this statement and demonstrate their potential to have a huge impact on organocatalysis. On the other hand, Welton^{4b,d} has studied catalytic reactions in ionic liquids and has postulated that the potentially most powerful way in which an ionic liquid can be used in catalysis is as a combination of solvent and catalyst. From this postulate, whenever changing solvent leads to a faster reaction, the new solvent can be considered a catalyst. After all, the reaction has been accelerated, and the solvent has remained unchanged by the process. In this sense, many studies on the properties of the solvents of the ionic liquids have been carried out. There is indeed a great amount of data on properties such as dielectric constants and polarity that have been obtained from different methods. Each author argues

Table 1. Kamlet-Taft Solvent Parameters for Several ILs

	E_{T}^{a}	π^*	α	β	ref
[BMIM][BF ₄]	0.67	1.047	0.627	0.376	24
[BMIM][PF ₆]	0.669	1.032	0.634	0.207	24
[BMIM][TfO]	0.656	1.006	0.625	0.464	24
[BMIM][Tf ₂ N]	0.644	0.984	0.617	0.243	24
$[OMIM][PF_6]$	0.633				22b
ethanol	0.65				5a

 $^{a}E_{T} = 28592/(\text{the wavelength maximum of the lowest energy }\pi-\pi^{*}$ absorption band of the zwitterionic Richardt's dyes).^{5a}

that his method to determine some properties for a particular substrate or solvent is the best. For example, some studies indicate that ionic liquids have polarities similar to those of short-chain alcohols and other polar, aprotic solvents (DMSO or DMF) and that their polarity is intermediate between that of water and chlorinated organic solvents, varying in accordance with the nature of the its components.^{3,19} Others report that they exhibit solvent strengths as great as or greater than the most polar aprotic solvent (acetonitrile).²⁰ Still others have classified them as solvents of moderate polarity.²¹

2.2. Ionic Liquids as Solvent

Considering that the majority of studies in the literature show ionic liquids in a molar ratio ≥ 1.0 in relation to substrate, we believe that the best approach to answering the above-mentioned questions is considering the ionic liquid as a solvent. Solvent polarity is the most commonly used solvent classification. The simplest qualitative definition is that a polar solvent is one that will dissolve and stabilize dipolar or charged solutes. It is widely thought, though yet to be generally demonstrated, that under this definition, ionic liquids will be highly polar solvents. Moreover, attempts have been made to develop empirical solvent polarity scales of ionic liquids as a means of helping to explain differences in solvent-mediated reaction pathways, reaction yields, synthesis product ratios, chromatographic retention, and extraction coefficients. More than 20 years ago, Abboud, Kamlet, and Taft proposed an interesting system to separate nonspecific effects of the local electrical fields from hydrogen-bonding effects. Based on the comparison of the effects on the UV-visible spectra of sets of closely related dyes, they evaluated some properties, in particular, dipolarity or polarizability (π^*), H-bond basicity (β), and H-bond acidity (α).²² Different investigations of solvent-solute interactions in ionic liquids using solvatochromic dyes have been reported.^{20,23} Recently, Crowhurst et al.²⁴ applied the Abboud-Kamlet-Taft method using three solvatochromic dyes (Richardt's²⁵ dye, *N*,*N*-diethyl-4-nitroaniline, and 4-aniline) to determine the solvent parameters π^* , β , and α of imidazolium ILs (Table 1). The π^* values found by Crowhurst et al. for the investigated ILs indicate that the dipolarity or polarizability of these salts is higher than that of alkyl chain alcohols. Although differences between the ILs are small, both the cation and the anion affect this parameter. At variance, the H-bond basicity of the examined ILs covers a large range, from a similar value to that of acetonitrile to lower β -values. The anion nature dominates this parameter. Finally, the H-bond acidity is determined by the cation, even if a smaller anion effect is present. In particular, it has been suggested that the α values are controlled by the ability of the cation to act as an H-bond acceptor; a strong anion-cation interaction reduces the ability of the cation to hydrogen bond with the substrate. The acidity of the investigate ILs is generally less than those of water and most short-chain alcohols but greater than those of many organic solvents, such as aniline.

The solvent properties of the ionic liquids have also been investigated using chromatographic techniques.²⁶⁻²⁸ It was generally found that the ionic liquids could be considered to be polar phases with the solvent properties being largely determined by the ability of the salt to act as a hydrogenbond donor or acceptor. Anderson et al. measure solvent properties of ionic liquids²⁹ using the GC retention times of a range of probe solutes on a variety of columns using ionic liquids as the stationary phases; they were able to make some general statements as to how the ionic liquids were behaving. The ionic liquids were interacting with solute via high dipolar and dispersion forces and also acting as strong hydrogen bond bases. The dipolar forces and hydrogen bond basicity varied with the different ionic liquids, whereas the dispersion forces were nearly constant for all of the ionic liquids studied. The hydrogen bond basicity was dominated by the choice of anion. When hydrogen bond acidity was observed, it arose from the cation of the ionic liquid, although the anion also greatly influenced this property.

Most simple molecular solvents (hexane, for example) are limited in the number and types of solvation interactions possible with dissolved molecules. More complex solvents with additional functional groups can produce additional interactions with dissolved molecules. Ionic liquids are among the most complex solvents. Given their structure and the diversity of their functionality, they are capable of most type of interactions (e.g., dispersive, $\pi - \pi$, $n - \pi$, hydrogenbonding, dipolar, and ionic or charge-charge). In every solution, there may be a number of differences (in terms of type and strength) and often simultaneous solute-solvent interactions. The various single-parameter polarity scales are essentially weighted averages of all possible solute-solvent interactions. Thus, it is not surprising that these averages are similar for any class of solvents and that they do not adequately explain many experimental observations. Since ionic liquids are much more complex solvent systems capable of undergoing many types of interactions, characterizing them with a single polarity term fails to encompass the broad spectrum of types and the magnitude of individual interactions that make each ionic liquid unique. Ionic liquids exhibit multiple behaviors, which explains why many ionic liquids act as polar solvents in organic reactions containing polar molecules and as less polar solvents in the presence of less polar molecules.²⁹ Also, the well-established scenarios for describing dipolar interactions in molecular liquids are not easily transferred to ionic liquids because the net charges of the ions create a fundamentally different environment with partial charge ordering and screening of dipole-dipole interactions by the sea of surrounding ions. The presence of charged species adds new degrees of freedom in the mix of interactions. In this case, the concept of polarity may even require a careful rethinking of the fundamental nature of solvation.³⁰

Clearly, a single parameter of "polarity", "solvent strength", or "interaction" is not sufficient to explain the variation in experimental results in many solvent-mediated processes; however, it is reasonable to postulate that the enhanced rate of the reactions is a result of the decrease of activation energy of the slow reaction step, which in turn is most likely due to the general ionic liquid effect. This can be expected for reactions involving highly polar or charged intermediates,



Figure 2. Schematic Gibbs energy diagram for a general nucleophilic addition to carbonyl carbon: (a) nonpolar solvents; (b) polar solvents.

such as carbocations or carbanions, and activated complexes, which could become more stable and long-lived in this media.^{5b} The influence of solvents on rate constants can be understood in terms of transition-state theory. According to this theory, solvents can modify the Gibbs energy of activation (as well as the corresponding activation enthalpies, activation entropies, and activation volumes) by differential solvation of the reactants and the activated complex. The effect of solvent on reactions was investigated by Hughes and Ingold. They used a simple qualitative solvation model considering only pure electrostatic interactions between ions or dipolar molecules and solvent molecules in initial and transition states³¹ and postulated that a change to a more polar solvent will increase or decrease the reaction rate depending on whether the activated reaction complex is more or less dipolar than the initial reactants (Figure 2). In this respect, the term "solvent polarity" was used synonymously with the power to solvate solute charges. It was assumed to increase with the dipole moment of the solvent molecules and to decrease with increased thickness of shielding of the dipole charges.

2.3. Ionic Liquids as Catalyst

An ionic liquid can be useful if the cation or anion of the ionic liquid can act as a catalyst, catalyst activator, or cocatalyst for a reaction. In some of the more recent examples found in the literature, the ionic liquid is deliberately prepared so that one of the ions serves as the catalyst for the reaction.^{32,33} Functionalized ionic liquids that are able to act as catalysts, particularly imidazolium salts containing anionic selenium species, $[SeO_3Me]^{\ominus}$, have been prepared.³⁴ These salts have been used as selenium catalysts for the oxidative carbonylation of anilines. Analogously, ionic liquids bearing acid counteranions ([HSO₄]^{\ominus} and [H₂PO₄]^{\ominus}) have been used in catalyzed esterifications as recyclable reaction media.³⁵ Similar results have also been obtained using zwitterionic ionic liquids bearing a pendant sulfonate group, which can be converted into corresponding Brønsted acid ionic liquids, by reaction with an equimolar amount of an acid that has a sufficiently low pK_a (TsOH, TfOH).³⁶ Ionic liquids, containing the function SO₃H, have recently been employed in the oligomerization of various alkenes to produce branched alkene derivatives with high conversions and excellent selectivity.³⁷ Protonated ionic liquids have been synthesized by direct neutralization of alkylimidazoles, imidazoles, and other amines with acids and their physical properties (thermal stability, conductance, viscosity) are currently under investigation. However, NMR studies seem to indicate, at least in the case of 1-methylimidazolinium bromide, that the nitrogen proton is not labile, and, therefore, this salt cannot be viewed as a conventional Brønsted acid. Brønsted-basic ionic liquids have also described as catalysts to organic reactions, for example, Ranu and Banerjee demostrated the use of a tailor-made, task-specific, and stable ionic liquid [BMIM][OH] as basic catalyst for Michel addition.³⁸

On the other hand, the asymmetric synthesis of ionic liquids is still at a preliminary stage. Chiral ionic liquids, for example, have been synthesized, and their use in asymmetric synthesis is under investigation.^{39–42} Finally, ionic liquids have been little used as catalysts, and their behavior as such is not well established. One explanation is that it is highly probable that ionic liquids act mainly as solvents in all cases.

2.4. The Role of Ionic Liquids in Specific Reactions

In light of the information addressed above, it is clear that the role of ionic liquids in organic reactions has been investigated in a general manner and that more detailed studies have been limited to certain reactions. The most widely studied reaction in which ionic liquids can be considered solvents is the nucleophilic substitution reaction. Investigations of this reaction have used ionic liquids as solvents for a wide range of chemical processes, both stoichiometric and catalytic. It is well-known that the microenvironment generated by a solvent can change the outcome of a reaction, in terms of both equilibria and rates.⁴ Since ionic liquids have the potential to provide reaction media that are quite unlike any other available at room temperature, it is possible that they will dramatically affect reactions carried out in them. Undeniably, there have been many claims of great improvements in reaction yields and rates when using ionic liquids.⁵ This is the case of the nucleophilic alkylation of nitrogen or oxygen atoms by haloalkanes in the presence of a base, which involves the preformation of an anionic intermediate. In $[BMIM][PF_6]$, the alkylation of indole or naphthol occurs with similar reaction rates compared with organic polar solvents but with very good regioselectivity.⁴³ To understand how such effects may arise, a range of relatively simple and well-understood reactions $(S_N 2)$ was studied in a variety of ionic liquids. The first thing that became apparent from the results reported was that not all ionic liquids were the same, that is, one cannot simply take a conventional organic reaction and replace the solvent with a single ionic liquid and then expect the result to be the same as what would be achieved in any other ionic liquid. Thus, by the same token, the results validate the claims^{5a,44} that ionic liquids can be tailor-made for a given reaction. It is possible to imagine that ionic liquids could be produced with the ideal combination of cation and anion for any given reaction. Although the studies only dealt with $S_N 2$ reactions, it is possible to generally state that when using ionic liquids for reactions of highly associating anions such as halides, reaction rates will probably be greater in ionic liquids composed of the least coordinating cations (poor hydrogen bond acids); that is, the rate of reaction is affected by H-bonding ability and ion pairing of IL. In fact, the relative rates of reaction can be explained (and predicted) by the classical Hughes-Ingold approach to examining solvent effects on organic reactions. The H-bonding ability and ion pairing of ionic liquid have been also used to explain

the increase of reactivity and selectivity of eletrophilic additions. In molecular solvents, the nature of the ionic intermediate is not dependent on the properties of the solvent; in contrast, the lifetime of the ionic intermediate depends on the solvent. Probably also in ILs, the nature of the intermediates is not affected by the medium, whereas the latter can affect the lifetime of these intermediates, affecting the stability of the ionic intermediate or modifying the nucleophilicity of the attack anion. Furthermore, it can also affect the *syn/anti* ratio, decreasing the rate of isomerization of the ionic intermediates through rotation around the C–C bond.

In reaction of electron transfer, the enhancement of reactivity has been attributed to the effect of cation—anion association and the presence of cavities in the ILs. The electron transfer reaction may, however, be affected by the solvent also through the change in the energy of solvation of the charged species. It has been suggested that the highly ordered structure of these salts may contain voids, and these voids can accommodate small solute molecules. Thus, the presence of voids and the ability of small molecules to move within them have also been proposed recently to explain the reactivity of hydrogen radical (H^{*}) atoms with aromatic solutes in ILs.

In the case of Diels-Alder reactions, there is evidence of the importance of the cohesive energy density together with the hydrogen-bonding donor capacity to the reaction rate.^{48–51} The cohesive energy density essentially should quantify solvophobicity, underlining the importance of the hydrophobic interactions in rationalizing the effect of solvents such as water on Diels-Alder reactions. The endo selectivity in ILs is therefore explained considering the ability of the cation of the IL to act as a to hydrogen bond donor, a property that is modulated by the abiblity of the counteranion to act as an hydrogen bond acceptor. An illustration of these effects of the ionic liquid has been shown by the examination of water solvation in ionic liquids using simulation⁵² and vibrational spectroscopy.⁵³ A clear dependence on the dispersion of water in ionic liquids with respect to its concentration has been established. At low concentrations, the water is molecularly dispersed, whereas at higher concentrations, aggregated water is also present. In contrast, in mixtures of water in alcohols, for example, the liquid phase separates on a microscopic scale to form hydrophobic regions and hydrophilic regions.⁵⁴ This detailed description has provided an explanation as to why some "wet" ionic liquids can hydrolytically stabilize, for example, unstable solutes.⁵⁵

Another type of reaction that has been widely studied in ionic liquids is the catalyst reaction.^{4a,b} Ionic liquids have shown significant advantages over conventional solvents for homogeneously catalyzed reactions.^{4c} In these cases, the ionic liquid can be used in "biphasic catalysis" or the catalyst can be entrapped or "immobilized" allowing extraction or distillation of the organic product, and the ionic liquid/catalyst system can be reused. Reactions of transition metal catalysis in ionic liquids with weakly coordinating anions (such as $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]^{\ominus}$, $[BF_4]^{\ominus}$, or $[PF_6]^{\ominus}$ under anhydrous conditions) and cations, which do not coordinate to the catalyst themselves or form species that coordinate to the catalyst under the reaction conditions used, can be considered simple solvents. However, the chemical inertness of these ionic liquids does not necessarily denote that the reactivity of a transition metal catalyst dissolved in an ionic liquid is equal to the reactivity observed in common organic solvents. In order to achieve sufficient solubility of the metal complex, a solvent of higher polarity is required, and this may compete with the substrate for the coordination sites at the catalytic center. Consequently, the use of an inert, weakly coordinating ionic liquid in these cases can result in a clear enhancement of catalytic activity, since some ionic liquids are known to combine high solvation power for polar catalyst complexes (polarity) with weak coordination (nucleophilicity).^{4a} Ionic liquids formed by treatment of a halide salt with a Lewis acid (such as chloroaluminate or chlorostannate melts) generally act both as solvent and as cocatalyst in transition metal catalysis. Both the cation and the anion of an ionic liquid can act as a ligand or ligand precursor for a transition metal complex dissolved in the ionic liquid.^{4c,d}

There are several types of reactions in which the pronounced effect of ILs has been observed, but more complete studies of these reactions are yet to be made. The following reactions are of consequence for this review: (i) Michael additions;^{56–58} (ii) cross-condensation of carbonyl compounds with derivatives of cyanoacetic acid;⁵⁹ (iii) 1,4-conjugate addition of unmodified aldehyde;^{60,61} (iv) Baylis–Hillman reaction;^{62–64} (v) cross-coupling between aldehydes and allylic alcohols.⁶⁵

2.5. Ionic Liquids Presented in This Review

In view of previous studies on the effect of ionic liquids in certain reactions, we believe it to be very important to evaluate the profile of ionic liquids in cyclocondensation reactions. Indeed, the studies on reactions of S_N2 have shown that not all ionic liquids are the same and that one cannot simply take a conventional organic reaction, replace the solvent with a single ionic liquid, and then expect the result to be the same as would be achieved in any other ionic liquid. Therefore, we intend to investigate whether it is possible to generalize the effect of ionic liquids in cyclocondensation reactions. For this propose, we emphasize that the ionic liquids used in heterocyclic synthesis from cyclocondensation reactions have been classified into five main categories based on their structures (I-V, Table 2) and that the majority of the studies published (>80%) used ionic liquids based on the imidazolinium cation (I). Another important finding is that, as expected, ca. 80% of the authors used a molar ratio of IL ≥ 1.0 in relation to the substrate, ca. 10% use a molar ratio ≤ 0.5 in relation to the substrate, and in ca. 10% of the papers, the authors did not disclose the molar ratio used.

3. Cyclocondensation Reactions

Cyclocondensation (a kind of annulation reaction involving the formation of a ring from one or several acyclic precursors) is a set of condensation reactions in which one-, two-, three-, or multicomponent reactants yield a single main cyclic product with the accompanying formation of some other small molecule(s).⁶⁶

In this review, the synthesis of series of three-, five-, six-, and seven-membered heterocyclic rings obtained from cyclocondensation reactions will be described. These reactions were carried out with different numbers of components, as summarized in the Figure 3. The functional groups contained in each component can react as electrophile (E_1 , E_2 and E_3) or nucleophile (Nu_1 , Nu_2 and Nu_3). In general, the electrophiles are carbon atoms present in functional groups, such as carbonyl, imine, nitrile, β -carbon of $\alpha_{,\beta}$ -unsaturated systems, mono- and dihalo-substituted carbons, and acetal and orthoester

Table 2. Types of ILs Presented in This Review

 R^1

$\overset{R^{1-N} \xrightarrow{\oplus} N_{-R^3}}{\underset{R^2}{\overset{\Theta}}} X^{\Theta}$	$(\textcircled{H})_{\substack{N\\ -1\\ R^1}} x^{\Theta}$	R ¹ I⊕ R ⁴⁻ N ⁻ R ² R ³ X [⊖] N	NH₂ I⊕ Me₂N ∽NMe₂ X⊖	↓ ⊕ × ×	$\Big>$	
I	П	Ш	IV	V		
ionic liquid	Х	\mathbb{R}^1	R ³	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbb{R}^4	
		Ι				
2-AEMIM	PF_6	2-aminoethy	yl Me			
2-HYDEMIM	BF_4	Me	2-hydroxyethyl			
2-HYDEMIM	PF_6	Me	2-hydroxyethyl			
BBIM	BF_4	Bu	Bu			
BDMIM	Tf_2N	Me	Bu	Me		
BDMIM	PFBuSO ₃	Me	Bu	Me		
BDMIM	PF_6	Me	Bu	Me		
BMIM	Br	Me	Bu			
BMIM	Cl	Me	Bu			
BMIM	BF_4	Me	Bu			
BMIM	PF_6	Me	Bu			
BMIM	OH	Me	Bu			
DMIM	BF_4	Me	Decyl			
EMIM	CF ₃ SO ₃	Me	Et			
HBIM	BF ₄	Н	Bu			
HeMIM	BF ₄	Me	Heptvl			
HMIM	Tfa	Н	Me			
PsMIm	PF ₆	Me	polystyrene			
		II				
BPv	BF₄	Bu				
NBP	FeC14	Bu				
BucN	Br	Bu	Bu	Bu	Bu	
Bu N	Cl	Bu	Bu	Bu	Bu	
EtNH.	NO.	Et Et	Du Ц	Du Ц	Du Ц	
Lu 113	1103	Li	11	11	11	
		IV				
TMG	Tfa					
		V				
pyrimido[1,2- <i>a</i>]	CF ₃ SO ₃	Me				
pyrimido[1,2- <i>a</i>] azepin-1-ium ^{<i>a</i>}	CF ₃ SO ₃	Et				
^a 1.8-Diazabicyclo[5.4.0]-7-undecenium.						



Figure 3. Number of components in the cyclocondensation reactions discussed in the review.

carbons; and the nucleophiles are either carbon atoms present in the α -position of aldehydes, ketones, enols, enamines, or heteroatoms such as nitrogen, oxygen, and sulfur.

In Table 3 are shown the reaction type and building blocks that are found in cyclocondensation reactions described in this review. In the first column are ilustrate the reactions type in accordance with the components number. In the second column are explained the number of components, and in the third column are demonstrated the building blocks of the reactions. So, for example, the representation $[3 + 2] \rightarrow$

Table 3.	Reaction	Types	and	Building	Blocks	of
Cyclocon	densation	React	ions			

reaction type	building blocks	product
[1 + 0] [1 + 0] [1 + 0]	One-Component Reaction [CCCCO] [NCNOC] [CCCCCO]	ons furans oxadiazoles flavones
$\begin{array}{l} [2+1] \\ [4+1] \\ [3+2] \\ [4+1] \\ [3+2] \\ [4+1] \\ [3+2] \\ [3+2] \\ [4+1] \\ [3+2] \\ [5+1] \\ [4+1] \\ [4+2] \\ [3+3] \\ [5+1] \\ [5+1] \\ [5+1] \\ [5+1] \\ [4+2] \\ [4+2] \\ [4+2] \\ [4+2] \end{array}$	Two-Component Reactive [CN + C] [CCCC + N] [CCCC + S] [CCC + S] [CCC + NN] [NCCN + C] [NCCN + C] [NCCO + C] [NCCO + C] [NCCS + CC] [CCCN + CC] [CCCN + CC] [CCC + NCN] [CCCC + NCN] [CCCC + C] [NCCS + C] [NCCS + C] [NCCS + C] [NCCC + C] [NCCC + C] [NCCC + C] [NCCS + C] [NCCC + C] [NCC + C] [NC + C]	ons aziridines pyrroles butenolides thiophenes 4,5-dihydropyrazoles imidazoles 4,5-dihydroisoxazoles 2-thiazoles 2-thiazoles 2-thiazoles 2-thiazoles 2-thiazoles 2-thiazoles 2-thiazoles β -carbolines β -carbolines oxazines benzothiazines triazines
$\begin{array}{c} [2+3+1] \\ [2+2+1] \\ [2+2+2] \\ [3+1+1] \\ [3+1+1] \\ [3+2+1] \\ [3+2+1] \\ [3+2+1] \\ [3+2+1] \\ [3+2+1] \\ [3+2+1] \\ [4+1+1] \\ [4+2+1] \end{array}$	Three-Component React [CC+ NCN + C] [CC + CO + C] [CC + CC + S] [CC + CO + CO] [NCN + C + C] [CCO + C + N] [CCS + C + N] [CCN + CC + C] [CCC + CC + N] [CCN + CC + C] [CCO + CC + C]	ions pyrimidines furans thiophenes dioxanes imidazoles oxazolidinone 4-thiazolidinones pyridines pyridines quinolines pyrans quinazolinone benzodiazepines
[2+2+1+1][2+1+1+1][2+2+1+1]	Four-Component Reactiv [CC + CC + C + N] [CC + N + C + N] [CC + CC + C + N]	ons pyridines imidazoles acridines

[CCC + NN] indicated that the heterocycle was formed by two building blocks, one of these building blocks possess three atoms ([CCC]) and the other posess two atoms ([NN]). In the last column are listed the heterocycles obtained. In the one-component cyclocondensation reactions, the formation of one carbon-heteroatom bond was observed. In the two-component cyclocondensation reactions either (i) the formation of two carbon-heteroatom bonds or (ii) the formation of one carbon-heteroatom and one carbon-carbon bond was observed. In the three-component cyclocondensation reactions there were three possibilities: (i) the formation of three carbon-heteroatom bonds, (ii) the formation of two carbon-heteroatom bonds and one carbon-carbon bond, or (iii) the formation of one carbon-heteroatom bond and two carbon-carbon bonds. In the four-component cyclocondensation reactions, either (i) the formation of four carbon-heteroatom bonds or (ii) the formation of two carbon-heteroatom and two carbon-carbon bonds was observed.

The formation of carbon-heteroatom bonds, in general, involves either a nucleophilic addition (in most cases, with a second step elimination reaction) of a heteroatom nucleophile (O, N, or S) to a carbonyl (imine or nitrile) carbon atom or to the β -carbon of α , β -unsaturated systems or a heteroatom nucleophilic substitution into mono- and dihalo-



^{*a*} All reactions were carried out using 0.5 mmol of imine and 0.5 mmol of EDA in 1.5 mL of ionic liquid for 5 h. ^{*b*} The ratio of *cis* and *trans* isomers was determined by GC/MS and ¹H NMR. ^{*c*} Performed with 1.0 mmol of imine and 0.5 mmol of EDA. ^{*d*} Performed with 0.5 mmol of imine, 0.5 mmol of EDA, and 0.1 mmol of [BMIM][PF₆] in 3 mL of CH₂Cl₂ at room temperature for 7 h. ^{*e*} Performed with 0.5 mmol of imine, 0.5 mmol of EDA, and 0.1 mmol of [BMIM][PF₆] in 3 mL of hexane at room temperature for 7 h.

substituted carbons or acetal and orthoester carbons. The formation of carbon–carbon bonds, in general, involves a nucleophilic addition (in most cases, with a second step elimination reaction) of a carbon atom nucleophile (carbonyl α -carbon) to a carbonyl (imine or nitrile) carbon atom or to the β -carbon of α , β -unsaturated systems.

4. Synthesis of Three-Membered Heterocycles

4.1. Aziridines

The aziridine functionality, also called the azaethylene or ethylenimine unit, represents one of the most valuable threemembered ring systems in modern synthetic chemistry because of its widely recognized versatility as a significant building block for chemical bond elaborations and functional group transformations. Its powerful synthetic utility has been demonstrated by an overwhelming amount of documentation on methodologies for the preparation of aziridine, especially those including asymmetric approaches. It also has a broad spectrum of applications in other syntheses.⁶⁷ There is only one route for obtaining aziridines using ionic liquids described in the literature. Xia et al.⁶⁸ described the synthesis of aziridines 3 using ionic liquids from the reaction of imines 1 and EDA 2 (Table 4). The reaction conditions involved equimolar amounts of 1 and 2 in [BMIM][PF₆]. Under these reaction conditions, only the *cis* isomer was obtained in a 93% yield. However, when a catalytic amount of [BMIM][PF₆] was used, there was no formation of aziridine 3. These observation related by the authors explain the results of entries 4 and 5 in Table 4, where a catalytic amount (0.1 mmol) of ionic liquid was dissolved in a co-organic solvents. As summarized in Table 4, arylimines 1 with either electrondonating or electron-withdrawing groups reacted readily with 2 in [BMIM][PF₆], affording the corresponding aziridines 3 with high cisselectivities. The remaining ionic liquid was recovered and reused five times with only a gradual decrease in activity observed (93% to 91% yield). The formation of





R = 4-F-Ph, Ph; R¹ = Fur-2-yl, 4-F-Ph, Bu, Hexyl; R² = Ph, Thien-2-yl, Pyrid-2-yl, Ph; R³ = Ph, 3-HO-Ph

i: Bi(OTf)₃/[BMIM][BF₄], 90°C, 4-5 h (82-90%)

3 in ionic liquids proceeded in a shorter reaction time, but it has been suggested to occur in a manner similar to that previously proposed for typical Lewis acids (BF₃·OEt₂) in molecular solvent such as hexane, in which the yield obtained was 93% after 15 h at 25 °C.⁶⁹

5. Synthesis of Five-Membered Heterocycles

5.1. Pyrroles

Pyrroles are an important class of heterocyclic compounds and are widely used in synthetic organic chemistry and materials science. Due to their distinctive properties, extensive investigations have been made to develop preparative methods for substituted pyrroles. In general, 1,2,3,4-tetrasubstituted pyrroles have been prepared by Knorr reactions,⁷⁰ Hantzsch pyrrole synthesis,⁷¹ or the 1,3-dipole addition of azomethyne ylides with alkynes.⁷² Classical methods to access pyrrole derivatives also involve condensation reactions of 1,4-dicarbonyl reactants.⁷³ Recently, this method of obtaining pyrrole derivatives was adapted in a methodology using ionic liquids, where [BMIM][BF₄] was employed⁷⁴ in the condensation reaction of 1,4-dicarbonyl reactants 4 and primary amines 5 as shown in Scheme 1. Although this route to pyrroles 6 is widely exploited, the publication reported above is the only one in the literature that demonstrates the attainment of this heterocycle using ionic liquids. In the procedure, the ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:16 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused four times with only a gradual decrease in activity (87%, 85%, 81%, and 76% yields). The authors cited that the reaction proceeded smoothly not only in ionic liquids but also in refluxing toluene in the presence of 5 mol % Bi(OTf)3. The use of Bi(OTf)₃/[BMIM][BF₄] was found to be the ideal catalytic system for these condensations. Moreover, the recovery and reuse of Bi(OTf)₃was especially easy in ionic liquids compared with that in toluene. Although the procedure in ionic liquid included a catalyst, Bi(OTf)₃, it was considered more convenient and faster than those iodinecatalyzed reactions using molecular solvents such as THF or dichloromethane (20 h at rt).⁷⁵

5.2. Furans

Furans, another class of heterocycles, are versatile pharmacophores possessing a variety of biological activities.⁷⁶ The furan moiety is a core structure of many alkaloids, such as kallolides and cembranolides.⁷⁶ Furans are generally prepared from 1,4-dicarbonyl compounds using acid catalysts. Strong acids, such as montmorillonite KSF, and basic reactants, including TsCl/DBU, have been used for their synthesis.⁷⁶ Furans can also be prepared through a multicomponent reaction in a one-pot operation. However, the synthesis of furans remains a challenge for synthetic chemists



Scheme 3



 R^1 = Ph, 3-HO-Ph; R^2 = Thien-2-yl, Ph; R^3 = Bu, 4-F-Ph, Hexyl

i: Bi(OTf)₃/[BMIM][BF₄], 90°C, 4 - 4.5 h (80-85%).

because of their sensitivity to acids. Taking this into account, Yadav et al.⁷⁷ developed a synthetic route using ionic liquids to synthesize 2-aminofurans 10. These furan derivatives 10 resulted from the multicomponent coupling of aldehydes 8, dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate 7, and cyclohexyl isocyanide **9** (Scheme 2). The use of [BMIM][BF₄] in a molar ratio of 1:16 (reactant/IL) at room temperature afforded products 10 in high yields and a short time reaction without the need for a catalyst. In addition, the ionic liquid was easily recovered after the reaction and reused several times without loss of activity, even after the fourth reuse. This reaction probably proceeded via the formation of a zwitterionic intermediate from DMAD and 9, which underwent addition on the carbon-oxygen double bond and subsequently resulted in the formation of **10**. The anticipated zwitterionic intermediate exhibited enhanced reactivity in the ionic liquid thereby reducing the reaction times and improving the yields significantly.⁷⁷ The use of molecular solvents such as acetonitrile and tetrahydrofuran gave poor yields (30-65%) in this reaction even under refluxing conditions for long reaction times (8–12 h).

Yadav et al.⁷⁴ also applied ionic liquids to synthesize furans 11 from 4 using 5 mol % Bi(OTf)₃ immobilized in air- and moisture-stable [BMIM][BF₄] (Scheme 3). Various substituted 1,4-dicarbonyl compounds 4 underwent smooth cyclization to give the corresponding trisubstituted furans 11, as shown in Scheme 3. In this procedure, the ionic liquid was used as solvent, and it was recovered and reused four times with only a gradual decrease in activity (87%, 85%, 81%, and 76% yields). In the absence of bismuth(III) triflate, no cyclization was observed in the ionic liquid. In this paper, as in the pyrrole synthesis, the authors observed that there were formations of furans 11 in refluxing toluene in the presence of the same catalytic amount of bismuth(III) triflate. However, the authors concluded that the ideal catalytic system is 5 mol % Bi(OTf)₃/[BMIM][BF₄], because the recovery and reuse of the catalyst was easier in ionic liquids than it was in toluene. Even though these routes needed the catalyst, they could be considered more convenient than those described in the literature, which involve a large quantity of trifluoride etherate (80 mL) and a long reaction time (24 h).⁷⁸

The synthesis of furopyrimidines has received little attention, and only a few procedures have been reported in the literature.^{79,80} In the continuation of their studies on the development of new routes for the synthesis of organic Scheme 4



R¹ = 4-O₂N-Ph, 3-O₂N-Ph; R² = *c*-Hexyl, *t*-Butyl, 2,6-(Me)₂-Ph

i: [BMIM][Br], r.t., 10-20 min (75-90%)

Scheme 5

 $Me + CN + CN + CO_2Et + CO_2$

compounds using ionic liquids⁸¹ and in their interest in isocyanide-based MCRs,⁸² Shaabani et al.⁸³ developed a synthesis of furo[2,3-d]pyrimidine-2,4(1H,3H)-diones 14 via the three-component condensation of N,N'-dimethylbarbituric acid 12, aldehydes 8, and alkyl or aryl isocyanides 13 in [BMIM][Br] in a molar ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL) at room temperature (Scheme 4). To explore the scope and limitations of this reaction, Shaabani et al.studied the reactions of 12 and 13 with 8 bearing either electron-releasing or electronwithdrawing substituents. It was found that the presence of an electron-withdrawing functional group was necessary for the formation of the desired product, because when 8 was carrying electron-releasing groups (such as 4-Me or 4-OMe) the products were obtained in poor yields. To illustrate the need for [BMIM][Br], the reaction of 4-nitrobenzaldehyde, 12, and cyclohexyl isocyanide 13 was studied in the absence of [BMIM][Br]. The yield of the product was only 60% at room temperature after 24 h. This clearly demonstrates that [BMIM][Br] is an important component of the reaction.

Another interesting class of furan derivatives is that of substituted furan-2-ones (or butenolides). The butenolide moiety is an important framework present in a number of biologically active compounds.⁸⁴ The synthesis of this kind of compound involves a base-catalyzed transesterification, followed by a Knoevenagel reaction favored by the Thorpe-Ingold effect.⁸⁵ Villemin et al.⁸⁶ investigated the synthesis of butenolides 17 using ionic liquids with ethyl cyanoacetate 16, and several α -hydroxyketones 15 (Scheme 5). Different ionic liquids were tested before retaining [BMIM][BF₄] for its easy preparation and convenience. The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1.5 (reactant/IL) and was recovered and reused three times for the same reaction without a loss of yield (94%, 94%, 93%). The butenolides 17 were obtained using [BMIM][BF₄] with better yields than previously reported in the literature in molecular solvents (63%-67%).^{87,88}

5.3. Thiophenes

Thiophenes are yet another class of important and wellstudied heterocycles.⁸⁹ The interest in this kind of heterocycle has spread from early dye chemistry⁹⁰ to modern drug design,⁹¹ biodiagnostics,⁹² electronic and electro-optical devices,⁹³ conductivity-based sensors,⁹⁴ and self-assembled



i: DCC (1 equiv), DMAP (5%), MeCN, r.t., 12 h; ii: S₈ (1 equiv), EDDA (1 equiv), 50°C; iii: EtONa (0.5 equiv), EtOH, r.t., 6 h.

entry ^a	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	time (h)	yield (%)
1	Me	Me	6	75
2	Et	Me	6	77
3	Me	CO ₂ Et	6	70
4	Me	CO ₂ Me	6	69
5	Н	Me	5	68
6	Н	Et	5	67
7	-(CH ₂) ₄ -	3	91
8	-($CH_2)_4$ -	3	89
9	-($CH_2)_4$ -	3	88
10	-(CH ₂) ₃ -	5	83

superstructures.⁹⁵ The general synthetic approach to such compounds either involves functionalization at the α - and β -positions to the sulfur atom of the preconstructed thiophene nucleus⁹⁶ or the construction of a thiophene ring from appropriately substituted open chain precursors.⁹⁷ The latter has become more attractive for its general applicability in the attainment of more complicated substitution patterns.⁹⁸ Gewald et al.99 developed the synthesis of 2-aminothiophenes from the multicomponent condensation of ketones or aldehydes, cyanoacetate, and elemental sulfur. Many modifications of the Gewald reaction have been developed recently, such as using a solid support,¹⁰⁰ microwave irradiation,¹⁰¹ heterogenous catalysis,¹⁰² and Lewis acid catalysis.¹⁰³ Hu et al.¹⁰⁴ reported the synthesis of 2-aminothiophenes **23** by the Gewald reaction using ionic liquids as soluble support (Table 5). As can be seen, the reaction of an ionic liquid with a minor excess of cyanoacetic acid (1.2 equiv) 19 in the presence of DCC and a catalytic amount of DMAP in dry MeCN produced the functionalized ionic liquid phase bond through ester linkage in 20. The reactants, ketones or aldehydes 21, S₈, and EDDA, were then added. Finally, treatment of the corresponding products 22 with NaOEt in ethanol resulted in a very efficient cleavage of ionic liquid support to provide the 2-aminothiophenes 23 with high purity and without the need for chromatographic purification. Compared with the conventional liquid phase synthesis methods, the ionic liquid phase bond intermediates were easily isolated and purified by simple filtration and washing with Et₂O to remove the few unreacted materials and neutral byproducts. As liquid support, the ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL). The ionic liquid phase was recovered and reused twice with no appreciable decrease in yields and reaction rates. The attainment of thiophenes 23 **D**1

85

80

80

Scheme 6



 R^1 = Fur-2-yl, Bu, Hexyl; R^2 = Ph, Thien-2-yl; R^3 = Ph, 3-HO-Ph

i: Bi(OTf)₃/[BMIM][BF₄], 90°C, 4.5 - 5.0 h (80-87%)

Table 6. Synthesis of 4,5-Dihydropyrazoles

X _{3'}	0 R C 26	1 `OR ⁺ H ₂	0 N NH 2	Hi NH ₂ •HCI 7 H	
<i>İ</i> : [BMIM][BF	₄], 80°C, ′	1 h.		28
				yields $(\%)^a$	yields (%)
				[conventional	[the present
entry	R	\mathbb{R}^1	Х	method]	study]
1	Et	Н	Cl	65	78
2	Me	Me	Cl	71	73
3	Mo	Dh	C1	80	86

73

65

Me ^a Reflux (EtOH), 16 h.^{108d}

Et

Me

4 5

6

Η

Me

Ph

F

F

using molecular solvents such as THF entailed a painstaking, tedious, and long procedure with the addition of TiCl₄ at 0 °C followed by pyridine and stirring overnight at room temperature.¹⁰⁵ The yields obtained in THF/TiCl₄ were similar to those found in ionic liquid.

Yadav et al.⁷⁴ exploited the applicability of ionic liquids in a one-pot synthesis of substituted thiophenes 25. The reaction from 1,4-dicarbonyl compounds 4 and Lawesson's reagent 24 was conducted using $Bi(OTf)_3$ (Scheme 6). Similar to the synthesis of pyrroles 6 and furans 11, ionic liquid was used as solvent, and it was recovered and reused four times with only a gradual decrease in activity (87%, 85%, 81%, and 76% yields). In this simple synthesis, as was also shown for pyrroles 6^{74} and furans 11^{74} , the catalytic system, 5 mol % Bi(OTf)₃/[BMIM][BF₄], was considered the ideal catalyst compared with toluene.

5.4. Pyrazoles

The vast majority of medicinal drugs or agrochemicals incorporate at least one heterocyclic ring in their molecular structure. Among these, there are many halo-substituted 1Hpyrazoles and derivatives known to exhibit important biological activities.¹⁰⁶ The synthesis of pyrazoles by the socalled [3 + 2] atom fragments has been relatively well investigated. In this method, β -diketones or their derivatives, such as the three-atom fragment, are condensed with hydrazine and its derivatives (the two-atom fragment) to close the five-membered ring.¹⁰⁷ Martins et al. have developed a method for the synthesis of 1,1,1-trihalo-4-alkoxy-3-alken-2-ones, important halogen-containing building blocks for heterocyclic preparations.^{108a,b} These authors have published the synthesis of a series of halogen-containing 4,5-dihydropyrazoles.^{108c,d} Thus, considering the importance of this class of compounds, we reported here for the first time the synthesis of 4,5-dihydropyrazoles 28 using ionic liquids (Table 6).^{108e} 4,5-Dihydropyrazoles 28 were obtained from the reaction of enones 26 with hydrazine 27 in the presence



R = Fur-2-yl, Ph, 4-Toluyl; R¹ = Ph, 4-MeO-Ph, 2-OH-Ph, 4-OH-Ph, 2-Cl-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 2,4-Cl₂-Ph, 4-Br-Ph, 4-F-Ph, 4-CF₃-Ph, 2-OH, 3-OMe-Ph, 3-OMe, 3-NO₂-Ph, 4-NO₂-Ph, 4-NMe₂-Ph, 4-Me-Ph, Piperonyl, *i*-Pr.

i: NH4OAc, [HBIM][BF4], 100°C, 25-120 min (85-98%).

ii: NH₄OAc, [HeMIM][BF₄], MW, 135 W, 2-6 min (74-96%).

of equimolar quantities of ionic liquid. As illustrated in Table 6, these reactions presented some advantages over the same experiment carried out in the absence of an ionic liquid.¹⁰⁸ The yields were higher and the reaction time was shorter in comparison to those for the conventional method performed in absence of pyridine.

5.5. Imidazoles

Compounds with an imidazole ring system have many pharmacological properties and can play important roles in biochemical processes.¹⁰⁹ Several methods of imidazole synthesis can be found in the literature, including hetero-Cope rearrangement,¹¹⁰ four-component condensation of arylglyoxals, the combination of primary amines, carboxylic acids, and isocyanides on Wang resin,¹¹¹the reaction of N-(2oxo)-amides with ammonium trifluoroacetate, 112 the use of 1,2-amino alcohols in the presence of PCl₅¹¹³ and, finally, the combination of diketones, aldehydes, amines, and ammonium acetate in one of five possible media-phosphoric acid,¹¹⁴ acetic acid,¹¹⁵ acetic acid or H₂SO₄ with organocatalysts,¹¹⁶ or DMSO.¹¹⁷ There have been reports of several assisted syntheses of imidazoles from 1,2-diketones and aldehydes in the presence of a variety of catalysts.¹¹⁷⁻¹²³ Siddiqui et al.¹²⁴ described a one-pot condensation of 1,2diketones 29, aldehyde aromatics 8, and ammonium acetate 30 that afforded a diverse array of 2,4,5-triarylimidazoles **31** in excellent isolated yields in the absence of any catalyst (Scheme 7). The authors proposed that [HBIM][BF₄] promoted this reaction by virtue of the inherent Brønsted acidity conferred by its most acid hydrogen, N-H (chemical shift $\delta = 14.6$). This would make the ionic liquids capable of bonding with carbonyl oxygen, increasing the reactivity of the parent carbonyl compounds. The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused three times without any loss of activity. A typical reaction of **29** with 4-anisaldehyde under similar conditions in the absence of a catalyst using molecular solvents such as ethanol, toluene, DMF, or DMSO showed no conversion beyond 30% even after 24 h and in acetic acid gave 80% conversion only after 6 h of reflux, thus underscoring the role of the ionic liquid in efficiently promoting the reaction.124

Xia and Lu^{125} also published the synthesis of 2,4,5triarylimidazoles **31** using the ionic liquid [HeMIM][BF₄]. The method entailed the condensation reaction of **29** with **8** and **30** using microwave irradiation (Scheme 7). The results show that there were no remarkable differences in yields and reaction times between aromatic aldehydes **8** with electrondonating groups and those with electron-withdrawing groups. On the other hand, however, aliphatic aldehydes **8** with long chains such as heptaldehyde were unable to provide the Chemical Reviews, 2008, Vol. 108, No. 6 2025





i: [HBIM][BF₄], 28°C, 10-20 min (84-96%).

desired product in an acceptable yield. The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:12 (reactant/IL), and it was shown that the ionic liquid was an extremely suitable catalytically active medium. The ionic liquid was recovered, and the yields of the products remained the same even after the ionic liquid was reused three times. The traditional method for preparing imidazoles **31** is to reflux the mixture of diketones, bisal-dehydes, and NH₄OAc in acetic acid for 5 h, which affords similar yields.¹²⁵

Srinivasan et al.¹²⁶ reported a one-pot synthesis of 2-aryl benzimidazoles 34 initiated by imidazolium-based ionic liquids. The reaction occurred at room temperature without the need for a catalyst. The compounds were obtained in good yields (82–94%) by reacting 1,2-phenylenediamines 32 with benzoyl chlorides 33 for a short time (10-20 min), as shown in Scheme 8. It is important to mention that there have been previous reports of benzimidazoles 34 produced in a two-step procedure where 32 is treated with 1 equiv of 33 and the resulting monoacylated product is subjected to cyclodehydration under harsh conditions such as heating in aqueous acids and pyrolysis at temperatures between 200 and 350 °C.¹²⁶ Thus, in the reaction using ionic liquid, the authors believed it was most likely that the hydrogen bond interaction between the most acid hydrogen (NH or CH) of the imidazolium cation and the carbonyl oxygen during both the step of acylation and the step of cyclodehydration of the monoacylated product may have promoted the overall reaction. In this protocol, the ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL), and the ionic liquid was recovered almost completely and recycled twice with only a marginal loss in yield the second time it was reused.

Another kind of imidazole derivative, imidazo[1,2-*a*]pyridine, also represents an important class of pharmaceutical compounds.¹²⁷ To date, several synthetic methods have been reported for the preparation of imidazo[1,2-*a*]pyridine ring systems: (i) a five-membered ring is constructed by condensation of 2-aminopyridines with α -haloketones or α -haloaldehydes; (ii) a six-membered ring is constructed from the annulation of imidazoles or the reaction of cyclic ketene aminals; (iii) both of these rings are formed.^{81e,127–132} Several isocyanide-based MCRs have been reported for the synthesis of imidazo[1,2-a]pyridines by the condensation of an aldehyde, an isocyanide, and a 2-aminoazine in the presence of a strong protic $acid^{133-135}$ (AcOH, HClO₄) or Lewis acid $(Sc(OTf)_3)$.¹³⁵ Shaabani et al.^{81e} developed a synthesis for 3-aminoimidazo[1,2-a]pyridines **36** via a three-component condensation reaction of aldehydes 8, 2-amino-5-methyl-[Br]pyridines 35, and isocyanides 13 at room temperature in the presence of [BMIM][Br] (Scheme 9). The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1.4 (reactant/IL), and it was recycled and reused four times with a gradual decrease in the yield of **36** (95%, 92%, 90%, 85%). The reaction between 8, 35, and 13 was also studied in the absence of [BMIM][Br], and the yield of 36 was only 25% at room temperature after 12 h, demonstrating that [BMIM][Br] was indeed an



important component of the reaction.81e The solvophobic effects¹³⁶ of ILs are interesting due the increasing use of surfactants in applications that require water-free or waterpoor media.¹³⁷ It has been suggested by some researchers that ILs can form aggregates.¹³⁸In fact, micelle formation of selected ionic liquids in solution has already been found to take place.^{139–144} The possibilities of micelle formation may have also consequences in the solvation properties of the IL molecules by simple solutes and the formation of dispersed or phase-separated systems. The solvophobic effects of ILs could be responsible for fast and easy approximation of solute (reactant) molecules in the reaction media. The authors believed that in this reaction, the solvophobic properties of ionic liquids are able to promote the association of the reactants in a solvent cavity during the activation process and thereby accelerate the reaction. This property of ionic liquids is especially efficient for MCRs, in which the entropy of the reaction is decreased in the transition state.^{8,9,10,145} The same procedure performed in toluene under reflux and NH₄Cl took 30 h and afforded yields of only 49-65%, ¹⁴⁶ clearly demonstrating the advantages of using ionic liquids.

In another study, Shaabani and Maleki147 reported the synthesis of 3-aminoimidazo [1,2-a] azines 41-43, using ionic liquids ([BMIM][Br]) as a promoter under classical heating conditions, as shown in Table 6. This synthesis proceeded through a multicomponent reaction involving the condensation of aldehydes 8, 2-aminoazines 37-39, and TMSCN 40. The effect of using a variety of 8 and aminoazines 37-39was examined for this reaction and in all cases the products were obtained efficiently, under mild conditions. The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1.4 (reactant/IL) and was recycled and reused four times (Table 7, entry 1; 90%, 86%, 85%, and 80% yields). To illustrate the benefit of using the ionic liquid for these reactions, an experiment was conducted in the absence of an ionic liquid. The yield in that case was only 5% after heating at 80 °C for 3 h. In molecular solvents, the reaction only proceeded with catalysts, such as Sc(OTf)₂, HClO₄, or AcOH, at room temperature for 48 h and yielded no more than 65%.¹⁴⁸

Imidazo[1,2-*a*]pyrimidines and imidazo[1,2-*a*]pyridines constitute an important class of organic compounds that have been widely used as azodyes,¹⁴⁹ fabric whitener,s¹⁵⁰ and antimicrobial agents. Despite their wide applicability, feasible routes to their synthesis are limited. Typically, they are synthesized by the cyclocondensation of 2-aminopyrimidine with a suitable α -bromoacetophenone in solvents such as DME,¹⁵¹ethanol,¹⁵² acetone,¹⁵³ and DMF.¹⁵⁴ Unfortunately, a long reaction time is necessary and the yield is poor. Therefore, Xie¹⁵⁵ and Chen et al.¹⁵⁶ investigated the use of ionic liquids in the synthesis of imidazo[1,2-*a*] pyrimidines **49** and imidazo[1,2-*a*]pyridines **48** from the cyclocondensation of 2-aminopyrimidines **35**, respectively, with a suitable α -bromoacetophenones **45**–**47**.





37,41 (X = CH; Y = CH) **38,42** (X = N; Y = CH) **39,43** (X = CH; Y = N) *i*: [BMIM][Br], 80°C, 1-2 h.

entry	R_1	R_2	Х	Y	time (h)	yield (%)
1	4-Cl-Ph	Me	CH	CH	1.0	92
2	4-Me-Ph	Me	CH	CH	1.2	87
3	3-O ₂ N-Ph	Me	CH	CH	1.2	85
4	Ph	Me	CH	CH	1.5	77
5	4-pyridyl	Me	CH	CH	2.0	80
6	2-pyridyl	Me	CH	CH	2.0	62
7	Ph	Br	CH	CH	1.5	83
8	4-MeO-Ph	Η	Ν	CH	2.0	60
9	4-O ₂ N-Ph	Н	Ν	CH	2.0	75
10	4-MeO-Ph	Н	CH	Ν	1.5	72
11	4-O ₂ N-Ph	Η	CH	Ν	1.5	84

Scheme 10



 R^1 = Ph, 4-F-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 4-Br-Ph, 4-Me-Ph, 4-MeO-Ph, Fur-2-yl, Benzo[*b*]fur-2-yl; R^2 = H, Me; R^3 = H

35,48 (X = CH) 44,49 (X = N) 45 (Y = OTs) 46 (Y = Br) 47 (Y = H)

i: Na₂CO₃, [BPy][BF₄], r.t., 1 h (48 56-90%).

ii: HTIB, Na₂CO₃, [BPy][BF₄], r.t., 1 h (49 72-85%).

Xie¹⁵⁵ found that α -tosyloxylation (bromination) of ketones can be performed by treating the ketones with HTIB and 2-aminopyrimidine successively in [Bpy][BF₄]. As a consequence of this finding, the author reasoned that imidazo[1,2-*a*]pyrimidine **48** and **49** could be directly prepared by a one-pot procedure¹⁵⁵ (Scheme 10). In all of these cases, the ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:10 (reactant/ IL), and it was reused four times with a gradual loss of activity (90%, 86%, 85%, and 80% yields). The reaction performed in ILs showed a rate acceleration and increase of yield compared with the rection performed in molecular solvents, such as acetonitrile, where the preparation of imidazo[1,2-a] pyridines **48** required refluxing for 6–24 hours and the yield was only 37%.^{157–162} For preparation of 2-phenylimidazo[1,2-a]pyrimidines **49** refluxing for 6 h in a molecular solvent such as ethanol was necessary.¹⁵⁵

The methods used for the synthesis of imidazo[2,1*a*]isoquinoline include the cyclization of phenacylisoquinolinium bromide with ammonium acetate in acetic acid,¹⁶³ the reaction of α -bromoacetophenone phenylsulfonylhydrazones with isoquinoline,¹⁶⁴ the 1,5-dipolar cyclization reaction of isoquinolinium *N*-ylides using *N*-bis(methylthio)methylene-*p*-toluenesulfonamide¹⁶⁵ and the condensation of 1-amino-2-(α -benzotriazol-1-yl methyl) isoquinolinium chloride with aryl aldehydes.¹⁵⁹ There is one report on the synthesis of imidazo[2,1-*a*]isoquinolines using an ionic liquid. Chen et al.¹⁶⁶ reported the use of ionic liquids as solvent in a molar ratio of 1:10 (reactant/IL) in the cyclocondensation reaction of α -tosyloxyketones **45** with 1-amino isoquinoline **50** in [BPy][BF₄] at room temperature and in the presence of sodium carbonate (Scheme 11). The mixture

Scheme 11



was stirred for about 1 h and gave the desired imidazo[2,1-a]isoquinolines **51** in good yields. The ionic liquid was recycled and reused three times with no appreciable decrease in yield (81%, 82%, and 80%) of **51**. When the reaction was conducted in classical molecular solvents, such as acetoni-trile, the preparation of 2-phenylimidazo[2,1-a]isoquinoline **51** required refluxing for 5 h.¹⁶⁶

5.6. Isoxazoles

Isoxazoles and their derivatives have been recognized as highly useful in medicinal chemistry. In particular, many trihalomethylated azoles are known to exhibit important biological activities in the fields of both medicine and agriculture.^{106a-d,167-169} Among the methods available for the preparation of substituted isoxazoles, the oximation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds (mainly β -ketoaldehydes and β -diketones) and the cyclocondensation of nitrile oxides to unsaturated compounds are by far the most widely utilized.¹⁷⁰ As previously mentioned, in the course of extensive investigations on the synthesis of heterocycles, Martins et al.¹⁰⁸ have developed a general procedure for the synthesis of a large number of 1,1,1-trihalo-4-alcoxy-3-alken-2-ones,^{108a,b} important halogen-containing building blocks, and demonstrated their usefulness in heterocyclic preparations.^{108c} Since 1991, the scope of this reaction has been expanded by these authors with the publication of a series of papers on the synthesis of 5-hydroxy-5-trihalomethyl-4,5-dihydroisoxazoles using conventional methods, in which the general procedure involves the reaction of 4-alkoxy-1,1,1-trihalo-3-alken-2-ones with a saturated aqueous solution of hydroxylamine hydrochloride in a mixture of water and pyridine at 35-70 °C, with reaction times ranging between 8 and 16 h.^{108,171,172} Thus, considering the importance of this class of compounds, we reported here for the first time the ionic liquid promoted synthesis of trihalomethyl-substituted 4,5-dihydroisoxazoles 53^{108e} (Table 8). 4,5-Dihydroisoxazoles 53 were obtained from the cyclocondensation reaction of enones 26 with hydroxylamine hydrochloride 52 at 80 °C for 1 h (Table 8). The ionic liquid was used in a ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL), and the advantages observed in this reaction were the same as those observed in the synthesis of 4,5-dihydropyrazoles 28.

5.7. Oxazoles, Oxazolines, and Oxazolidinones

Oxazoles are key building blocks or synthetic intermediates for pharmaceutical products.¹⁷³ They are most commonly obtained by the Hantzsch reaction¹⁷⁴ or the cyclodehydration of β -ketoamides.¹⁷⁵ The dehydrogenation of oxazolines¹⁷⁶ and other processes such as aza-Wittig reactions,¹⁷⁷Schmidt rearrangements,¹⁷⁸ the use of isocyanides,¹⁷⁹ TosMIC,¹⁸⁰ and intramolecular alkyne additions¹⁸¹ have also been employed. An interesting conversion of ketoximes to oximes via *N*,*N*-diacylated enamides was reported in 1980 by Bhat and Reddy.¹⁸² Although oxazoles

Table 8. Synthesis of 4,5-Dihydroisoxazoles



 a H2O, 40 °C, 16 h. $^{108a\ b}$ IL was used in a ratio 1:1 (reactant/IL). c MeOH, reflux, 16 h. 172



i: [HBIM][BF₄], 28°C, 10-25 min (79-96%)

possess widespread applications in diverse areas, there are few papers that highlight the improvement of synthetic methods to obtain these heterocycles. However, Srinivasan et al.¹²⁶ described the utilization of ionic liquids as reaction media to obtain 2-phenyl benzoxazoles **55** from 2-aminophenols **54** and benzoyl chlorides **33** at room temperature (Scheme 12). The rationale for the efficacy of ionic liquids to promote these heterocyclizations was considered the same as that mentioned by the author for the synthesis of benzimidazoles **34**.¹²⁶ In both procedures, the ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1.5 (reactant/IL) and was recovered almost completely and recycled twice with only a marginal loss in yield on the second time it was reused.

2-Oxazolines are an important class of heterocycles that have held the fascination of many synthetic chemists.¹⁸³ 2-Oxazolines have been used as chiral auxiliaries, ligands for metal entrapment, and, of particular importance, as a protecting group for carboxylic acids and amino alcohols.¹⁸⁴ Methods to synthesize 2-oxazolines have been extensively explored. The most commonly used methods are (i) the reaction of amino alcohols with carboxylic acids¹⁸⁵ or carboxylic acid derivatives (ortho-esters, nitriles, imino ether hydrochlorides, and acyl benzotriazoles)¹⁸⁶ and (ii) the cyclodehydration of β -hydroxyamides with a number of reagents including the Burgess reagent, DAST, PPh₃/DEAD, and the Vilsmeier reagent.^{176a,187}

A synthetic approach to obtain oxazolines **58** using ionic liquids was described by Kamakshi et al.¹⁸⁸ This method combined amide bond formation from acids **56** and amino alcohols **57** and cyclic dehydration in a one-pot synthesis. The protocol afforded good yields of substituted 2-oxazolines **58** in indium chloride/ionic liquid media ([BMIM][Cl]), as shown in Scheme 13. The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:7 (reactant/IL). The authors conjectured that the higher reactivity of the carboxylic acids with electron-withdrawing groups could be explained by the electrophilicity



 $R^{2} = P1, 4-O_{2}(N-P1), 4-O_{2}(N-P1), 3, 3-We_{2}-P1),$ $R^{2} = H, Me, Et; R^{3} = H, Me$ *i*: [BMIM][CI]/InCl₃, 60°C, 3 h (62-85%).

Table 9. Synthesis of α -Methylene Oxazolidinones



i: Entries 1-8: [DMIM][BF₄], 5 (10 mmol), 59 (10 mmol), 60 (5 MPa),120°C.
 ii: Entries 9-15: [BMIM][BF₄] (3 mL), CuCl (0.2 mmol), 5 (10 mmol),
 59 (10 mmol), 60 (2.5 MPa), 100°C.

			without CuCl		with CuCl	
entry	R^1/R^2	R	time (h)	yield (%)	time (h)	yield (%)
1	Me/Et	<i>c</i> -hexvl	10	52.9	10	
2	Me/i-Pr	c-hexyl	10	51.3	15	84
3	$-(CH_2)_5-$	c-hexyl	10	87.3	10	81
4	Me/Ph	c-hexyl	10	88.6	15	95
5	Me/H	c-hexyl	10		15	
6	H/H	c-hexyl	10		15	
7	Me/Me	c-hexyl	10	83.3		
8	$-(CH_2)_4$	c-hexyl	10		12	87
9	$-(CH_2)_5-$	PhCH ₂			10	88
10	$-(CH_2)_5-$	allyl			10	78
11	$-(CH_2)_5-$	Bu			10	80
12	$-(CH_2)_5-$	pentyl			10	89
13	$-(CH_2)_5-$	Ph			10	0
14	$-(CH_2)_5-$	$H_2N - (CH_2)_6 -$			10	82

of the carbonyl carbon being enhanced by the presence of electron-withdrawing groups in the phenyl ring. The reverse occurred for donating substituents, which could have hindered the attack in step 2 in which there is elimination of a water molecule. When the reaction was performed without the presence of an ionic liquid, in chlorobenzene under reflux conditions (3 h) with $InCl_3$ as a catalyst, the product yield was only 50%.¹⁸⁸

Oxazolidinones are important heterocyclic compounds showing a wide range of applications, including as intermediates¹⁸⁹ and chiral auxiliaries¹⁹⁰ in organic synthesis and as antibacterial drugs in pharmaceutical chemistry.¹⁹¹ The three main strategies used for the preparation of oxazolidinones are (i) the reaction of amino alcohols with phosgene,¹⁹² urea,¹⁹³ or dialkyl carbonates,¹⁹⁴ (ii) the insertion of carbon dioxide in the aziridine moiety,¹⁹⁵ and (iii) the reaction of propargylamines (or propargylic alcohols and amines) with carbon dioxide.¹⁹⁶ Ionic liquids have been found to be efficient catalysts and reaction media for the activation of CO_2 ,¹⁹⁷ and this method was adapted by Deng et al.^{197a} for the one-step synthesis of N-substituted 4-methylene-2oxazolidinones 61 in the presence of propargylic alcohols **59** (Table 9).^{197a} The reaction between cyclohexylamine and 2-methyl-3-butyn-2-ol hardly occurred if dimethyl sulfoxide and toluene were used as solvents and 44.1-91.6% yields could be obtained in the presence of ionic liquids. For ionic liquids containing a [BMIM] cation, the best results were

achieved in the presence of [BMIM][BF₄] (81% yield). The application of an ionic liquid with the [PF₆] anion gave a relatively poor result (44% yield), which could be related to the instability of the PF₆ anion under the reaction conditions. The catalytic activity was gradually improved with increasing number of carbons in the alkyl chain, and 91.6% yield was achieved when ionic liquid [DMIM][BF4] was used. Cyclohexylamine was chosen because the authors found that aliphatic amines allowed better results than aromatic amines, which have weak nucleophilic ability. The activity of ionic liquid ([DMIM][BF4]) in the reaction of cyclohexylamine with different propargylic alcohols was investigated. The results are summarized in Table 9 (entries 1-6). In this procedure, the ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1.5 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused twice with no appreciable decrease in yield (83.3-77.5%). The same reaction process was performed in the presence of CuCl in catalytic quantities.^{197b} In presence of CuCl, the reaction of 1-ethynyl-1-cyclohexanol with several amines (Table 9, entries 2, 3, 4, 7-12, and 14) show similar results to the cyclohexylamine. CuCl was capable of catalyzing the synthesis of α -methylene oxazolidinones 61, but the efficiency appears to be only slightly superior compared with the same reaction without a catalyst (Table 9). The ionic liquid was used in a ratio of 1:1.5 (reactant/IL), and [BMIM]BF₄/CuCl was recovered and reused four times with no appreciable decrease in yield. The synthesis of Nsubstituted 4-methylene-2-oxazolidinones 61 from aliphatic amines 5 and 2-methyl-3-butyn-2-ol 59 gave extremely poor yields (3-4%) when DMSO and toluene were used as solvent, whereas 44-91% yields were obtained in the presence of the ionic liquids.

5.8. Thiazoles and Thiazolidinones

Many thiazoles have emerged as active pharmaceutical ingredients in several drugs due to their potential antiinflammatory,¹⁹⁸ antitumor,¹⁹⁹ antihyperlipidemic,²⁰⁰ and antihypertensive²⁰¹ properties, among several other biological properties.²⁰² Several methods²⁰³ for the synthesis of thiazoles have been developed by Hantzsch, Tcherniac, Cook-Heilbron, Gabriel, and several other groups, among which the most widely used method is Hantzsch's synthesis^{203,204} (the reaction between α -halocarbonylic compounds and thioamides, thioureas, or thiocarbamic or dithiocarbamic acids). Relatively newer methods include the cycloaddition of TosMIC to thione derivatives,²⁰⁵ the oxidation of thia-zoline or thiazolidine ring systems,²⁰⁶ and Ugi reactions,²⁰⁷ among others.²⁰⁸ Despite these procedures, novel methods for thiazole synthesis are still in demand. In order to meet this need, some researchers have been developing methodologies using ionic liquids to synthesize these heterocycles. Chen et al.²⁰⁹ published a method to synthesize substituted 2-thiazoles 63 using ionic liquids. The reaction was carried out through the cyclocondensation of α -tosyloxyketones 45 with thiobenzamide 62 in $[BMIM][PF_6]$ at room temperature for about 2 h (Scheme 14). In this method, ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:10 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused three times with no appreciable decrease in the yield of **63** (78%, 77%, and 79%). On the other hand, when this reaction was carried out with the classical molecular solvent dichloromethane, the preparation of 2,4-diphenylthiazoles 63 required refluxing for 7 h.²⁰⁹

Le et al.²¹⁰ introduced an efficient method to produce substituted 2-benzothiazoles **66** via a one-pot reaction using



 R^1 = Me, EtO, Ph, 4-Me-Ph, 4-MeO-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 4-Br-Ph, Fur-3-yl, Thien-3-yl; R^2 = H, CO₂Et

i: [BMIM][PF6], r.t., 2 h, (71-83%)

Scheme 15



R= Me, Pr, *i*-Pr, HOCH₂CH₂-, MeOCO(CH₂)₃-; R¹ = H R,R¹ = -(CH₂)₄-, -(CH₂)₅-

i: [BMIM][Br₃], [BMIM][BF₄], r.t., 10 h (60-81%).

Scheme 16



R = H; R¹ = H, F; R² = H, NO₂, CF₃ *i*: [HBIM][BF₄], 28°C, 10-25 min (80-96%)

[BMIM][Br₃] as a new reactant, and [BMIM][BF₄] was used in a molar ratio of 1:5 (reactant/IL). The reaction was carried out starting from phenyl isothiocyanate **64** and amines **65** (Scheme 15). The authors maintained that this method had many obvious advantages compared with those reported in the literature, including high yields and shorter reaction times. For example, the synthesis of 2-(propylamino)benzothiazole, 2-(*N*-piperidino)benzothiazole, and pyrrolidinobenzothiazole required overnight reactions, and the yields were only 73%, 69%, and 7%, respectively.²¹⁰

Srinivasan et al.¹²⁶ also reported a regioselective one-pot synthesis of substituted 2-benzothiazoles 68 promoted by imidazolium-based ionic liquids. The reaction was performed at room temperature without the need for a catalyst. The 2-aryl benzothiazoles 68 were obtained in good yields by the reaction of 2-aminothiophenols 67 with benzoyl chlorides 33, in a short reaction time (Scheme 16). Two ionic liquids were used, [HBIM][BF_4] and [BBIM][BF_4], and the former proved much faster than the latter. This may have been due to the higher Brønsted acidity conferred by the -NH proton of [HBIM][BF₄] compared with the more acidic C2-H proton of [BBIM][BF₄]. The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered almost completely and recycled twice with only a marginal loss in yield the second time it was recycled. It is important to mention that similar to 1,2-phenylenediamines 32(Scheme 8) and 2-aminophenols 54 (Scheme 12), 2-aminothiophenols 67 treated with an equivalent of benzoyl chloride 33 followed by dehydration under harsh conditions resulted in thiazole 68. The authors believed that, in all probability, the hydrogen bond interaction of the most acidic hydrogen (NH or CH) of the imidazolium cations of the ionic liquids with the carbonyl oxygen both during the step of acylation and during the step of cyclodehydration of the monoacylated product may have promoted the overall reaction.¹²⁶

Table 10. Synthesis of 4-Thiazolidinones



i: K₂CO₃ (1.5 equiv), MeCN, reflux, 96 h; *ii*: KOH (2M), MeOH; *iii*: DCC (1 equiv), DMAP (5%), dry MeCN, r.t., 18 h; iv: MW, 100°C, 60-120 min; v: MW, 100°C, 10 min; v*i*: tert-BuOK (0.5 equiv), MW, 100°C, 10-20 min; v*i*: tert-BuOK (0.5 equiv), MW, 150°C, 10 min.

entry ^a	R^1	\mathbb{R}^2	time ^b (min)	yield (%) ^c
1	Bn	Н	90	86
2	Bn	Me	90	79
3	Bn	CH ₂ CO ₂ H	90	60
4	piperonyl	Н	120	71
5	$CH_2CH(OMe)_2$	Н	120	84
6	CH_2 - CH = CH_2	Н	120	82
7	Pr	Н	80	41
8	<i>i</i> -Pr	Н	60	12
9	<i>i</i> -Bu	Н	120	42
10	Bn	Н	120	61
11	Pr	Н	120	71
12	<i>i</i> -Bu	Н	120	47

^{*a*} Data refers to step iv. ^{*b*} Reactions were run in a focused microwave reactor at 100 °C, MW = 60 W. ^{*c*} Conversion estimated from the crude reaction mixture by ¹H NMR.

4-Thiazolidinones have been reported to possess a wide range of biological activities, including antifungal,²¹¹ antimicrobial,²¹² and inflammatory activity.²¹³ These heterocycles are most conveniently synthesized by a threecomponent condensation of a primary amine, an aldehyde, and a mercaptoacetic acid. Usually, the reaction proceeds through the intermediate imine, but the stepwise assembly of 4-thiazolidinones has also been reported.²¹⁴ There have been reports describing the solid phase synthesis of 4-thiazolidinones²¹⁵ and a few reports²¹⁶ where the nitrogen of this heterocycle originated from an α -amino acid with the carboxylic function serving as the site of attachment to the support. In a previous paper, Bazureau and Fraga-Dubreuil²¹⁷ found that a functionalized PEG-ILPs could be used as a novel matrix in a liquid organic phase. The authors confirmed the versatility of the functionalized ionic liquid phase in obtaining 4-thiazolidinones 75 (Table 10). Ionic liquid 18 contains the alcohol function responsible for the reaction support. The conventional procedure for thiazolidinone by this synthetic route is carried out by using toluene and heating at 130 °C for 16 h, and the yields are between 63% and 89%.²¹⁸ Thus, the utilization of a functionalized ionic liquid



^{*a*} In the presence of TMGT and using ultrasound irradiation. ^{*b*} In the presence of TMGT without using ultrasound irradiation. ^{*c*} In the absence of TMGT without using ultrasound irradiation. ^{*d*} The same TMGT was used for each of the four runs.

as a novel matrix in a liquid organic phase showed advantages in comparison with the same reaction performed in molecular solvents. The possibility of employing a functionalized IL in microwave synthesis makes the reaction faster than that carried out in molecular solvents.

6. Synthesis of Six-Membered Heterocycles

6.1. Pyridines

It is well known that 1,4-dihydropyridines exhibit a wide range of biological activities.^{219,220} The 1,4-dihydropyridines are generally synthesized by the Hantzch method.²²¹ The original Hantzsch dihydropyridine synthesis consisted of the cyclocondensation reaction of ethyl acetoacetate (2 equiv) with an aldehyde and ammonia²²¹ either in acetic acid or by refluxing in alcohols for long periods, leading, in general, to low yields.^{222,223} Shaabani et al.²²⁴ introduced ionic liquids and presented a modified method of the original Hantzsch dihydropyridines 77 synthesis. The synthesis was performed from a three-component condensation in combination with TMGT as the ionic liquid, using ultrasound irradiation at room temperature (Table 11). Dihydropyridines 77 were obtained from the reaction between aldehydes 8, β -ketoesters 76, and ammonium acetate 30 in a catalytic amount of ionic liquid in a molar ratio of 1:0.5 (reactant/IL), which was recovered and reused four times with no appreciable decrease in yield (entry 1, 88%, 88%, 87%, and 84% yields). When TMGT was used as the promoter for the Hantzsch 1,4dihydropyridines 77 synthesis, not only was there a dramatic improvement in yields (84-95%) at room temperature compared with conventional thermal heating, but there was also a considerable decrease in the reaction times (1-2 h)compared with the classical synthesis (6-8 h). Ultrasound irradiation was essential in obtaining the high conversions of this condensation, because without it there was close to a 4-fold increase in the reaction time. The scope of the reaction was then extended to β -ketoesters 76 with various aromatic aldehydes 8 carrying either electron-releasing or electronwithdrawing substituents at the 4-position. It was found that the reactions proceeded very efficiently in all cases and that



Scheme 17



R= Et; R¹ = H, *c*-Hexyl, Pentyl, Ph, 4-F-3-NHCbz, 4-MeO-3,5-(BzO)₂-Ph, 3,4,5-(MeO)₃-Ph, 3-NO₂-Ph, Pyrid-4-yl, Fur-2-yl, PhCH=CH, THPO-(CH₂)₃-, 2,2-Dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl, 2,2-Dimethyl-3-*t*-butoxicarbonyloxazolidin-4-yl \dot{t} [BMIM][BF₄], r.t., 4.5-8 h (82-93%).

the reaction times decreased for electron-withdrawing substituents.

Perumal and Sridhar²²⁵ also reported the use of ionic liquids as reactional media to synthesize dihydropyridines 77. The reaction consisted of another modification of the original Hantzsch dihydropyridine synthesis, where aldehydes **8** reacted with enaminoesters **78** and β -ketoester **76**. Enaminoesters 78 served as a source of ammonia leading to a series of 1,4-dihydropyridines 77 of interest²²⁶ (Table 12). The use of [BMIM][Cl] in a molar ratio of 1:5 (reactant/IL) at room temperature afforded the products in high yields and a short reaction time. The ionic liquid was recovered and reused twice with no appreciable decrease in yield. Furthermore, the addition of 5 mol % of 3,4,5-trifluorobenzene boronic acid to the reaction mixture ensured excellent yields of the product. When compared with other catalysts, it is clear that 3,4,5-trifluorobenzene boronic acid was superior for the [BMIM][Cl] mediated synthesis.²²⁵ The authors considered that the increase in yield might have been due to the increase in the acidity of the reaction mixture. The use of the ionic liquid increased the reaction performance considering that the reaction carried out in molecular solvents under reflux, for example, in ethanol (8 h), gave poor yields (48%).

The versatility of ionic liquids in the synthesis of 1,4dihydropyridines was also explored by Yadav et al.²²⁷The reaction was performed using enaminoesters **79** as a source of ammonia at room temperature. The condensation reaction of benzaldehydes **8** and ethyl acetoacetates **76** with **79** in [BMIM][BF₄] afforded the corresponding 1,4-dihydropyridines **77** in 80–90% yields (Scheme 17). The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:5 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused twice with similar yields. In the fourth reuse, the yields were slightly decreased. This method was



 R^2 = Me, Ph; R^3 = H, Ph, SiMe₃

i: [HMIM][Tfa], r.t., 24 h (80-94%).

Scheme 19



R = Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, toluyl, o-toluidyl; R¹ = Ph, 4-Me-Ph, 4-MeO-Ph, 3-MeO-4-HO-Ph, 2-Br-Ph, 3-Br-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 2,6-Cl₂-Ph, 4-O₂N-Ph, 4-MeS-Ph, 4-HO-Ph, benzodioxol-1,3-yl, 2-thienyl, 2-methoxynaphthyl

ż [BMIM][OH]/EtOH, r.t., 1.0-2.0 h (65-95%).

compatible with highly acid-sensitive protecting groups such as THP ethers, acetals, aminoacetals, and carbamates present in the substrate. In addition, it was equally effective for both electron-rich and electron-deficient aldehydes **8**. Once again, the improvement in the reaction caused by the presence of ionic liquid was evident; taking into account the fact that the products were obtained in low to moderate yields (55-67%) after a long reaction period (15-24 h) when the reaction was carried out by refluxing in ethanol.²²⁷

Perumal and Karthikeyan²²⁸ designed a methodology using ionic liquid for the synthesis of pyridines **82** and **83** by generating the enaminone from the corresponding β -ketoesters **76** and **80** for an *in situ* heteroannulation in the Bohlmann–Rahtz reaction. The one-pot, three-component reaction of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds **76** and **80**, ammonium acetate **30**, and alkynones **81** in [HMIM][Tfa] as solvent gave good results (Scheme 18). Although the reaction time using the ionic liquid was longer than other methods described in the literature, this synthetic route was considered simpler and more convenient. In molecular solvents such as EtOH (temperature 140–160°C) and toluene (it was necessary to add AcOH (5:1) or a Lewis acid such as ZnBr₂), the reaction time was 5.5 h (in both cases).²²⁹

Ranu et al.²³⁰ reported the use of [BMIM][OH] in a protocol to synthesize polyfunctionalized pyridines. The conventional method for this reaction involves the condensation of aldehydes 8, malononitrile 84, and thiols 85 to afford highly substituted pyridines 86 (Scheme 19). One of the serious limitations of the conventional procedure is the formation of considerable amounts of a side product, enaminonitrile, reducing the yields of the pyridines to 20-48% when bases such as DABCO and Et₃N are used in ethanol under reflux (2-3 h).²³¹ Ranu et al.²³² discovered that the ionic liquid [BMIM][OH] completely suppressed the side reaction that formed enaminonitrile and raised the (isolated) yields of pyridines to a level of 62-95% (Scheme 19). A wide range of substituted aromatic and heteroaromatic aldehydes 8, as well as several substituted thiophenols 81, underwent this three-component condensation with malononitrile. The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:0.5





87,90 (R = -CH₂-C(CH₃)₂-CH₂-, -CH₂-CH₂-CH₂.) R¹ = Bu, Hexyl, Ph, 4-Me-Ph, 4-Br-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 3-NO₂-Ph, 4-NO₂-Ph, 4-HO-3-OMe-Ph, Fur-2-yl

i: [BMIM][BF₄], 80°C, 4-9 h (71-93%).

(reactant/IL), and the authors claimed that the presence of the ionic liquid, [BMIM][OH], was essential, being that in its absence the reactions did not proceed at all. The use of other ionic liquids such as [BMIM][Br] or [BMIM][BF₄] failed to push the reaction to the pyridine stage, and the reaction was stopped at an intermediate step with the formation of arylidenemalononitrile.

Zhang et al.²³³ innovated the use of ionic liquids as reaction media for the synthesis of 1,4-dihydropyridines 89 and 90. The protocol consisted of a four-component reaction utilizing aldehydes 8, 1,3-diketones 80 and 87, Meldrum's acid 88 and ammonium acetate 30 (Scheme 20). The investigations showed that not only aromatic aldehydes 8 but also heterocyclic and aliphatic aldehydes 8, underwent the reaction effectively to afford the corresponding products in good yields.²³³ The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:2.5 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused four times with almost no decrease in efficiency. Similar to the three-component reaction demonstrated by Yadav et al.,²²⁷ when this reaction was carried out in ethanol under reflux, the products were only obtained after a long reaction period (15-24 h). This finding supports the fact that ionic liquid plays an important role in improving the synthesis of 1,4dihydropyridines from condensation reactions.

6.2. Quinolines

The quinoline nucleus is found in several natural compounds and pharmacologically active substances and displays a broad range of biological activity.²³⁴ The best-known method for obtaining quinolines and related polyheterocycles is the Friedlander quinoline synthesis.²³⁵ The Friedlander synthesis can be catalyzed by strong acids or bases or may take place without a catalyst at higher temperatures. However, both the harsh reaction conditions necessary and the need for a strong acid or base catalyst, which is incompatible with either acid- or base-sensitive groups, reduce the synthetic scope of this reaction. Recently, the Friedlander synthesis was reported in two other methods. In one of these, a novel traceless solid-phase was used,²³⁶ and in the other, NaAuCl₄ was used as catalyst.²³⁷ In this scenario, the use of ionic liquids has recently gained considerable importance. Srinivasan et al.²³⁸ reported the use of ionic liquids in a molar ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL) for the preparation of quinolines 94 using the Friedlander heteroannulation protocol, which made another catalyst unnecessary. 2-Aminoacetophenones 91 were reacted with a variety of ketones or ketoesters (47, 76, 92, or 93) in ionic liquid as shown in Scheme 21.

Two sets of ionic liquids based on BBIM and HBIM salts were used. The capacity of the ionic liquids to promote these heterocyclization reactions was correlated to the basicity of their anions. The authors assumed that the nature of the anion



47,94 (R² =H) **76**,94 (R² = CO₂Et) **91**,94 (R = Me, Ph; X = H, Cl) **92**,94 (R¹ = Me, Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 4-Br-Ph; R² =H, Me, COCF₃, PhCH₂)

93,94 R^1 , $R^2 = -(CH_2)_{3^-}$, $-(CH_2)_{4^-}$, $-(CH_2)_{5^-}$, $-(CH_2)_{6^-}$,

i: [HBIM][BF₄], 100°C, 3-6 h (90-97%).

ii: [BMIM][Cl]:ZnCl2, r.t., 24 h (55-92%).

governed the electrophilicity of the imidazolium cation, which in turn had a bearing on the acidity of the ionic liquid. It was observed that the higher the basicity of the anion (increasing pK_a of the corresponding acid) the greater the increase in yield. [HBIM][BF₄] afforded the best result, and consequently, all further studies were conducted using this ionic liquid as the reaction medium. The ionic liquid was recovered and reused twice with no appreciable decrease in yield. The same reaction was investigated by Perumal and Karthikeyan²³⁹ using a [BMIM][Cl]/ZnCl₂ melt (1:2 molar ratio), which can act as both a solvent and catalyst on account of its high polarity and Lewis acidity. 2-Aminoketones 91 and ketones or ketoesters 47, 76, 92, or 93 were mixed in the [BMIM][Cl]/ZnCl₂ melt and stirred at room temperature for 24 h to give quinolines 94 in good to excellent yields (Scheme 21). The ionic liquid was recovered and reused twice with no appreciable decrease in the yield of 94 (89%, 86%). Theoretically, the Friedlander reaction with unsymmetrical ketones such as ethyl methyl ketone can have two possible modes of cyclization giving rise to two regioisomers, 2,3-dimethylquinoline and 2-ethylquinoline. The reaction path suggested for the Friedlander synthesis involved a sequential formation of the N-(2-acylphenyl)- β -enaminone and cyclodehydration reaction.²³⁹ The ionic liquid, promoting the Friedlander reaction with unsymmetrical ketones, regiospecifically afforded the 2,3-dialkylquinolines 94 in excellent isolated yields. The author mentioned that polarity and the large electrochemical window of the ionic liquid may have also contributed to the observed regiospecificity.²³⁸ In the case of 2-aminoacetophenones 91, the corresponding quinolines 94 were synthesized in excellent yields that were in fact superior to those reported from conventional procedures^{237,240} using molecular solvent such as ethanol in reflux for 12 h.²⁴¹

The use of an ionic liquid for the synthesis of hexahydroquinolones was studied by Wang et al.²⁴² 4-Aryl-5-oxo-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexahydroquinoline-3-carboxylates **96** and **97** were synthesized by the reaction of aromatic aldehydes **8**, 1,3-cyclohexanediones **95**, and enaminoesters **78** and **79** in [BMIM][BF₄] (Scheme 22). The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL) and was recovered and reused twice with no appreciable decrease in yield. Once again, in a fashion similar to that observed for the three-component reaction shown by Yadav et al.,²²⁷ when the reaction was carried out in a molecular solvent such as ethanol,²²⁷ a long reaction period (15–24 h) of reflux was necessary. In this case, the presence of ionic liquid dramatically reduced the reaction time.

Wang et al.²⁴³ also published the synthesis of quinolines **99** using ionic liquids as solvent in three-component reactions with arylaldehydes **8**, cyclic β -enaminones **98** and different

Scheme 22



R = H, Me; R¹ = Ph, 3,4-Me₂-Ph, 4-Me-Ph, 4-MeO-Ph, 4-Br-Ph, 2-Cl-Ph, 3-Cl-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 3,4-Cl₂-Ph, 3-NO₂-Ph, Thien-2-yl; **78,96** (R² = Et); **79,97** (R² = Me)

i : [BMIM][BF₄], 80°C, 10-30 min (80-95%).

Scheme 23



R¹ = 4-Me-Ph, 4-F-Ph, 4-Br-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 2,4-Cl₂-Ph, 3,4-Cl₂-Ph, 4-Cl-2-NO₂-Ph, 3-O₂N-Ph; R² = Ph, 4- Br-Ph, 4-Me-Ph

i: [BMIM][BF₄], 90°C, 4-7 h (93-99%)

Scheme 24



R¹ = 4-Me-Ph, 3,4-(MeO)₂-Ph, 4-HO-Ph, 4-Br-Ph, 2-Cl-Ph, 3-Cl-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 3,4-Cl₂-Ph, 2,4-Cl₂-Ph, 4-NO₂-Ph; R² = Ph, 4-Me-Ph, 4-Br-Ph, 2-(Naphth-1-yl)phenyl, 2-(Naphth-2-yl)phenyl

/: [BMIM][BF₄], 90°C, 5-8 h (90-96%).

Scheme 25



active methylene compounds (Schemes 23–25). The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:52 (reactant/IL), and the study began with malononitrile **84**. The results are summarized in Scheme 23. As expected, when the methylene compound **84** was replaced by 1,3-indenedione **100**, another series of quinolines **101** was obtained under the same reaction conditions. As shown in Schemes 23 and 24for the series of aldehydes **8**, the aromatic ring containing either electron-withdrawing groups (such as halide or nitro) or electron-donating groups (such as the alkyl group) reacted well with



 R^1 = Ph, 4-Br-Ph, 2-Cl-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 2,4-Cl₂-Ph, 4-HO-Ph, 4-MeO-Ph, 4-Me-Ph, 3-NO₂-Ph, 4-Me₂N-Ph, 3,4-OCH₂O-Ph, 3,4-(MeO)₂-Ph, 3-MeO-4-HO-Ph \dot{i} [BMIM][BF₄], 80°C, 3-5 h (89-98%).

84 and **100** to give the corresponding products **99** and **101**, respectively, in high yields under the same reaction conditions. Therefore, it was concluded that there was no apparent effect produced from the electronic nature of the aromatic ring substituents in these reactions. When Meldrum's acid **88** was selected as the active methylene compound (Scheme 25), it was interesting that the desired products (obtained in Schemes 22 and 23) were not acquired at all, whereas tetrahydroquinolines **102** were obtained in good yields via an unexpected ring opening of the Meldrum's acid **88** reaction. Once more, compared with the same procedure using molecular solvents in methanol (11 h), acetonitrile (10 h), or ethanol (8 h) under reflux, this new method using an ionic liquid as solvent showed similar yields and the advantage of being environmentally benign.

6.3. Acridines

Acridines are well-known compounds because of their pharmacological profile as calcium channel modulators.²⁴⁴ There are many methods for their synthesis carried out from aldehydes, dimedone, and ammonium acetate under a number of conditions, including by traditional heating in molecular solvents,²⁴⁵ by using TEBAC in water as a catalyst,²⁴⁶ or by using microwave irradiation.²⁴⁷ Zong et al.²⁴⁸ described the synthesis of tricyclic compounds, 9-arylpolyhydroacridines 103, in an ionic liquid medium. When the three components, aromatic aldehydes 8, 5,5-dimethyl-1,3-cyclohexanedione 95, and ammonium acetate 30, were treated in an ionic liquid [BMIM][BF₄] at 80 °C for a few hours, the desired 3,3,6,6tetramethyl-9-aryl-1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10-decahydroacridin-1,8diones 103 were obtained in high yields (89–98%) (Scheme 26). The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:26 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused three times with no appreciable decrease in yield. The efficiency and scope of this procedure was demonstrated by the application of ionic liquids to the reaction of a variety of 8 with dimedone 95 in the presence of an excess of ammonium acetate 30. Acridines 103 shown in this scheme were also synthesized by following the classical Hantzsch's procedure, which employs a reflux in molecular solvents such as ethanol for 1-2 h, however, the products were obtained in lower yields (50-70%).249

6.4. Pyrans

Polyfunctionalized 4*H*-pyrans are a privileged heterocyclic ring system because many of their derivatives possess useful pharmacological activities.²⁵⁰ In addition, due to the inherent reactivity of the pyran ring, they are versatile building blocks.²⁵¹ 2-Amino-4*H*-pyrans have been routinely prepared from arylidenemalonitriles and activated methylene com-

Scheme 27



R¹ = Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 2,4-Cl₂-Ph, 4-Me-Ph, 4-MeO-Ph, 3-NO₂-Ph, 4-CN-Ph, 4-OH-Ph, 3-MeO-4-OH-Ph **76,104** (R = OEt, OMe); **80,105** (R = Me)

i: TMG [HN=C(NMe2)2], [BMIM][BF4], 80°C, 30-90 min, 78-89%





i: MW 200 W, reflux, 10 min;

ii: pyridine, acetonitrile, MW 200 W, reflux, 15-20 min;

iii: MeONa, methanol, r.t., 6 h.

entry	\mathbb{R}^1	time $(\min)^a$	yield (%)	final yield (%)
1	Ph	20	95	88
2	4-OH-Ph	20	93	84
3	4-OMe-Ph	20	94	86
4	4-Cl-Ph	15	97	91
5	4-CH ₃ -Ph	20	93	86
6	3-NO ₂ -Ph	15	96	90
7	3-Br-Ph	15	96	90
8	4-OH-3-OMe-Ph	20	94	85
<i>a</i> –				

^{*a*} Reaction time of step ii.

pounds in the presence of organic bases.²⁵² Many works describing the application of ionic liquids in reactions that produce pyrans can be found in the literature. Among them, Song et al.²⁵³ reported the synthesis of 2-amino-4*H*-pyrans 104 and 105 from malononitrile 84, aryl aldehydes 8, and 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds **76** and **80**, using ionic liquids as soluble support. In this study, the reaction was performed using TMG-[BMIM][BF₄] in a molar ratio of 1:3 (reactant/ IL), and it was recovered and reused five times with no appreciable decrease in yield as shown in Scheme 27. The electronic effects of phenyl ring substituents were also investigated, and it was shown that electron-donating groups disfavored product formation while electron-withdrawing groups favored their formation. In addition, it was found that ionic liquids were superior to ethanol (yields 60-80%) as solvent, in view of the higher isolated yields and reaction rates.

Song et al.²⁵⁴ also published the synthesis of pyrans **104** using functionalized ionic liquid **18** under microwave irradiation (Table 13). A number of methods have been reported for the synthesis of pyrans in the presence of organic bases such as pyperidine in molecular solvents (e.g., ethanol



R¹ = Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 2,4-Cl₂-Ph, 3-NO₂-Ph, 4-CN-Ph, 4-OH-Ph, 4-OMe-Ph, Piperonyl; **76,104** (R = Et)

i: [2-AEMIM][PF6], H2O, MW, 100°C, 1-4 min (81-93%).

Scheme 29



R = Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 2-Cl-Ph, 4-F-Ph, 2,4-Cl₂-Ph, 3,4-(OMe)₂-Ph

i: [BMIM][BF₄], 90°C, 3-5 h, (84-95%).

and toluene) at room temperature, but the yields found were lower than those found when ionic liquids were used (60-80%).²⁵⁴

Additionally, Song et al.²⁵⁵ presented the same products 104 and the same catalytic process, except that aminofunctionalized ionic liquids were utilized, as shown in Scheme 28. One noteworthy observation was that when the reactions were performed in homogeneous solutions, a higher loading capacity was achieved as a result of the lower molecular weight of the functionalized ionic liquid, and it was possible to purify the intermediates by simple extraction. The solubility and miscibility properties of ionic liquid $[2-\text{AEMIM}][\text{PF}_6]$ are different from those of conventional ionic liquids perhaps due to hydrogen bonding. The ionic liquid was used as solvent in a molar ratio of 1:3 (reactant/ IL), and it was recovered and reused seven times with no appreciable decrease in yield. To increase the scope of this protocol, a range of structurally diverse aldehydes 8 were tested, and it was found that both electron-rich and electrondeficient aromatic aldehydes proved to be suitable substrates for this reaction, providing the corresponding 4H-pyrans 104. These results obtained by Song et al.²⁵⁵ are similar to their previous studies,²⁵⁴ likewise attesting to the increased efficiency of ionic liquids in relation to molecular solvents.

The synthesis of more complex heterocycles containing a pyran nucleus, such as pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrido[2,3-d]-pyrimidines and pyrano[3,2-c]benzopyran, has been attracting attention as well.²⁵⁶ Recently, the use of ionic liquids in organic reactions was extended to synthesize pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidine. Yu and Wang²⁵⁷ reported a synthetic route using [BMIM][BF₄] to obtain pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidines **110** through a condensation reaction between arylmethylidenemalononitriles **107** and barbituric acid **109** under solvent-free conditions (Scheme 29). The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1.5 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused twice with a slight decrease in the yield of **110**. The authors reported that the reaction failed at 90 °C in molecular solvents such as toluene and 1,2-dichloroethane (10 h), showing the crucial role of the ionic liquid in these reactions.

Wang et al.²⁵⁸ also synthesized pyrano[2,3-*d*]pyrimidines **112** using aromatic aldehydes **8**, malononitrile **84**, and pyrimidine-4-6-diol **111** in the ionic liquid [BMIM][BF₄] as shown in Scheme 30. The IL was used in a molar ratio of 1:26 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused six times with no appreciable decrease in yield. The presence of the Scheme 30



$$\label{eq:relation} \begin{split} & \mathsf{R}^1 = \text{4-Cl-Ph}, \ 3, \text{4-}(\mathsf{CH}_3)_2\text{-Ph}, \ \text{4-F-Ph}, \ 2\text{-NO}_2\text{-4-Cl-Ph}, \ 2\text{-NO}_2\text{-Ph}, \\ & \mathsf{Thien-2-yl}, \ 3, \text{4-Cl}_2\text{-Ph}, \ \text{4-Br-Ph}, \ 2\text{-Cl-Ph}, \ 3\text{-Cl-Ph}, \ 2, \text{4-Cl}_2\text{-Ph}, \\ & \mathsf{3,4-(MeO)}_2\text{Ph}, \ 3\text{-NO}_2\text{-Ph} \end{split}$$

i: [BMIM][BF₄], 80°C, 2-4 h (85-95%).

Scheme 31



i: 4-hydroxycoumarin, TMGT, 100°C, 25-60 min (70-82%) *ii*: 4-hydroxy-6-methylpyrone, TMGT, 100°C, 25-50 min (71-77%) *iii*: 1,3-dimethylbarbituric acid, TMGT, 100°C, 35 min (74%) *iv*: 1,3-dimethyl-6-amino uracil, TMGT, 100°C, 50 min (70%) *v*: dimedone, TMGT, 100°C, 50 min (80%)

ionic liquid did not improve the reaction time and product yields in comparison with the molecular solvent (dioxane). However, when this reaction was performed in dioxane, the addition of pyperidine and 4 h under reflux was necessary in order to obtain **112** (82-90% yield).²⁵⁹

Similarly, Shaabani et al.²⁶⁰ reported the synthesis of pyran systems by a three-component condensation of aldehydes **8**, alkyl nitriles **16** and **84**, and either an α -hydroxy or an α -amino activated C–H acid such as 4-hydroxycoumarin, 4-hydroxy-6-methylpyrone, 1,3-dimethylbarbituric acid, 1,3dimethyl-6-aminouracil, or dimedone in the presence of TMGT as the ionic liquid without the need for any other reactant or organic solvent (Scheme 31). The ionic liquid was used as a catalyst in a molar ratio of 1:0.1 (reactant/ IL), and it was recovered and reused twice though with a decrease in yield (72%, 66%) for **113** and **114**. Experiments were also conducted to study the reaction of benzaldehyde **8**, malononitrile **84**, and 4-hydroxycoumarin at 100 °C in the absence of TMGT, where after 1 h of reaction, there was only a 12% yield of the product. However, when

Scheme 32



R¹ = H, 3-Me, 4-OH

R² = Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 4-OMe-Ph, 4-NO₂-Ph, 3,4-(OMe)₂-Ph, 2-Cl-Ph, 3-OMe-Ph *i:* [EtNH₃][NO₃], MW, 22-50 s (81-90%)

113–118 were synthesized in pyridine as solvent at room temperature for 30 min, yields of ca. 80% were obtained, 261 a result superior to that obtained using an ionic liquid. Therefore, a synthetic route using the milder ionic liquids is more suitable than those that employ pyridine.

6.5. Flavones

Flavones are important naturally occurring organic compounds that possess a wide range of biological activities²⁶² and are used in the treatment of various diseases.²⁶³ Different methods are used for the synthesis of flavones, including the Allan–Robinson synthesis,²⁶⁴ the use of chalcones,²⁶⁵ and the Wittig reaction.²⁶⁶ The most common method employed to construct flavones involves a Baker-Venkatraman rearrangement. In this method, 2-hydroxyacetophenone is converted to its benzoyl ester, which in the presence of base (pyridine/KOH) gives the 1,3-diketone. The 1,3-ketones are further cyclized under strongly acidic conditions to afford the corresponding flavones.²⁶⁷ Recently, the synthesis of flavones promoted by an ionic liquid catalyst, ethyl ammonium nitrate ([EtNH₃][NO₃]), under microwave irradiation was reported.²⁶⁸ To evaluate the synthetic utility of the process, various substituted diketones 119 were subjected to the reaction under microwave irradiation (Scheme 32).²⁶⁷ The reaction proceeded cleanly without the formation of any side product except water. The advantages of this method include a simple procedure and good yields. In addition, the ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:2 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused twice with no appreciable decrease in yield. In another study, this reaction was performed in a molecular solvent (acetic acid) under acidic conditions (HCl) and reflux for 14 h and produced a yield of 82% of the flavone derivatives.²⁶⁹ Although one cannot be certain whether it was the ionic liquid or the microwave irradiation that provided the increase in efficiency, the use of the ionic liquid proved to be a good alternative to the same procedure with a molecular solvent.

6.6. Pyrimidines and Pyrimidinones

Multicomponent condensation reactions have recently been rediscovered to be a powerful method for the synthesis of organic compounds, since the products are formed in a single step and diversity can be achieved by simply varying each component.²⁷⁰ The classic version of the Biginelli three-component condensation reaction,²⁷¹ which combines an aldehyde, urea or thiourea, and an open-chain β -dicarbonyl compound under acidic conditions in ethanol, gives monocyclic 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2-(1*H*)-ones. The Biginelli reaction has become widely used for the generation of large collections of molecules in combinatorial syntheses.²⁷² However, this method involves long reaction times, harsh reaction conditions, and unsatisfactory yields. Shaabani et al.^{81b} established the use of ionic liquids in a modified





i: TMGT, 100°C, 5 h (53-77%).

method of the Biginelli reaction. The synthetic protocol entails the condensation of aldehydes 8, β -ketoesters 76 or 121, and either 2-aminobenzothiazole 122 or 2-aminobenzimidazole 123 in the presence of TMGT as an ionic liquid at 100 °C (Scheme 33). The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:0.1 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused three times with a slight decrease in yield. The reaction presumably proceeds in two steps: the condensation of 8 and 76 or 121 by the standard Knoevenagel reaction, producing 3-benzylidene-2,4-pentenedione; then, reaction of 2-aminobenzothiazol 122 or 2-aminobenzimidazole 123 with the Knoevenagel product through a Michael addition resulting in a product that, after cyclization, affords 4H-pyrimido[2,1b]benzazoles 124 or 125. The reaction proceeds efficiently with both electron-withdrawing and electron-releasing 4-substituted benzaldehydes 8. It is important to note that in the absence of TMGT, the yield of the reaction decreased by up to 25% after 5 h. Furthermore, when the reaction was carried out in H₂SO₄ as catalyst and in ethanol under reflux (18 h), the yields for 124 and 125 were between 40% and 60%.²⁷³

In addition, Deng and Peng²⁷⁴ reported the use of an ionic liquid as catalyst for the Biginelli condensation reaction under solvent-free conditions (Table 14). The synthetic route to obtain pyrimidinones **127** and **128** consists of the condensation of aldehydes **8**, β -ketoesters **76** and **80** and urea **126** in the presence of an ionic liquid at 100 °C (Table 14). It can be seen that all starting materials reacted very well, and the yields achieved from the aromatic aldehydes **8** with electron-donating substituents were slightly higher than those from aromatic aldehydes **8** with electron-withdrawing substituents. For the sake of comparison, toluene was added into the reaction system. The reaction was refluxed at 100 °C for 2 h, and the yield (77%) was lower. Entry 1 (Table 14) shows that the reaction was fruitless in the absence of an ionic liquid.

Wang et al.²⁷⁵ developed a polymer-supported ionic liquid catalyst for the synthesis of pyrimidinones **127**. The catalyst system was produced by immobilizing the catalyst on Merrifield resin to obtain PsMim-based ionic liquids. The pyrimidinones 127 resulted from the condensation of an aldehydes 8, β -ketoesters 76, and urea 126 in the presence of an ionic liquid at 100 °C (Scheme 34). The ionic liquid was recovered and reused four times with no appreciable decrease in yield (97%, 94%, 90%, and 91%). The authors concluded that the use of recoverable, polymer-supported ionic liquids as catalysts provides a simple and effective method for the Biginelli reaction performed with aromatic aldehydes 8. Aromatic aldehydes 8 with electron-donating groups favored this Biginelli condensation. In contrast, aromatic aldehydes 8 with electron-withdrawing substituents gave somewhat lower, yet still good, yields (74-91%). To compare with a molecular solvent, the reaction was carried

 Table 14. Synthesis of Pyrimidinones from Biginelli

 Condensation Reaction



Entry	IL (mmol)	\mathbb{R}^1	yield (%)
1	none	Ph	0
2	$[BMIM][BF_4] (0.05)$	Ph	85
3	$[BMIM][BF_4](0.1)$	Ph	92
4	$[BMIM][BF_4](0.2)$	Ph	95
5	$[BMIM][BF_4]$ (0.1)	4-OMe-Ph	95
6	$[BMIM][BF_4] (0.1)$	4-Cl-Ph	96
7	$[BMIM][BF_4]$ (0.1)	4-NO ₂ -Ph	90
8	$[BMIM][PF_6] (0.1)$	Ph	94
9	$[BMIM][PF_6] (0.1)$	4-OMe-Ph	98
10	$[BMIM][PF_6] (0.1)$	4-Cl-Ph	98
11	$[BMIM][PF_6] (0.1)$	4-NO ₂ -Ph	92
12	$[BMIM][BF_4]$ (0.1)	Pentyl	93
13	$[BMIM][BF_4]$ (0.1)	Ph	99
14	$[BMIM][BF_4](0.1)$	4-NO ₂ -Ph	92
15	$[BMIM]BF_4(0.1)$	4-NO ₂ -Ph	77
16	[BMIM][Cl] (0.1)	Ph	56
17	$[Bu_4N][Cl](0.1)$	Ph	0



R¹ = Ph, 2-Cl-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 2,4-Cl₂-Ph, 4-NO₂-Ph, 2-MeO-Ph, 4-Me-Ph,

4-Me₂N-Ph, Pr 76, 127 (R = Et, Me)

i: [PsMIm][PF₆], AcOH, 100°C, 2 h (23-99%)

ii: AcOH,100°C, 2 h (70%); MeCN, 82°C, 4 h (25%); EtOH, 78°C, 4 h (13%)

Scheme 35



R¹ = Bu, Ph, 4-Me-Ph, 4-MeO-Ph, 4-HO-Ph, 2-HO-Ph, PhCH=CH, 4-F-Ph, 4-Cl-Ph, 2-Cl-Ph, 2-Br-Ph, 2,4-Cl₂-Ph, 4-NO₂-Ph, 3-NO₂-Ph, 2-NO₂-Ph;

76, 127 (R = Et, Me)

/: Bi(NO₃)₃.5H₂O, TBAB, 50-90°C, 20-150 min (76-97%).

out in EtOH, CH₃CN, and AcOH without a catalyst, and the yields were lower. The results are summarized in Scheme 34.

Khosropour et al.²⁷⁶ employed 3.5 mol% of TBAB to synthesize pyrimidinones **127**. This Biginelli reaction employed primary alcohols **129** (instead of aldehydes), β -ketoesters **76**, and Bi(NO₃)₃. Theone-potoxidation-cyclocondensation reaction is performed without the isolation of an intermediate aldehyde (Scheme 35). The treatment of primary benzyl alcohols **8**, carrying either electron-withdrawing or electronScheme 36



R = Me, OMe; $R^1 = Ph$, 2-Cl-Ph

ż NaHCO₃, [BMIM][BF₄], 50°C, 24 h.

ii: Py, CH₂Cl₂, 20°C, 30 min.

iii: HCl, MeOH, 20°C, 40 min.

Scheme 37



76,127 (R = Et) 126,127 (X = O) 135,136 (X = S) R¹ = Ph, 4-NO₂-Ph, 4-Me-Ph, 2-F-Ph, 2-CI-Ph, 2-Br-Ph, 3-OMe-4-OH-Ph, -CH=CH-Ph, Pyrid-2-yl, Fur-2-yl, *c*-Hexyl, Nonyl, 4-OMe-Ph, 3,4,5-(OMe)₃-Ph

i: [HBIM][BF₄],))), 30°C, 30-70 min (83-98%).

donating groups, afforded **127** in high yields and short reaction times. Another important aspect was that various functionalities, such as ether, halide and nitro, survived under these reaction conditions.²⁷⁶ The authors carried out the same reaction in acetonitrile as solvent, where the reaction time was 40 min, and the yield was about 80%.

Zlotin et al.²⁷⁷ demonstrated the application of ionic liquids in the synthesis of 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2-(1H)-ones 132 using [BMIM][BF₄]. The reaction consisted of the condensation between 2-arylidenes 130 and O-methylisourea sulfate 131 (Scheme 36). The results of this study demonstrated that the condensation process was substantially affected by the ionic liquid. The authors affirmed that the product from the first step undergoes partial isomerization under the reaction conditions in the presence of NaHCO3 and in an ionic liquid medium in a molar ratio of 1:0.2 (reactant/IL), which is more polar than DMF.²⁷⁸ This compound is then transformed into the corresponding 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2-(1H)-ones 134 by regioselective N-alkoxycarbonylation and O-demethylation of 132.²⁷⁷ When the same procedure was performed with the molecular solvent DMF using K₂CO₃ as base, the products were only attained after 16 h at room temperature.²⁷⁹ [BMIM] BF_4 therefore improved the reaction by dramatically reducing the reaction time.

Srinivasan et al.²⁸⁰ reported the use of an ionic liquid combined with ultrasound irradiation for the synthesis of the 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2-(1)-ones **127** and **136** from the Biginelli reaction in excellent isolated yields and short reaction times (Scheme 37). The synthetic route entails the condensation of an aldehydes **8**, β -ketoesters **76**, and urea **126** or thiourea **135** in the presence of the ionic liquid in a ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL) under ultrasound, resulting in pyrimidinones **127** or **136** (Scheme 37). The authors observed



that the reaction did not come to fruition even after several hours of sonication in molecular solvents such as acetonitrile, ethanol, THF, and dichloromethane in the place of the ionic liquids. It is thereby evident that the synergic effect of ultrasound combined with the ionic liquid as the reaction media promoted this MCR at room temperature in the absence of any added catalyst.

Another multicomponent reaction performed in ionic liquid to obtain 2-thioxotetrahydropyrimidin-4-(1*H*)-ones **144** was published by Bazureau et al.²⁸¹ The methodology employs microwave irradiation and a matrix of PEG-ILPs used for an ionic liquid phase organic synthesis. To use PEG-ILPs as tools in "liquid phase organic synthesis", the author chose to investigate the 2-thioxo-tetrahydropyrimidinones moiety **144** as a new heterocyclic scaffold. The 2-thioxotetrahydropyrimidin-4(1*H*)-one can be built from the intermediate **141** and isothiocyanates **142**. Compound **141** was obtained from the reaction of a primary amine **5** and compound **139** or **140**, formed from the reaction of β -dielectrophile **138** with IL **137** (Scheme 38).

The novel use of PEG-ILPs in liquid-phase organic synthesis offers considerable advantages because side products are removed by a single extraction and with washings from the cleaved IL phase. Continuing their work in this area, Bazureau et al.²⁸² have developed the synthesis of N-3 functionalized 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2-(1H)-ones (DHPMs) 153 (Scheme 40) with a 1,2,4-oxadiazole group via the threecomponent Biginelli condensation without solvent, according to the "ionic liquid-phase organic synthesis" (IoLiPOS) methodology (Scheme 39). In this paper, the authors reported that the protocol involved the attachment of the 3,4-DHPM heterocycles 147 on the ILP bound acetoacetates 76 by a solventless, one-pot, three-component condensation. Then, the 3,4-DHPM 147 were functionalized with 1,2,4-oxadiazole using two convergent methods either from aliphatic carboxylic anhydrides (150) or from aromatic carboxylic acids, as reactional sequence shown in the Scheme 40. Due to the high loading capacity of the ILP, in many cases the use of Scheme 39



i: MW, 170°C, 150 W, 10 min; *ii*: 100°C, HCl cat., 60 min.

Scheme 40



R = Me, Et, MeO-4-Ph, $3,4-(CH_2O_2)C_6H_3$ R¹ = CI-4-Ph, Br, CI

i: NaH, 0°C, MeCN, 18 h; *ii*: KOH, NH₂OH, HCI, EtOH, 0°C, 1 h then reflux, 18 h; *iii*: *Method A*: (a) 25°C, 18 h; (b) H₂O, reflux, 18 h; *Method B*: (a) DCC, DMAP 5%, MeCN, 25°C, 48 h; (b) H₂O, reflux, 36 h; *iv*: MeONa, MeOH, reflux, 18 h (70-96%).

a large excess of reactants was avoided, which is generally a disadvantage to the conventional solid-phase synthesis methods.

6.7. Quinazolines

4(3H)-Quinazolinones have emerged as an important class of nitrogenated heterocycles attracting significant synthetic interest because of their pharmacological and therapeutic properties.²⁸³ There are several methods for the synthesis of 4(3H)-quinazolinones.²⁸⁴ One method developed by Khosropour et al. is the immobilization of Lewis acids in ionic liquids²⁸⁵ to obtain 4(3H)-quinazolinone **156** by the condensation reaction of anthranilic acid **155**, trimethyl orthoformate **154**, and primary amines **5** in the presence of a catalytic amount of Bi(Tfa)₃ in [NBP][FeCl₄] as a room-



temperature ionic liquid (Scheme 41). The reactions were carried out at 60 °C for 5–20 min by reacting a 1:1.2:1.2 molar ratio mixture of **154**, **155**, and **5**, respectively, in the presence of 5 mol % Bi(Tfa)₃ in [NBP][FeCl₄] to give the desired products in high to excellent yields (79–98%). The ionic liquid was recovered and reused three times with no appreciable decrease in yield. Interestingly, it was observed that the combination of Bi(Tfa)₃–[NBP][FeCl₄] was essential for this transformation. Attempts to carry out the reaction in the absence of either of these catalysts did not yield the products, and only the starting materials were isolated. When this reaction was performed in the molecular solvent EtOH, the addition of NaOH and 30% H₂O₂ under reflux for 1 h was necessary to obtain 75% yield of the product.²⁸⁶

6.8. β -Carbolines

The β -carboline core is also of interest, being an important pharmacophore in numerous biologically active compounds.^{287a,b} The Pictet-Spengler reaction is a commonly used method for the synthesis of tetrahydro- β -carbolines.^{287c} The Pictet-Spengler products are epimer compounds because the stereochemistry of one stereogenic center in the reactant (amino acid) is kept in the product and the second stereogenic center is derived from the prostereogenic aldehyde. Thus, in the typical Pictet-Spengler reaction, a mixture of cis and trans diatereoisomers is expected. Normally, strong Brønsted/ Lewis acids ranging from catalytic to stoichiometric amounts are employed to accomplish the Pictet-Spengler reaction. In this context, many researchers have experienced the need for an efficient methodology for the synthesis of β -carboline libraries and have shown interest in the possibility of carrying out the Pictet-Spengler reaction in ionic liquids. Hence, Joshi et al.²⁸⁸ reported the synthesis of 1,3-disubstituted 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro- β -carbolines **158** by a Pictet-Spengler cyclization in [BBIM][BF₄]. The synthetic procedure was based on the Pictet-Spengler condensation of D-tryptophan methyl ester 157 and benzaldehydes 8 in different imidazolium-based ionic liquids in the presence of TFA as an acid catalyst (Table 15). The diastereomeric ratio cis/trans found for products **158** is described in Table 15. During the course of screening a variety of reaction conditions such as different ionic liquids, reaction temperatures, and reaction times, the authors found [BBIM][BF₄] to be superior to other ionic liquids. They also found that the use of TFA as an acid catalyst was in fact not necessary for an efficient Pictet-Spengler cyclization in ionic liquid.289 In the methodology chosen, the ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:4 (reactant/ IL), and it was recovered and reused twice with no appreciable decrease in yield (88% and 86%). It is important to mention that, from the results known from the literature,²⁹⁰ the Pictet-Spengler cyclization catalyzed by TFA in a molecular organic solvent, for example, methylene chloride, gave the corresponding 158 in 62% yield after stirring at



entry	\mathbb{R}^1	time (h)	yield (%)	diastereomeric ratio (cis/trans) ^a
1	Ph	2.0	90	1:0.9
2	3-OCH ₂ -O-4-Ph	4.0	70	1:0.8
3	2-F-Ph	2.0	85	1:0.7
4	2-Cl-Ph	2.0	82	1:1
5	2-NO ₂ -Ph	2.5	84	1:0.6
6	4-F-Ph	2.0	75	1:0.7
7	4-Cl-Ph	4.0	80	1:1
8	4-NO ₂ -Ph	2.0	75	1:0.6
9	4-MeO-Ph	5.0	82	1:0.9

 a Cis/trans refers to the relative position between R^{1} and the CO₂Me group.

Table 16. Synthesis of Fused Tetrahydro- β -carbolinequinoxalinones



i: 10% TFA, [BDMIM][Tf₂N] / [BDMIM][PFBuSO₃], 70°C;
 ii: DMAP, [BDMIM][Tf₂N] / [BDMIM][PFBuSO₃], 70°C;
 iii: SnCl₂, [BDMIM][Tf₂N] / [BDMIM][PFBuSO₃]/ethanol, 70°C.

entry	R	ionic liquid	time (h)	yield (%)
1	4-OMe-Ph	[BDMIM][Tf ₂ N]	1.5	64
2	Ph	[BDMIM][Tf ₂ N]	0.6	66
3	4-Cl-Ph	[BDMIM][Tf ₂ N]	0.7	71
4	2-F-Ph	[BDMIM][PFBuSO ₃]	0.9	61
5	naphth-2-yl	[BDMIM][PFBuSO ₃]	1.5	61
6	4-Me-Ph	[BDMIM][PFBuSO ₃]	1.0	62

room temperature for 4 days, in comparison to 2-5 h reaction time and 82% yield from the ionic liquid method.

On the other hand, Chu et al.²⁹¹ demonstrated the synthesis of fused tetrahydro- β -carbolinequinoxalinones **161** in the ionic liquids [BDMIM][Tf₂N] and [BDMIM][PFBuSO₃] (Table 16). Three reactions were incorporated into the synthesis: the Pictet-Spengler condensation^{287c,288} used in step i, the nucleophilic aromatic substitution in step ii, and the cyclization-upon-reduction reaction in step iii (Table 16). The synthesis of quinoxalinones **161** in ionic liquids involved

the direct coupling of 2-nitrofluorobenzene 159 with sterically hindered and less reactive tetrahydro- β -carbolines 158, and there was no apparent preference for a particular isomer.²⁸⁸ It can be noted that the approach of using ionic liquid as the reaction medium was effective with sterically hindered and substituted tetrahydro- β -carbolines 158.²⁹² The last step, a cyclization-upon-reduction reaction, was carried out without the aid of additional bases. The results indicate that under a standard reduction by tin chloride and the subsequent intramolecular cyclization, the desired tetrahydro- β -carbolinequinoxalinones **161** were readily formed as sole products in moderate overall isolated yields (34-55%). The IL was used for all steps and improved the yields (Table 16). The similarity of these reactions with those previously cited^{270,272} once more sustains the idea that ionic liquids are more efficient compared with molecular solvents.²⁸⁹

Chu and Yen²⁹³ also reported the total synthesis of tetrahydro- β -carbolinediketopyperazines **163** in [BD-MIM][PF₆] in a molar ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL). Three reactions were incorporated into the synthetic table: the Pictet-Spengler condensation used as the first step (i),²⁹¹ the Schotten-Baumann acylation as the second step (ii), and an intramolecular ester amidation for the last step (iii). The Schotten-Baumann itself is a fast reaction, and therefore, microwaves were only used in the first and last steps to speed up the synthesis of **163** (Table 17). As shown in the table, the Schotten-Baumann reaction involves three steps, which employ aldehydes 8, TFA, MW, Fmoc-Pro-Cl, DIEA, and, in the last step, pyperidine. The authors noted that if the same Pictet-Spengler reaction was carried out in conventional solvents such as dichloromethane, 7-8 h were required to complete the reaction at room temperature.²⁹³

6.9. Dioxanes

The acid-catalyzed condensation of olefins with aldehydes, known as the Prins reaction, is an important carbon-carbon bond forming reaction in organic synthesis.²⁹⁴ The major products of the classical Prins reaction are normally 1,3diols, 1,3-dioxanes, unsaturated alcohols, and the products obtained from the acid-catalyzed polymerization of olefins.²⁹⁵ 1,3-Diols are particularly important building blocks in the total synthesis of various bioactive natural products.²⁹⁶ The most simple and straightforward method for the synthesis of 1,3-diols is the addition of olefins to paraformaldehyde in the presence of acid catalysts. Generally, Lewis acids or Brønsted acids are employed in both catalytic and stoichiometric amounts to promote this transformation.^{297,298} Accordingly, Yadav et al.²⁹⁹ reported the synthesis of 1,3dioxanes 166 using a catalytic amount of indium tribromide in [BMIM][PF₆]. A variety of styrenes **164** reacted smoothly with paraformaldehyde 165 to give the corresponding 1,3dioxanes 166 in excellent yields. In all cases, the reactions proceeded efficiently at 25 °C with high selectivity. The best results were achieved when the reactions were carried out at room temperature for 3.5-6.5 h in the presence of 10%indium tribromide in ionic liquids (Scheme 42). The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:5 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused three times with no appreciable decrease in yield. Compared with conventional solvents, enhanced reaction rates, improved yields, and high selectivity were the main advantages displayed by ionic liquids. For example, the treatment of trans-stilbenes 164 with 165 in the presence of 10 mol % indium tribromide in [BMIM][PF₆] for 5.5 h afforded the corresponding 4,5-diphenyl-1,3Table 17. Synthesis of Tetrahydro- β -carbolinediketopiperazines



i: 10%TFA, [BDMIM][PF₆]/THF (1:1), MW, 60 W, 60°C, 25 s; *ii*: Fmoc-Pro-Cl (5 equiv), DIEA (5 equiv), [BDMIM][PF₆]/THF (1:1), r.t., 3 min; *iii*: pyperidine, [BDMIM][PF₆]/THF, MW, 60 W, 60°C, 60 s.

		reaction time				
entry	R	step 1 (h)	step 2 (min)	step 3 (h)	yield (%)	diateroisomeric cis/trans ratio ^a
1	Et	2	3	2	41	27:73
2	Pr	2.5	3	2	30	68:32
3	Bn	2.5	3	2	20	9:91
4	4-Me-Ph	2	3	2	35	67:33
5	4-OMe-Ph	3	3	2	30	15:85
6	4-F-Ph	2	3	2	25	59:41
			Microwa	ave		

		Reaction Time				diateroisomeric
entry	R	1 (s)	2 (min)	3 (s)	(%)	ratio ^a
1	Et	25	3	60	69	41:59
2	Pr	25	3	60	56	66:34
3	Bn	25	3	60	62	10:90
4	4-Me-Ph	25	3	60	55	38:62
5	4-OMe-Ph	25	3	60	49	42:58
6	4-F-Ph	25	3	60	49	65:35

 a The stereochemistry of the diasteroisomers was determined by 13 C NMR. The diastereoisomer fractions were measured by C18-HPLC. In a pair of diastereoisomers, the second number represents the trans isomer in the table.

Scheme 42



dioxane **166** in 90% yield with trans selectivity whereas the same reaction in dichloromethane after 8.0 h gave the product in 70% yield as cis and trans isomers in a molar ratio of $2:8.^{300}$

6.10. Oxazines

1,2-Oxazines are heterocycles of pharmacological relevance and represent useful synthetic building blocks. They have been used, for instance, as intermediates during the synthesis of glycosidase inhibitor analogues³⁰¹ and functionalized pyrroles.³⁰² Many syntheses of 1,2-oxazines rely on hetero-Diels–Alder reactions of alkenes with ene–nitroso



^a(1) 8-Ethyl-1,8-diazabicyclo[5,4,0]-7-undecenium trifluoromethanesulfonate; (2) 8-Methyl-1,8-diazabicyclo[5,4,0]-undecenium trifluoromethanesulfonate; (3) [EMIM][CF₃SO₃];(4) [BMIM][BF₄]; (5) $[BMIM][PF_6].$

compounds, derived from α -haloximes³⁰³ or on hetero-Diels-Alder reactions of dienes with nitroso compounds.^{301,303e} Other methods rely on cyclization of alkenyl-substituted oximes in the presence of NBS,³⁰⁴ diphenyldiselenide,³⁰⁵ or an acid³⁰⁶ or through photochemical activation.³⁰⁷ In addition, 1,2-oxazines have been prepared by base-mediated cyclization of γ -chloroximes³⁰⁸ and γ -sulfonyloximes.³⁰⁹Other syntheses rely on the Lewis acid catalyzed reaction of allenoximes,³¹⁰ the acid-catalyzed cyclization of cyclopropyloximes,³¹¹ or the cyclization of γ -nitroketones.³¹² Kitazume et al.³¹³ introduced the use of ionic liquids in the synthesis of oxazines 168 from the reaction of benzaldehydes 8 with 2-aminobenzyl alcohols 167 as shown in Table 18. Ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:6 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused three times with no appreciable decrease in yield. Usually, the synthesis of these heterocycles is carried out in polar organic solvents (such as THF, DMF, or DMSO), and after quenching with water, the products are extracted with organic solvents. When tetrahydrofuran was used as a solvent in the reaction above, the product was obtained an excelent yield (91%), but it was not easy to separate the solvent and the product by direct distillation. When an ionic liquid was utilized to perform the same reaction, the product was separated by extraction with diethyl ether, and the ionic liquid was recovered. On the other hand, when this reaction was performed in CH_2Cl_2 at room temperature with addition of BF₃•OEt₂ for 12 h, the yield was 73%.³¹³

6.11. Benzothiazines

1,4-Benzothiazine is a molecule of interest to chemists and biologists both, being a subunit of various tissues such as mammalian hair and feathers and also a precursor in many synthetic transformations leading to biologically active heterocyclic molecules.³¹⁴ Various methods have been reported for the synthesis of 1,4-benzothiazine such as synthesis from 2-aminothiophenol³¹⁵ by a reductive cyclization of α -(4-nitrophenylthio) acids³¹⁶ and 2-aminophenyl disulfides.³¹⁷ While investigating the use of ionic liquids in cyclization reactions for the synthesis of macrocyclic chelat-ing agents, Tandon et al.³¹⁸ observed the transformation of alkylsulfanylphenylamines 169 into 3-oxo-1,4-benzothiazines 171, found to be the sole product after spectroscopic analysis (Scheme 43). The advantage of this method was the ease product separation provided by the solid-supported heterogeneous base. Interestingly, the alkylsulfanylamines 169, which have smaller alkyl groups, were converted to benzothiazines 171in a shorter time and in higher yields



Scheme 44



compared with those of larger alkyl groups. This may have been due to the steric factor involved at the time of cyclization with the nucleophilic substitution at the thio group. The ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:10 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused three times with no appreciable decrease in yield. This transformation in molecular solvents is rarely described in the literature. One of the few examples employs DMSO as a molecular solvent, under reflux for 30-40 min, and the yields found were 62-72%.319

6.12. Triazines

1,3,5-Triazines are a class of attractive compounds in the modern chemical industry.^{320a} They are widely employed as flame-retardant additives in common resins^{320b} or pivotal structural units in fire-resistant polymers^{320c} Chemically modified 6-aryl-2,4-diaminotriazines have also been reported as new ligands with potential multicoordination modes,^{320d} cross-linkers in coatings, 320e vermin-repellent microcapsules with slow-release potentiality, ^{320f} corrosion-resistant agents on metal surfaces, ^{320g} and candidates for antiulcerous^{320h} and allergy-inhibiting drugs.³²⁰ⁱ The synthesis of 6-aryl-2,4diaminotriazines typically involves the condensation of arylnitriles with dicyandiamide in an alcohol solution in the presence of a strong base.^{321,322} Unfortunately, these transformations have traditionally suffered from long reaction times, for example, 24 h at 140 °C with yields between 53-75%.^{321a} Thus, Song et al.³²³ reported a method using ionic liquids to produce substituted diaminotriazines 174. The reaction occurred by cyclization of dicyandiamide 173 with various arylnitriles 172 using microwave irradiation (Scheme 44). Employing computer-aided control of dielectric heating, the desired products 174 were formed efficiently, and the reaction times were shortened from 15-24 h to 15 min or even less. The ionic character of the ionic liquids provides excellent coupling capability with microwave irradiation. However, for organic reactions performed in ionic liquids under consecutive microwave irradiation, overheating is an inevitable problem because of the nonvolatile nature of such solvents.³²³ In this method, the ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused five times with no appreciable decrease in the yield (87% to 83%) of **174**.

Scheme 45



 R^{-} R^{2} R^{2} R^{2} R^{2} R^{2} R^{3} R^{3} R^{3} R^{4} R^{2} R^{2} R^{3} R^{3} R^{4} R^{4

i: Amberlyst-15[®], [BMIM][BF₄], r.t., 3-5 h (85-95%).

ii: [BBIM][Br], 28°C, 50 min (87-96%).

7. Synthesis of Seven-Membered Heterocycles: Diazepines

Benzodiazepines are an important class of bioactive molecules.³²⁴ Despite their wide range of pharmacological activity and industrial and synthetic applications, the synthesis of benzodiazepines has received little attention.³²⁵ Methods reported in the literature for the synthesis of 1,5-benzodiazepines, many of which are recent, include condensation reactions of 2-phenylenediamine with α,β -unsaturated carreactions of 2-pnenytenediamine with α,β -unsaturated car-bonyl compounds, ³²⁶ β -haloketones, ³²⁷ or ketones in the presence of BF₃-etherate, ³²⁸ NaBH₄, ³²⁹ polyphosphoric acid, or SiO₂, ³³⁰ MgO/PCl₃, ^{325a} Yb(OTf)₃, ^{325b} or Al₂O₃/P₂O₅ or AcOH under microwave irradiation. ³³¹ Many of these processes suffer from one of a number of limitations. Therefore Yadav et al.³³² investigated the synthesis of 1,5benzodiazepines 176 using ionic liquid from the treatment of 2-phenylenediamines 32 with different ketones 175 using Amberlyst-15 immobilized in [BMIM][BF₄] (Scheme 45). The advantage of ionic liquids as solvent in a molar ratio of 1:10 (reactant/IL) for this transformation was the ease of the catalyst/substrate separation due to the heterogeneous catalyst. In addition, the ionic liquid was recovered and reused four times with no appreciable decrease in yield (95% to 81%). The authors performed the reactions in polar organic solvents such as DMF and N-methylpyrrolidine to compare the efficiency of ionic liquids. However, the reaction did not come to fruition in these solvents even under heating (75-80)°C) in the presence of an ion-exchange resin. The products were obtained in low to moderated yields (45-60%) when the reactions were carried out in chloroform in the presence of acid resin. The advantages of ionic liquids over conventional solvents in this case were enhanced reaction rates, improved yields, and high selectivity. For example, the treatment of 2-phenylenediamines 32 with 2-butanone 175 in the presence of acid resin in ionic liquid for 3-4 h afforded the corresponding 176 in 88% yield with only a trace amount of the other regioisomeric product (5%), whereas the same reaction in chloroform for 7 h gave the regioisomeric products in 60% yields in a 1:1 molar ratio. Srinivasan et al.³³³ also developed a regioselective synthesis of 1,5-benzodiazepines 176 in [BBIM][Br]. 2-Phenylenediamines 32 was reacted with both acyclic and cyclic ketones 175 in [BBIM][Br] in the absence of any other catalyst (Scheme 45). The enhanced reactivity for the synthesis of the benzodiazepines 176 in [BBIM][Br], even in the absence of a catalyst, was attributed by the authors to the inherent

Lewis acidities of the H2, H4, and H5 hydrogens of the imidazolium cation in [BBIM][Br]. The ionic liquid acts not only as a solvating medium but also as a promoter for the reaction resulting in the twin advantages of allowing room-temperature conditions and not requiring a catalyst.³³³ In all cases, the ionic liquid was used in a molar ratio of 1:1 (reactant/IL), and it was recovered and reused three times with no appreciable decrease in yield. The advantages of the ionic liquid over molecular solvents are once again evident, as corroborated by Yadav et al.³³²

8. Green Aspects of Ionic Liquids

Recently, ILs have gained considerable attention in several branches of the chemical industry as potential "green" substitutes for conventional organic solvents.^{334,335} The "green" aspect of ILs is mainly derived from their undetectable vapor pressure, flammability, and toxicity because this decreases the risk of exposure and loss of solvent by evaporation, thereby reducing air pollution. However, these green credentials are not sufficient for design of sustainable chemical products, and it is necessary to refer to the concept of ecotoxicological risk profiles, which comparatively assess substances according to the five risk indicators: release, spatiotemporal range, bioaccumulation, and biological activity.³³⁶ Concerning the release of and from ionic liquids, applications and processes have to be designed to take into account the toxic potential of the substances employed. Currently, this seems to be possible, especially when ILs are used under highly controlled conditions in chemical production facilities. The biodegradability of ILs has focused on making the cation more biodegradable. Because of the need for hydrophobic ILs, it seems to be of primary importance to develop anions that introduce sufficient hydrophobicity but are at the same time biodegradable. Even if high bioaccumulation and toxicity might be observed for the parent compound, its ready degradation, starting in wastewater treatment facilities, would decrease the joint bioaccumulation of the parent compound and the transformation products, and critical body residues would not be reached.³³⁶ As their popularity with industrial chemists increases, the probability that ILs will find their way into water courses through effluent discharges or accidental spills will also increase, and they may affect the aquatic environment for a long time because of their poor biodegradability. In addition to current studies on wastewater treatment methods and biodegradation, the toxicity of the degradation products should be investigated to make sure that they are less toxic than the original products. The knowledge we have on IL toxicity, which has been argued to be dominated by their bioaccumulation potential, already allows for a T-SAR directed design for low toxicity.³³⁶ The key factor will be low anion and cation lipophilicity. If, however, lipophilicity in the form of low water solubility is a technical requirement, a design for biodegradability could resolve the conflict between safety and technical requirements. According to Jastorff et al.,³³⁷ the toxicity of ILs is roughly driven by the head group, the side chain, and the anion. Currently, the biological effects of ILs have resulted in increasing reports, which have dealt mainly with the influence of the alkyl side chain length of various ILs head groups. Pernak et al. 338-342 pointed out that their antimicrobial activity increased with increasing alkyl chain length on pyridinium, imidazolium, and quaternary ammonium salts. Similar phenomena were also observed for enzyme acetylcholinesterase,343 the marine

bacterium *Vibrio fischeri*,^{344,345} mammalian cells,³⁴⁴ human cell HeLa cells,³⁴⁶ and higher organisms, including the soil nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*,³⁴⁷ as well as the freshwater snail Physa acuta.³⁴⁸ However, with respect to the influence of anions, no consistent conclusion has been obtained from previous investigations. Some studies have reported that varying the anion had minimal effects on the toxicities of several pyridinium and imidazolium compounds and indicated that the toxicity of ILs was largely driven by the alkyl chain branching and hydrophobicity of the cation.^{340,344,349,350} In the meantime, others have suggested that the counteranion contributed significantly to their toxicity.346,351,352 In particular, some ILs with fluorinecontaining anions were suggested to be relatively toxic because the anions were hydrolyzed to fluoride in the aqueous solution and the fluoride had a toxic effect.346,351 However, in-depth studies on this hydrolysis of fluorinecontaining anions and their effect on the toxicity were insufficient to explain the inhibitory effect of ILs. The toxicity of ILs towards aquatic organisms, such as fish and invertebrates, has been extensively studied, ^{337,349,352,353} but the influence of ILs on freshwater green algae has rarely been.

The relatively high solubilities of the ILs in the water phase, the low EC_{50} values obtained for some of them and their poor biodegradability (which makes them persistent pollutants) have important environmental consequences and should be taken into account for the design of processes that use ILs. To avoid the potential contamination of the aqueous phase with ILs, several strategies should be planned. Firstly, it is important to improve the processes, minimizing IL leaching to the aquatic media. There is also next to no knowledge on sublethal and chronic effects of ILs on biological organisms. However, this is of limited relevance as long as only small volumes of readily biodegradable ILs are released to the environment. If large volumes of refractory ILs were to be released, the question of sublethal and chronic effects would of course quickly be relevant. Summing up, the structural variability of ionic liquids provides substances that have a low risk regarding each of the five risk indicators.³³⁶ Therefore, there is a good chance that we will see a sustainable ionic liquid with an excellent risk profile for a defined technical application, which is itself in line with sustainable development. However, the reverse is also possible, if no care is taken to avoid unfavorable risk profiles. A start with analyzing the life cycle of an ionic liquid has already been made,³⁵⁴ and future studies should take a more holistic view on products and processes.

9. Economic Perspectives for Ionic Liquids

Ionic liquids offer the potential for ground-breaking changes to synthesis routes and unit operations in the chemical industry. There is rapidly growing worldwide scientific and commercial interest in ionic liquids, demonstrated by the accelerating number of ionic liquid publications and patents. The prospects for ionic liquid use are vast. The literature and patents describe numerous applications such as catalysis with increased rates and yields, less complex and more energy-efficient separations, and solvents that may reduce environmental impacts for commercial processes. The substantial benefits described in the literature and patents should promote rapid ionic liquid technology adoption. However, despite their significant benefits and potential for numerous applications in the chemical industry, their development has remained mostly in the discovery stages of research based on understanding the fundamental relationships between structure, properties, and reactivity.

Ionic liquid applications that have broad chemical industry impact only become a reality when the economies of these applications are favorable and well understood. The costs of commercially using ionic liquids in industrial processes are unknown. Therefore, comprehensive cost-benefit analysis of direct and indirect advantages and risks of ionic liquid processes versus conventional technologies should be performed and published. Beyond a simple evaluation of the cost-benefit of ionic liquids in a specific process, these assessments should include estimates of long-term indirect benefits of ionic liquid use, such as water savings, energy savings, environmental benefits, the ability of an industry to be ahead of the market in terms of meeting or exceeding emissions standards, and other externalities that are not recognized when simply measuring the benefits of ionic liquids as a substitute for molecular solvents. This would provide a more comprehensive representation of how ionic liquids measure up to traditional organic solvent and catalytic systems.

Uncertainty of ionic liquid cost and availability for industrial chemical applications increases the risks associated with ionic liquid processes. Even if the performance of ionic liquid processes is vastly superior, the costs associated with small losses of expensive ionic liquid inventory can quickly offset any processing benefit. Industry is unlikely to adopt this technology if the expenses of producing bulk ionic liquids remain at their current level (small laboratory quantities cost on the order of \$1000/kg). Ionic liquids researchers and process engineers need to demonstrate that ionic liquids can be scaled up from research to industrial quantities while maintaining their chemical and thermophysical properties and purity.

Industry has been slow to focus on the application of ionic liquids and slow to recognize their potential economic value. This fact has worried the important institutions of this area. Looking for reasons and alternatives for this problem, the American Chemical Society (ACS) promoted a workshop, Ionic Liquids: Progress and Prospects symposium (sponsored by Green Chemistry and Engineering and Separation Science and Technology Subdivisions) at the 226th ACS National Meeting (New York, Fall 2003). The "Barriers to Ionic Liquid Commercialization" workshop included 36 invited participants representing 15 chemical companies, five universities, four nongovernmental organizations, and three national laboratories. A major objective of this initiative is to promote collaborative industry-academic-government R&D programs to address technical barriers. The main conclusion of this event was that chemical industry stakeholders should begin work as early as possible in areas appropriate for collaborative research. These areas include (i) process engineering user facilities, (ii) environmental, safety, and health concerns, (iii) increasing industrial focus and obtaining chemical, physical, and thermodynamic properties data, (iv) economic benefit analyses, and (v) largescale demonstrations. Thus, specifically in the economical aspects, to accelerate ionic liquid commercialization, the investment in basic science must focus on developing predictive synthetic and property capabilities, solving important industrial and societal problems, and providing application-driven solutions not available with conventional technologies. Emphasis should be focused on developing

ionic liquids with practical industrial needs in mind: economic synthetic pathways, minimizing costs of raw materials used to make ionic liquids, extending the lifetime of the ionic liquid, minimizing toxicity, and increasing contaminant tolerability.

Today, results demonstrated in many academic papers and patents allow us to identify the main potential opportunities for ionic liquids in separations,^{355–359} chemical processes,³⁶⁰ polymerization reactions,^{361–365} and fuel applications.³⁶⁶

One example that demonstrates that the prospective discussed here for ionic liquids is supported by results of BASF.³⁶⁷ BASF has been investing in the use of ionic liquids in the industrial process and has made many advances. They have set up a research partnership with the University of Alabama (UA) to study the dissolution and processing of cellulose by means of ionic liquids. BASF sells its ionic liquids under the brand name Basionics, and the corresponding processes are marketed under the name Basil. An ecoefficiency analysis recently confirmed that the use of BASF's Basil process for scavenging acids in the chemical synthesis of phosphorus compounds offered significant advantages over the conventional system. Compared with amines, which have been used traditionally in this type of reaction, the BASF process based on 1-methylimidazole is less cost-intensive and at the same time easier on the environment. The new process for synthesizing phosphorus compounds, which are used as chemical building blocks to produce photoinitiators in UV-curable coatings, reliably avoids a number of problems encountered to date, including low stability and product yield and a laborious process.

10. Conclusions

After having examined of all the cyclocondensation reactions described in this review, it is necessary to return to the initial questions. We believe that to adequately answer the question "ILs: Solvent, Catalyst, or Both?" it is necessary to consider the characteristics of each reaction. In this review, the main effects of the ionic liquids observed in the cyclocondensation reactions were to improve the reaction yields and to shorten the reaction time. The data collected for this review showed that more than 80% of the articles reported the use of neutral reactants and neutral reaction conditions. In some cases, neutral reactants were used under Brønsted acid or basic reaction conditions, and in a few cases, Lewis acids or bases were used in the reaction media.

Although in some cases the authors emphasized ionic liquid Brønsted acid catalysis (e.g., NH or CH of imidazolium-based ILs) or Lewis acidic/basic catalysis (interaction of IL cation or anion with substrates), we believe the most important benefit of ILs in organic reactions, in particular, in condensation reactions, can be explained through the general concepts of solvent effects.

Thus, considering that most articles described in this review (i) used imidazolium-based ILs, in particular, 1,3dialkylpyrazolium cations and nonbasic anions, (ii) used neutral reactants and neutral reaction conditions, and (iii) reported that the reactional rates were enhanced and the yields were improved in comparison to those observed in the same reaction performed in molecular solvents, we concluded that, the most important function of ionic liquid is to stabilize the charged activated complex through solvent—solute-type interactions, similar (but not identical) to the interaction between polar protic/aprotic solvents and solutes (see Figure 2).



Figure 4. The rise in publications concerning ionic liquids as a function of time, as determined using Web of Science.

Moreover, considering the importance of the cyclocondensation reactions, the main reaction for heterocyclic synthesis, the information presented in this review clearly illustrates the substantial advances achieved over the past decade in the use of ionic liquids as solvent in organic reactions. In addition, clear advantages of using ionic liquids, such as increased reaction rates and product yields and the possibility of avoiding complex workup procedures and of reusing these solvents have been demonstrated.

An investigation in the Web of Science showed a proliferation of papers in the ionic liquid area (Figure 4). We found more than 7400 papers published in the period from 1990 to July 2007, in which more than 95% of the papers were published after the year 2000. These data show the increase in new researchers entering the area. On the other hand, less than 1% of all the papers published in the mentioned period dealt with the application of ionic liquids in heterocyclic synthesis from cyclocondensation reactions! This fact is surprising because the data from almost 100% of the papers reviewed here clearly show that the use of ILs in heterocyclic synthesis leads to yield enhancement and reduction in the reaction time in relation to the same reaction performed in molecular solvents. Undeniably, ionic liquids enable more efficient reactions to take place compared with molecular solvents. However, it is necessary to optimize both reactions in order to be able to make a truly accurate comparison. Large increases in reactivity and selectivity have been achieved using this medium for homogeneous reactions, and in some cases, reactions have been shown to only work in the ionic environment and not in molecular solvents.

In this review, we hope to have given a clear idea of the applicability of ionic liquids in the cyclocondensation reactions. We would like to conclude with an optimistic view for the future expansion of cyclocondensation reactions in ionic liquid media. This positive view comes from the certainty that the results reported here will be but the beginning of a great advance in this promising field in the near future.

11. List of Abbreviations

$[2-AEMIM][PF_6]$	1-Aminoethyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluoro-
	phosphate
[BBIM][BF ₄]	1,3-Dibutylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate
[BDMIM][Tf ₂ N]	1-Butyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethyl-
	sulfonyl)amide
[BDMIM]-	1-Butyl-2,3-dimethylimidazolium perfluorobutyl-
[PFBuSO ₃]	sulfonate
[BMIM][BF ₄]	1-Butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate
[BMIM][Br]	1-Butyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide
[BMIM][Br ₃]	1-Butyl-3-methylimidazolium tribromide

[BMIM][Cl]	1-Butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride
[BMIM][OH]	1-Butyl-3-methylimidazolium hydroxide
$[BMIM][PF_6]$	1-Butyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate
[BPy][BF ₄]	1-Butylpyridinium tetrafluoroborate
DABCO	1,4-Diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane
DAST	Diethylaminosulfur trifluoride
DBU	1,8-Diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene
DCC	Dicyclohexyl carbodiimide
DEAD	Diethylazodicarboxylate
DIEA	Diisopropylethylamine
DHPM	3,4-Dihydropyrimidin-2-(1H)-one
DMAD	Dimethylacetalenedicarboxylate
DMAP	4-Dimethylaminopyridine
DME	1,2-Dimethoxyethane
EDA	Ethyl diazoacetate
EDDA	Ethylenediammonium diacetate
Fmoc-Pro-Cl	9-Fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl prolyne acid chloride
[HBIM][BF ₄]	1-Butyl imidazolium tetrafluoroborate
[HeMIM][BF ₄]	1-Hexyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate
[HMIM][Tfa]	1-Methylimidazolium trifluoroacetate
HTIB	[Hydroxyl(tosyloxy)iodo]benzene
MCRs	Multicomponent reactions
[NBP][FeCl ₄]	Butylpyridinium tetrachloroferrate
NBS	N-Bromosuccinimide
PEG-ILPs	Poly(ethyleneglycol)-ionic liquids
PsMim	Polystyrene-methylimidazolium
TBAB	Tetrabutylammonium bromide
TEBAC	Triethyl benzylammonium chloride
TFA	Trifluoracetic acid
Tfa	Trifluoroacetate anion
TMGT	1,1,3,3-N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylguanidinium trifluo-
	racetate
TMSCN	Trimethylsilylcyanide
TosMIC	<i>p</i> -Toluenesulfonyl methylisocyanide

12. Acknowledgments

The authors thank the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico, CNPq (PRONEX); Fundação de Amparo à pesquisa do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul, FAPERGS (PRONEX); and Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Ensino Superior, CAPES (PROEX), for financial support. The fellowships from CAPES (C.P.F. and D.N.M.) and CNPq (M.A.P.M., N.Z., and H.G.B.) are also acknowledged.

13. References

- (a) Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Pergamon Press: New York, 1984; Vols. 1–8. (b) Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R., Ress, C. W., Scriven, E. F. V., Eds.; Pergamon: New York, 1996; Vols. 1–8. (c) Balaban, A. T.; Oniciu, D. C.; Katritzky, A. R. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 2777. (d) Martins, M. A. P.; Cunico, W.; Pereira, C. M.P.; Flores, A. F. C.; Bonacorso, H. G.; Zanatta, N. Curr. Org. Synth. 2004, 1, 391. (e) Druzhinin, S. V.; Balenkova, E. S.; Nenajdenko, V. G. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 7753.
- (2) (a) Ghose, A. K.; Viswanadhan, V. N.; Wendoloski, J. J. J. Comb. Chem. 1999, 1, 55. (b) Xu, J.; Stevenson, J. J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 2000, 40, 1177.
- (3) Wasserscheid, P.; Welton, T. *Ionic Liquids in Synthesis*; Wiley-VCH Verlag: Stuttgart, Germany, 2002.
- (4) (a) Pârvulescu, V.I.; Hardacre, C. Chem. Rev 2007, 107, 2615. (b) Welton, T. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2004, 248, 2459. (c) Wasserscheid, P.; Keim, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3772. (d) Welton, T. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 2071. (e) Harper, J. B.; Kobrak, M. N. Mini-Rev. Org. Chem. 2006, 3, 253.
- (5) (a) Chiappe, C.; Pieraccini, D. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2005, 18, 275.
 (b) Olivier-Bourbigou, H.; Magna, L. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2002, 182–183, 419.
- (6) Chauhan, S. M. S.; Jain, N.; Kumar, A.; Chauhan, S. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 1015.
- (7) Scott, J. L.; Shahana, C.; Mohan, R. S. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 2363.

- (8) (a) Shubin, V. G.; Borodkin, G. I. Russ. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 42, 1761. (b) Calo, V.; Nacci, A.; Monopoli, A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 17, 3791.
- (9) Wasserscheid, P.; Keim, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3773.
- (10) Seddon, K. R. In *Molten Salt Chemistry*; Mamantov, G., Marassi, R., Eds.; Reidel Publishing Co.: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 1987.
- (11) Wilkes, J. S.; Levisky, J. A.; Wilson, R. A.; Hussey, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 1263.
- (12) Wilkes, J. S.; Zaworotko, M. J. Chem. Commun. 1992, 965.
- (13) Davis, J. H. Chem. Lett. 2004, 33, 1072.
- (14) Visser, A. E.; Swatloski, R. P.; Reichert, W. M.; Mayton, R.; Sheff, S.; Wierzbicki, A.; Davis, J.H., Jr.; Rogers, R. D. Chem. Commun. 1992, 965.
- (15) Fremantle, M. Chem. Eng. News 1998, 76, 32.
- (16) (a) Gordon, C.M.; Holbrey, J. D.; Kennedy, A. R.; Seddon, K. R. J. Mater. Chem 1998, 8, 2627. (b) Seddon, K. R.; Stark, A.; Torres, M. J. Pure Appl. Chem. 2000, 72, 2275.
- (17) (a) Ionic Liquids III A: Fundamentals, Progress, Challenges, and Opportunities Properties and Structure; Rogers R. D., Seddon K. R., Eds.; American Chemical Society: Washington, 2005. (b) Ionic Liquids III B: Fundamentals, Progress, Challenges, and Opportunities Transformations and Processes; Rogers, R. D., Seddon, K. R., Eds.; American Chemical Society: Washington, 2005. (c) Wilkes, J. S. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2004, 214, 11. (d) Holbrey, J. D.; Seddon, K. R. Clean Prod. Processes 1999, 1, 223. (e) Hardacre, C. Annu. Rev. Mater. Res. 2005, 35, 29.
- (18) (a) Dalko, P. I.; Moisan, L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 3726.
 (b) Schreiner, P. R. Chem Soc. Rev. 2003, 32, 289.
- (19) (a) Xiao, Y.; Sanjay, V. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 2005, 690, 3609.
 (b) Mali, K. S.; Dutt, G. B.; Mukherjee, T. J. Chem. Phys. 2005, 123, 174504.
- (20) Aki, S. N. V. K.; Brennecke, J.F.; Samanta, A. Chem. Commun. 2001, 413.
- (21) (a) Wakai, C.; Oleinikova, A.; Ott, M.; Weingärtner, H. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 17028. (b) Wakai, C.; Oleinikova, A.; Weingärtner, H. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 5824.
- (22) (a) Taft, R. W.; Abboud, J. L. M.; Kamlet, M. J. Solution Chem. 1985, 14, 153. (b) Kamlet, M. J.; Abboud, J. L. M.; Taft, R. W. Prog. Phys. Org. Chem. 1981, 13, 485. (c) Muldoon, M. J.; Gordon, C. M.; Dunkin, I. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 2 2001, 4, 4333.
- (23) (a) Taft, R. W.; Abboud, J. L. M.; Kamlet, M. J. Solution Chem. 1985, 14, 153. (b) Kamlet, M. J.; Abboud, J. L. M.; Taft; R.W., Prog. Phys. Org. Chem. 1981, 13, 485. (c) Muldoon, M. J.; Gordon, C. M.; Dunkin, I. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 2 2001, 4, 4333.
- (24) Crowhurst, L.; Mawdsley, P. R.; Perez-Arlandis, J. M.; Salter, P. A.; Welton, T. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2003, 42, 413.
- (25) Reichardt, C. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1992, 147.
- (26) Poole, S. K.; Shetty, P. H.; Poole, C. F. Anal. Chim. Acta 1989, 218, 241.
- (27) Shetty, P. H.; Youngberg, P. J.; Kersten, B. R.; Poole, C. F. J. Chromatogr. 1987, 411, 61.
- (28) (a) Coddens, M. E.; Furton, K. G.; Poole, C. F. J. Chromatogr. 1985, 356, 59. (b) Furton, K. G.; Poole, S. K.; Poole, C. F. Anal. Chim. Acta 1987, 192, 49. (c) Furton, K. G.; Poole, C. F. Anal. Chem. 1987, 59, 1170. (d) Furton, K. G.; Poole, C. F. J. Chromatogr. 1987, 399, 47. (e) Pomaville, R. M.; Poole, S. K.; Davis, L. J.; Poole, C. F. J. Chromatogr. 1988, 438, 1. (f) Pomaville, R. M.; Poole, C. F. Anal. Chem. 1988, 60, 1103.
- (29) Anderson, J. L.; Ding, J.; Welton, T.; Armstrong, D. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 14247.
- (30) (a) Wakai, C.; Oleinikova, A.; Ott, M.; Weingärtner, H. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 17028. (b) Wakai, C.; Oleinikova, A.; Weingärtner, H. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 5824.
- (31) (a) Ingold, C. K. Structure and Mechanism in Organic Chemistry, 2nd ed; Cornell University Press: Ithaca, NY, 1969; (b) Hughes, D. E.; Ingold, C. K. J. Chem. Soc. 1935, 244.
- (32) Kamal, A.; Chouhan, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 1489.
- (33) Yadav, L. D. S.; Patel, R.; Rai, V. K.; Srivastava, V. P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2007, 48, 7793.
- (34) Kim, H. S.; Kim, K. Y.; Lee, C.; Chin, C. S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 4300.
- (35) Dubreuil, J. F.; Bourahla, K.; Rahmouni, M.; Bazureau, J. P.; Hamelin, J. Catal. Commun. 2002, 3, 185.
- (36) Cole, A. C.; Jensen, J. L.; Ntai, I.; Tran, K. L. T.; Weaver, K. J.; Forbes, D. C.; Davis, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 5962.
- (37) Gu, Y.; Shi, F.; Deng, Y. Catal. Commun. 2003, 4, 597.
- (38) Ranu, B. C.; Banerjee, S. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3049.
- (39) Ohno, H.; Yoshizawa, M. Solid State Ionics 2002, 154, 303.
- (40) Driver, G.; Johnson, K. E. *Green Chem.* 2003, *5*, 163.
 (41) Susan, A. B. H.; Noda, A.; Mitsushima, S.; Watanabe, M. *Chem.*
- Commun. 2003, 938. (42) Yoshizawa M.: Xu, W.: Angell, C. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125
- (42) Yoshizawa, M.; Xu, W.; Angell, C. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 15411.

- (43) Earle, M. J.; McCormac, P. B.; Seddon, K. R. Green Chem. 2000, 2, 261.
- (44) Welton, T.; Lancaster, N. L.; Salter, P. A.; Young, G. B. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 8855.
- (45) Bresne, F.; Alejendre, J. J. Chem Phys. 2003, 118, 4134.
- (46) Holbrey, J. D.; Reichert, W. M.; Nieuwenhuyzen, M.; Sheppard, O.; Hardacre, C.; Rogers, R. D. *Chem Commun* **2003**, *4*, 476.
- (47) Grodkowshi, J.; Neta, P.; Wishart, J. F. J. Phys. Chem. A 2003, 107, 9794.
- (48) Gajewski, J. J. J Org. Chem 1992, 57, 5500.
- (49) Early, M. J.; McCormac, P. B.; Seddon, K. R. Green Chem. 1999, 1, 23.
- (50) Debreul, J. F. J. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 7351.
- (51) Aggarwal, A.; Lancaster, N. L.; Sethi, A. R.; Welton, T. Green Chem. 2002, 4, 517.
- (52) Hanke, C. G.; Lynden-Bell, R. M. J. Phys. Chem. B 2003, 107, 10873.
- (53) Cammarata, L.; Kazarian, S. G.; Salter, P. A.; Welton, T. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2001, 3, 5192.
- (54) Bowron, D. T.; Finney, J. L.; Soper, A. K. J. Phys. Chem. B 1998, 102, 3551.
- (55) (a) Farmer, V.; Welton, T. *Green Chem.* **2002**, *4*, 97. (b) Doherty, S.; Goodrich, P.; Hardacre, C.; Luo, H. K.; Rooney, D. W.; Seddon, K. R.; Styring, P. *Green Chem.* **2004**, *6*, 63. (c) Amigues, E.; Hardacre, C.; Keane, G.; Migaud, M.; O'Neill, M. *Chem. Commun.* **2006**, 72.
- (56) D'Anna, M. M.; Gallo, V.; Mastrorilli, P.; Nobile, C. F.; Romanazzi, G.; Suranna, G. P. *Chem. Commun.* 2002, 434.
- (57) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Baishya, G.; Narsaiah, A. V. Chem.Lett. 2005, 34, 102.
- (58) Gallo, V.; Giardina-Papa, D.; Mastrorilli, P.; Nobile, C. F.; Suranna, G. P.; Wang, Y. J. Organomet. Chem. 2005, 690, 3535.
- (59) Shestopalov, A. M.; Zlotin, S. G.; Shestopalov, A. A.; Mortikov, V.Y.; Rodinovskaya, L. A. Russ. Chem. Bull. Int. Ed. 2004, 53, 573.
- (60) Imao, D.; Fujihara, S.; Yamamoto, T.; Ohta, T.; Ito, Y. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 6988.
- (61) Hagiwara, H.; Okabe, T.; Hoshi, T.; Suzuki, T. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2004, 214, 167.
- (62) Basavaiah, D.; Rao, A. J.; Satyanarayana, T. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 811.
- (63) Hsu, J.-C.; Yen, Y.-H.; Chu, Y.-H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 4673.
- (64) Machado, M. Y.; Dorta, R. Synthesis 2005, 2473.
- (65) Yang, X.-F.; Wang, M.; Varma, R. S.; Li, C.-J. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem 2004, 214, 147.
- (66) Muller, P. Pure Appl. Chem. 1994, 66, 1077.
- (67) (a) Mitsunobu, O. In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Winterfeldt, E., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, U.K., 1990; Vol. 7, p 65. (b) Kemp, J. E. G. In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Lwowski, L., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, U.K., 1991; Vol. 7, p 469. (c) Murphree, S. S.; Padwa, A. Prog. Heterocycl. Chem. 2001, 13, 52. (d) Pearson, W. H.; Lian, B. W.; Bergmeier, S. C. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R., Ress, C. W., Scriven, E. F. V., Eds.; Pergamon: New York, 1996; Vol. 1A, p 1.
- (68) Xia, C.-G.; Sun, W.; Wang, H.-W. Tetrahedron Lett 2003, 44, 2409.
- (69) (a) Casarrubios, L.; Pérez, J. A.; Brookhart, M.; Templeton, J. L. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 8358. (b) Xie, W. H.; Fang, J. W.; Li, J.; Wang, P. G. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 12929.
- (70) Knorr, L. Ber. 1884, 17, 1635.
- (71) Roomi, M. W.; MacDonald, S. F. Can. J. Chem. 1970, 48, 1689.
- (72) (a) Uchida, T. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1978, 15, 241. (b) DeShong, P.;
 Kell, D. A.; Sidler, D. R. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 2309. (c) Toyota,
 M.; Nishikawa, Y.; Fukumoto, K. Heterocycles 1994, 39, 39. (d)
 Katritzky, A. R.; Yao, J.; Bao, W.; Qi, M.; Steel, P. J. J. Org. Chem.
 1999, 64, 346. (e) Konev, A.S.; Novikov, M. S.; Khlebnikov, A. F.
 Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 8337.
- (73) (a) Minetto, G.; Raveglia, L. F.; Taddei, M. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 389.
 (b) Freeman, F.; Kim, D. S. H. L. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 172.
- (74) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B.V.S.; Eeshwaraiah, B.; Gupta, M. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 5873.
- (75) Banik, B. K.; Samajdar, S.; Banik, I. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 213.
- (76) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Shubashree, S.; Sadashiv, K.; Rao, D. R. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2007, 272, 128.
- (77) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Shubashree, S.; Sadashiv, K.; Naidu, J. J. Synthesis **2004**, 2376.
- (78) Miller, L. L.; Christopfel, W. C. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 4169.
- (79) (a) Figueroa-Villar, J. D.; Carneiro, C. L.; Cruz, E. R. *Heterocycles* 1992, *34*, 891. (b) Vilsmaier, E.; Baumheier, R.; Lemmert, M. *Synthesis* 1990, 995. (d) Kawahara, N.; Nakajima, T.; Itoh, T.; Ogura, H. *Heterocycles* 1984, *22*, 2217. (e) Qian, C. Y.; Nishino, H.; Kurosawa, K.; Korp, J. D. J. Org. Chem. 1993, *58*, 4448.
- (80) (a) Nair, V.; Vinod, A. U.; Abhilash, N.; Menon, R. S.; Santhi, V.; Varma, R. L.; Viji, S.; Mathewa, S.; Srinivasb, R. *Tetrahedron* 2003,

59, 10279. (b) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Shubashree, S.; Sadashiv, K.; Naidu, J. J. *Synthesis* **2004**, 2376.

- (81) (a) Shaabani, A.; Rahmati, A.; Naderi, S. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2005, *15*, 5553. (b) Shaabani, A.; Samadi, S.; Badri, Z.; Rahmati, A. *Catal. Lett.* 2005, *104*, 39. (c) Shaabani, A.; Rahmati, A. *Catal. Lett.* 2005, *100*, 177. (d) Shaabani, A.; Rahmati, A.; Aghaaliakbari, B. *Synth. Commun.* 2006, *36*, 65. (e) Shaabani, A.; Soleimani, E.; Maleki, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2006, *47*, 3031.
- (82) (a) Shaabani, A.; Soleimani, E.; Khavasi, H. R.; Hoffmann, R. D.; Rodewald, U. C.; Poättgen, R. *Tetrahedron Lett* 2006, 47, 5493. (b) Shaabani, A.; Teimouri, M. B.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 9151. (c) Shaabani, A.; Yavari, I.; Teimouri, M. B.; Bazgir, A.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. *Tetrahedron* 2001, 57, 1375. (d) Shaabani, A.; Teimouri, M. B.; Bazgir, A.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. *Mol. Diversity* 2003, 6, 199. (e) Shaabani, A.; Teimouri, M. B.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. *Monatsh. Chem.* 2004, 135, 441. (f) Shaabani, A.; Teimouri, M. B.; Samadi, S.; Soleimani, K. *Synth. Commun.* 2005, 35, 535.
- (83) Shaabani, A.; Soleimani, E.; Darvishi, M. Monatsh. Chem. 2007, 138, 43.
- (84) (a) Knight, D.K. Contemp. Org. Synth. 1994, 1, 287. (b) Laduwahetty, T. Contemp. Org. Synth. 1995, 2, 133. (c) Collins, L. Contemp. Org. Synth. 1996, 3, 295.
- (85) Villemin, D.; Liao, L. Synth. Commun. 2003, 33, 1575.
- (86) Villemin, D.; Mostefa-Kara, B.; Bar, N.; Choukchou-Braham, N.; Cheikh, N.; Benmeddah, A.; Hazimeh, H.; Ziani-Cherif, C. Lett. Org. Chem. 2006, 3, 558.
- (87) (a) Dreux, J. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1956, 1777. (b) Avetisyan, A. A.; Mangasaryan, T. A.; Melikyan, G. S.; Dangyan, M. T.; Matsoyan, S. G. Zh. Org. Khim. 1971, 7, 962.
- (88) Maheut, G.; Liao, L.; Catel, J.-M.; Jaffres, P.-A.; Villemin, D. J. Chem. Educ. 2001, 78, 654.
- (89) (a) Eicher, T.; Hauptmann, S.; Speicher, A. *The Chemistry of Heterocycles: Five-Membered Heterocycles*; Wiley-VCH: New York, 2003. (b) Gronowitz, S. *The Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds: Thiophene and its Derivatives*; Gronowitz, S., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1991; Vol. 44, Part 3, Chapter 2.
- (90) King, W. J.; Nord, F. F. J. Org. Chem. 1949, 14, 638.
- (91) WuC.; Decker, E. R.; Blok, N.; Bui, H.; You, T. J.; Wang, J.; Bourgoyne, A. R.; Knowles, V.; Berens, K. L.; Holland, G. W.; Brock, T. A.; Dixon, R. A. F. J. Med. Chem. 2004, 47, 1969.
- (92) Doré, K.; Dubus, S.; Ho, H. A.; Lévesque, I.; Brunette, M.; Corbeil, G.; Boissinot, M.; Boivin, G.; Bergeron, M. G.; Boudreau, D.; Leclerc, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 4240.
- (93) Rost, C.; Karg, S.; Riess, W.; Loi, M. A.; Murgia, M.; Muccini, M. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2004, 85, 1613.
- (94) Vriezema, D. M.; Hoogboom, J.; Velonia, K.; Takazawa, K.; Christianen, P. C. M.; Maan, J. C.; Rowan, A. E.; Nolte, R. J. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 772.
- (95) Yu, H.; Pullen, A. E.; Büschel, M. G.; Swager, T. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 3700.
- (96) (a) Shevchenko, N. E.; Nenajdenko, V. G.; Balenkova, E. S. Synthesis
 2003, 1191. (b) Barbarella, G.; Melucci, M.; Sotgiu, G. Adv. Mater.
 2005, 17, 1581. (c) Masui, K.; Ikegami, H.; Mori, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 5074.
- (97) (a) Zhang, H.; Yang, G.; Chen, J.; Chen, Z. Synthesis 2004, 3055.
 (b) Koji, S.; Satoshi, K. Synthesis 1982, 1056. (c) Hideo, K.; Keiichi, N.; Kazuhiko, Y.; Hiroo, I. Synthesis 1996, 1193.
- (98) (a) Bartolo, G.; Giuseppe, S.; Alessia, F. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 351. (b) Ong, C. W.; Chen, C. M.; Wang, L. F.; Shieh, P. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 9191. (c) Stephensen, H.; Zaragona, F. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 6096.
- (99) Gewald, K. Angew. Chem. 1961, 73, 114.
- (100) Castanedo, G. M.; Sutherlin, D. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 7181.
- (101) Annabelle, P.; Frutos, H.; Bernd, H.; Jean, G. Synlett 2003, 63.
- (102) Rajagopal, R.; Jyothi, T. M.; Daniel, T.; Srinivasan, K. V.; Rao, B. S. Synth. Commun. 2001, 31, 3113.
- (103) Lutjens, H.; Zickgraf, A.; Figler, H.; Linden, J.; Olsson, R. A.; Scammells, P. J. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 1870.
- (104) Hu, Y.; Wei, P.; Huang, H.; Han, S.-Q.; Ouyang, P.-K. Synth. Commun. 2006, 36, 1543.
- (105) Lütjens, H.; Zickgraf, A.; Figler, H.; Linden, J.; Olsson, R. A.; Scammells, P. J. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 1870.
- (106) (a) Lednicer, D.; Mitscher, L. A. Organic Chemistry of Drugs Synthesis A; Wiley: New York, 1977; Vols. 1-3. (b) De Arriba, A. F.; Gómez-Casajús, L. A.; Cavalcanti, F.; Almansa, C.; Garcia-Rafanell, J.; Fore, J. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 1996, 318, 341. (c) De Arriba, A. F.; Gómez-Casajús, L. A.; Cavalcanti, F.; Almansa, C.; Garcia-Rafanell, J.; Fore, J. J. Med. Chem. 1997, 40, 547. (d) Harper, R. W.; Jackson, W. T.; Froelich, L. L.; Boyd, R. J.; Aldridge, T. E.; Herron, D. K. J. Med. Chem. 1994, 37, 2411. (e) Ishii, S.; Yagi, K.; Umehara, T.; Kudo, M.; Nawamaki, T.; Watanabe, S. Jpn. Kokai Tokkyo Koho JP 02129171, 1990. (f) Buntain, I. G.; Hatton, L. R.; Hawkins, D. W.; Pearson, C. J.; Roberts, D. A. Eur. Pat. Appl. 295117, 1990.

- (107) Katritzky, A. R.; Rees, C. W.; Scriven, E.F. V. *Comprehensive Heterocyclic-Chemistry II*; Elsevier Science: New York, 1996; Vol.
- (108) (a) Colla, A.; Martins, M. A. P.; Clar, G.; Krimmer, S.; Fischer, P. Synthesis 1991, 483. (b) Martins, M. A. P.; Guarda, E. A.; Frizzo, C. P.; Scapin, E.; Beck, P.; Costa, A. C.; Zanatta, N.; Bonacorso, H. G. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2006, 266, 100. (c) Bonacorso, H. G.; Oliveira, M. R.; Wentz, A. P.; Wastowski, A. D.; Oliveira, A. B.; Höerner, M.; Zanatta, N.; Martins, M. A. P. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 345. (d) Sanin, A. V.; Nenaienko, V. G.; Kuz'min, V. S.; Balenkova, E. S. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 1998, 34, 558. (e) General procedure for the synthesis of alkyl[aryl]-substituted 5-hydroxy-5-trihalomethyl-4,5-dihydroisoxazoles and alkyl[aryl]-substituted 5-hydroxy-5-trihalomethyl-4,5-dihydro-1*H*-1-carboxy amidepyrazoles: β -Alkoxyvinyl trihalomethyl ketone 26 (2 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of semicarbazide hydrochloride 27 (or hydroxylamine hydrochloride 52; 2.2 mmol) and pyridine (2.2 mmol) in [BMIM][BF4] (2 mmol), at 25 °C. The mixture was stirred for 1 h at 80 °C. To the reaction mixture, chloroform was added (5 mL), and then the mixture was washed with distilled water (3×5 mL). The organic phase was dried with anhydrous sodium sulfate; after this, the solvent was evaporated, and the residue was dried under vacuum. The azole 28 or 53 was obtained as a solid, in good purity, without further purifications. The ionic liquid was recovered by evaporation of water under vacuum. For spectral data of compound 28, see ref 94 and for that of compound 53, see ref 149.
- (109) (a) Lambardino, J. G.; Wiseman, E. H. J. Med. Chem. 1974, 17, 1182. (b) Philips, A. P.; White, H. L.; Rosen, S. Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 58890, 1982.
- (110) Lantos, I.; Zhang, W. Y.; Shiu, X.; Eggleston, D. S. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 7092.
- (111) Zhang, C.; Moran, E. J.; Woiwade, T. F.; Short, K. M.; Mjalli, A. M. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 751.
- (112) Claiborne, C. F.; Liverton, N. J.; Nguyen, K. T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 8939.
- (113) Bleicher, K. H.; Gerber, F.; Wuthrich, Y.; Alanine, A.; Capretta, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 7687.
- (114) Liu, J.; Chem, J.; Zhao, J.; Zhao, Y.; Li, L.; Zhang, H. Synthesis 2003, 2661.
- (115) Sarshar, S.; Siev, D.; Mjalli, A. M. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 835.
- (116) Frantz, D. E.; Morency, L.; Soheili, A.; Murry, J. A.; Grabowski, E. J. J.; Tillyer, R. D. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 843.
- (117) Weinmann, H.; Harre, M.; Koeing, K.; Merten, E.; Tilstam, U. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 593.
- (118) Balalaie, S.; Hashemi, M. M.; Akhbari, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 1709.
- (119) Balalaie, S.; Arabanian, A. Green Chem. 2000, 2, 274.
- (120) Usyatinsky, A. Y.; Khemelnitsky, Y. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 5031.
- (121) Wolkenberg, S. E.; Wisnoski, D. D.; Leister, W. H.; Wang, Y.; Zhao, Z.; Lindsley, C. W. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 1453.
- (122) Cobb, J. M.; Grimster, N.; Khan, N.; Lai, J. Y. Q.; Payne, H. J.; Payne, L. J.; Raynham, T.; Taylor, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 7557.
- (123) Xu, L.; Wan, Li.-F.; Salehi, H.; Deng, W.; Guo, Q.-X. *Heterocycles* **2004**, *63*, 1613.
- (124) Siddiqui, S. A.; Narkhede, U.C.; Palimkar, S. S.; Daniel, T.; Lahoti, R. J.; Srinivasan, K. V. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 3539.
- (125) Xia, M.; Lu, Y.-D. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2007, 265, 205.
- (126) Nadaf, R. N.; Siddiqui, S. A.; Daniel, T.; Lahoti, R. J.; Srinivasan, K. V. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2004, 214, 155.
- (127) Howard, A. S. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Katritzky, A.R., Rees, C.W., Scriven, E. V. F., Eds.; Pergamon Press: London, 1996; Vol. 8, p 262, references therein.
- (128) Gudmundsson, K. S.; Williams, J. D.; Drach, J. C.; Townsend, L. B. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 1449.
- (129) Geronikaki, A.; Babaev, E.; Dearden, J.; Dehaen, W.; Filimonov, D.; Galaeva, I.; Krajneva, V.; Lagunin, A.; Macaev, F.; Molodavkin, G.; Poroikov, V.; Pogrebnoi, S.; Saloutin, V.; Stepanchikova, A.; Stingaci, E.; Tkach, N.; Vlad, L.; Voronina, T. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2004, *12*, 6559.
- (130) Ohta, M.; Suzuki, T.; Koide, T.; Matsuhisa, A.; Furuya, T.; Miyata, K.; Yanagisawa, I. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1996**, *44*, 991.
- (131) Enguehard-Gueiffier, C.; Fauvelle, F.; Debouzy, J. C.; Peinnequin, A.; Thery, I.; Dabouis, V.; Gueiffier, A. Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 2005, 24, 219.
- (132) (a) Cai, L.; Brouwer, C.; Sinclair, K.; Cuevas, J.; Pike, V. W. Synthesis 2006, 133. (b) Kiselyov, A. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 4487. (c) Castera, C.; Crozet, M. D.; Vanelle, P. Heterocycles 2005, 65, 2979. (d) Enguehard, C.; Allouchi, H.; Gueiffier, A.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 4367. (e) Basso, D.; Broggini, G.; Passarella, D.; Pilati, T.; Terraneo, A.; Zecchi, G. Tetrahedron 2002,

Martins et al.

58, 4445. (f) Arrault, A.; Touzeau, F.; Guillaumet, G.; Leger, J. M.; Jarry, C.; Merour, J. Y. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 8145. (g) Chen, Y.; Lam, Y. L.; Lai, Y. H. *Org. Lett.* **2002**, *4*, 3935.

- (133) Groebke, K.; Weber, L.; Mehlin, F. Synlett 1998, 661.
- (134) Bienaymé, H.; Bouzid, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 2234.
- (135) (a) Blackburn, C. *Tetrahedron Lett* **1998**, *39*, 5469. (b) Blackburn,
 C.; Guan, B.; Fleming, P.; Shiosaki, K.; Tsai, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 3635. (c) Mandair, G. S.; Light, M.; Russell, A.;
 Hursthouse, M.; Bradley, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 4267.
- (136) Palepu, R.; Gharibi, H.; Bloor, D.M.; Wyn-Jones, E. Langmuir 1993, 9, 110.
- (137) (a) Holmberg, K.; Laughlin, R. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 1987, 2, 453. (b) Wärnheim, T. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 1997, 2, 72.
- (138) Dupont, J. J. Braz. Chem. Soc. 2004, 15, 341.
- (139) Bowers, J.; Butts, C. P.; Martin, P. J.; Vergara-Gutierrez, M. C. Langmuir 2004, 20, 2191.
- (140) Miskolczy, Z.; Sebok-Nagy, K.; Biczok, L.; Gokturk, S. Chem. Phys. Lett. 2004, 400, 296.
- (141) Modaressi, A.; Sifaoui, H.; Mielcarz, M.; Domanska, U.; Rogalski, M. Colloids Surf. 2007, A302, 181.
- (142) Dong, B.; Li, N.; Zheng, L.; Yu, L.; Inoue, T. Langmuir 2007, 23, 4178.
- (143) Blesic, M.; Marques, M. H.; Plechkova, N. V.; Seddon, K. R.; Rebelo, L. P. N.; Lopes, A. *Green Chem.* 2007, 9, 481.
- (144) Baltazar, Q. Q.; Chandawalla, J.; Sawyer, K.; Anderson, J. L. Colloid Surf. 2007, A302, 150.
- (145) (a) Holbrey, J. D.; Seddon, K. R. *Clean Prod. Proc.* 1999, *1*, 223.
 (b) Earle, M. J.; Seddon, K. R. *Pure Appl. Chem.* 2000, *72*, 1391.
 (c) Wilks, J. S. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* 2004, *214*, 11.
- (146) Parchinsky, V. Z.; Shuvalova, O.; Ushakova, O.; Kravchenko, D. V.; Krasavin, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2006**, *47*, 947.
- (147) Shaabani, A.; Maleki, A. Monatsh. Chem. 2007, 138, 51.
- (148) Mandair, G. S.; Light, M.; Russell, A.; Hursthouse, M.; Bradley, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 4267.
- (149) Fisher, J. G.; Straley, J. M. US Patent 3,928,311, 1975.
- (150) Craig, L. E. US Patent 2,785,133, 1957.
- (151) Rival, Y.; Grassy, G.; Michael, G. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1992, 40, 1170.
- (152) Patra, M.; Mahapatra, S. K.; Dash, B. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1974, 51, 1031.
- (153) Sundberg, R. J.; Dahlhausen, D. J.; Manikumar, G. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1988, 25, 129.
- (154) Spitzer, W. A. US Patent 4,636,502, 1987.
- (155) Xie, Y.-Y. Synth. Commun. 2005, 35, 1741.
- (156) Chen, Z.-C.; Xie, Y.-Y.; Zheng, Q.-G. J. Chem. Res. (S) 2003, 614.
- (157) Beilstein 28, I62–II239.
- (158) Balon, Y. G.; Shulman, M. D.; Smirnov, V. A.; Yukhnomenko, M. M.; Yukhnomenko, M. A. *Zh. Org. Khim.* **1990**, *26*, 1566.
- (159) Katritzky, A. R.; Qiu, G. Q.; Long, Q. H.; He, H. Y.; Steel, P. J. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 9201.
- (160) Artyomov, V. A.; Shestopalov, A. M.; Litvinov, V. P. Synthesis 1996, 927.
- (161) Buu-Hoï, Ng. Ph.; Hóan, Ng.; Royer, R. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1950, 489.
- (162) Royer, R.; Bisagni, E.; Hudry, C. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1961, 933.
- (163) Krohnke, F.; Zecher, W. Chem. Ber. 1962, 95, 1128.
- (164) Ito, S.; Kakehi, A.; Miwa, T. Heterocycles 1991, 32, 2373.
- (165) Tominaga, Y.; Motokawa, S.; Shiroshita, Y. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1987, 24, 1365.
- (166) Hou, R.-S.; Wang, H.-M.; Huang, H.-Y.; Chen, L.-C. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. 2004, 51, 1417.
- (167) Manson, A. J.; Stoner, F. W.; Neumann, H. C.; Christiansen, R. G.; Clarke, R. L.; Ackerman, J. H.; Page, D. F.; Dean, J. W.; Phillips, D. K.; Potts, G. O.; Arnold, A.; Beyler, A. L.; Clinton, R. O. J. Med. Chem. **1963**, 6, 1.
- (168) (a) Moser, H.; Bohner, B.; Foery, W. Eur. Pat. Appl. EP268554, 1988. (b) Ishii, T.; Shimotori, H.; Tanaka, Y.; Ishikawa, K. Jpn. Kokai, Tokkyo Koho JP01168675, 1989. (c) Okada, I.; Yoshida, K.; Sekine, K. Japan Kokai, Tokkyo Koho JP02292263, 1990. (f) Sohn, E.; Handle, R.; Mildenberger, H.; Buerstell, H.; Bauer, K.; Bieringer, H. German Patent 3,633,840, 1988.
- (169) (a) Gombos, Z.; Nyitrai, J.; Doleschall, G.; Kolonits, P.; Párkányi, L.; Kálmán, A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1993, 1, 139. (b) Pavarelo, P.; Varasi, M. Synth. Commun. 1992, 22, 1939. (c) Dannhardt, G.; Kiefer, W.; Lambrecht, G. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 1995, 30, 839.
- (170) (a) Lang, S. A.; Lin, Y.-I. In *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry*; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, U.K., 1984; Vol. 6, pp 1–131.
- (171) (a) Flores, A. F. C.; Brondani, S.; Zanatta, N.; Rosa, A.; Martins, M. A. P. *Tetrahedron Lett* **2002**, *43*, 8701. (b) Bonacorso, H. G.; Oliveira, M. R.; Wentz, A. P.; Wastowski, A. D.; Oliveira, A. B.;

Hörner, M.; Zanatta, N.; Martins, M. A. P.; Flores, A. F. C. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 345.

- (172) Martins, M. A. P.; Siqueira, G. M.; Bastos, G. P.; Bonacorso, H. G.; Zanatta, N. J. Heterocycl. Chem. **1996**, 33, 1619.
- (173) (a) Wipf, P. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 2115. (b) Janvier, P.; Sun, X.; Bienaymé, H.; Zhu, J. J. Am Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 2560. (c) Palmer, D. C. Oxazoles: Synthesis, Reactions, and Spectroscopy; Wiley: Hoboken, NJ, 2004; Vol. 60. (d) Ikemoto, N.; Miller, R. A.; Fleitz, F. J.; Liu, J.; Petrillo, D. E.; Leone, J. F.; Laquidara, J.; Marcune, B.; Karady, S.; Armstrong, J. D.; Volante, R. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 1867.
- (174) (a) Kelly, T. R.; Lang, F. J. Org Chem 1996, 61, 4623. (b) Panek, J. S.; Beresis, R. T. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6496.
- (175) (a) Wipf, P.; Miller, C. P. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 3604. (b) Wipf, P.; Lim, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 558. (c) Bagley, M. C.; Buck, R.T.; Hind, S. L.; Moody, C. J. Perkin Trans. I 1998, 591. (d) Wipf, P.; Graham, T. H. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 3242. (e) Wipf, P.; Methot, J.-L. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 1261. (f) Morwick, T.; Hrapchak, M.; DeTuri, M.; Campbell, S. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2665.
- (176) (a) Phillips, A. J.; Uto, Y.; Wipf, P.; Reno, M. J.; Williams, D. R. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 1165. (b) Eastwood, F. W.; Perlmutter, P.; Yang, Q. Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 35. (c) Meyers, A. I.; Tavares, F. X. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 8207. (d) Wipf, P.; Graham, T. H. J. Am Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 15346. (e) Yokokawa, F.; Hamada, Y.; Shioiri, T. Synlett 1992, 153. (f) Barrish, J. C.; Singh, J.; Spergel, S. H.; Han, W.-C.; Kissick, T. P.; Kronenthal, D. R.; Mueller, R. H. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 4494. (g) Brennan, C. J.; Campagne, J.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 5195.
- (177) (a) Takeuchi, H.; Yanagida, S.; Ozaki, T.; Hagiwara, S.; Eguchi, S. *J. Org. Chem.* **1989**, *54*, 431. (b) Tarraga, A.; Molina, P.; Curiel, D.; Velasco, M. D. *Tetrahedron* **2001**, *57*, 6765. (c) Dhar, T. G. M.; Guo, J.; Shen, Z.; Pitts, W. J.; Gu, H. H.; Chen, B.-C.; Zhao, R.; Bednarz, M. S.; Iwanowicz, E. J. Org. Lett. **2002**, *4*, 2091.
- (178) Lautens, M.; Roy, A. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 555.
- (179) Ohba, M.; Kubo, H.; Fujii, T.; Ishibashi, H.; Sargent, M. V.; Arbain, D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 6697.
- (180) Sisko, J.;.; Kassick, A. J.; Mellinger, M.; Filan, J. J.; Allen, A.; Olsen, M. A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 1516.
- (181) (a) Nilsson, B. M.; Hacksell, U. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1989, 26, 269.
 (b) Wipf, P.; Rahman, L. T.; Rector, S. R. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 7132. (c) Arcadi, A.; Cacchi, S.; Cascia, L.; Fabrizi, G.; Marinelli, F. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2501. (d) Wipf, P.; Aoyama, Y.; Benedum, T. E. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3593. (e) Wipf, P.; Graham, T. H. Org Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 31. (f) Milton, M. D.; Inada, Y.; Nishibayashi, Y.; Uemura, S. Chem. Commun. 2004, 2712.
- (182) Bhatt, M. V.; Reddy, G. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1980, 21, 2359.
- (183) (a) Gant, T.; Meyers, A. I. *Tetrahedron* 1994, *50*, 2297. (b) Reuman,
 A. I.; Meyers, A. I. *Tetrahedron* 1985, *41*, 837.
- (184) (a) Saravanan, P.; Corey, E.J. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 2760. (b) Greene, T.; Wuts, W., PGM Protecting Groups in Organics Synthesis, Wiley: New York, 1991.
- (185) (a) Bandgar, B. P.; Pandit, S. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 2331.
 (b) Cwik, A.; Hell, Z.; Hegedüs, A.; Finta, Z.; Horváth, Z. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 3985. (c) Vorbrüggen, H.; Krolikiewicz, K. *Tetrahedron* 1993, 49, 9353.
- (186) (a) Kamata, K.; Agata, I. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 3113. (b) Jnaneshwara, G. K.; Deshpande, V. H.; Lalithambika, M.; Ravindranathan, T.; Bedekar, A. V. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 459. (c) Clarke, D. S.; Wood, R. Synth. Commun. 1996, 26, 1335. (d) Oussaid, B.; Berlan, J.; Soufiaoui, M.; Garrigues, B. Synth. Commun. 1995, 25, 659. (e) Katritzky, A. R.; Cai, C.; Suzuki, K.; Singh, S. K. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 811.
- (187) (a) Wipf, P.; Venkatraman, S. *Tetrahedron Lett* **1996**, *37*, 4659. (b) Bunnage, M. E.; Davies, S. G.; Goodwin, C. J. *Perkin Trans. 1* **1994**, *17*, 2385. (c) Wuts, P. G. M.; Northuis, J. M.; Kwan, T. A. *J. Org. Chem.* **2000**, *65*, 9223.
- (188) Kamakshi, R.; Reddy, B. S. R. Aust. J. Chem. 2006, 59, 463.
- (189) (a) Wright, G. D. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 529. (b) Aurelio, L.; Brownlee, R. T. C.; Hughes, A. B. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 5823.
- (190) Chung, C. W. Y.; Toy, P. H. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 387.
- (191) Barbachyn, M. R.; Hutchinson, D. K.; Brickner, S. J.; Zurenko, G. E. J. Med. Chem. 1996, 39, 680.
- (192) Puschin, N. A.; Mitic, R. V. J. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1937, 532, 300.
- (193) Bhalchandra, M. B.; Shin-ichiro, F.; Yutaka, I.; Masahiko, A. Green Chem. 2004, 6, 78.
- (194) Fu, Y.; Baba, T.; Ono, Y. J. Catal. 2001, 197, 91.
- (195) (a) Kawanami, H.; Ikushima, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, *43*, 3841.
 (b) Sudo, A.; Morioka, Y.; Sanda, F.; Endo, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, *45*, 1363. (c) Miller, A. W.; Nguyen, S. T. *Org. Lett.* 2004, *6*, 2301.
- (196) (a) Bruneau, C.; Dixneuf, P. H. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem 1992, 74, 97. (b) Costa, M.; Chiusoli, G. P.; Rizzardi, M. Chem Commun. 1996,

1699. (c) Costa, M.; Chiusoli, G. P.; Taffurelli, D.; Dalmonego, G. *Perkin Trans. 1* 1998, 1541. (d) Shi, M.; Shen, Y.-M. *J. Org. Chem.* 2002, 67, 16. (e) Gu, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Duan, Z.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, S.; Deng, Y. *J. Org. Chem.* 2005, 70, 7376. (f) Feroci, M.; Orsini, M.; Sotgiu, G.; Rossi, L.; Inesi, A. *J. Org. Chem.* 2005, 70, 7795.

- (197) (a) Zhang, Q.; Shi, F.; Gu, Y.; Yang, J.; Deng, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, 46, 5907. (b) Gu, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Duan, Z.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, S.; Deng, Y. J. Org. Chem. **2005**, 70, 7376.
- (198) (a) Miwatashi, S.; Arikawa, Y.; Kotani, E.; Miyamoto, M.; Naruo, K.-I.; Kimura, H.; Tanaka, T.; Asahi, S.; Ohkawa, S. J. Med. Chem. 2005, 48, 5966. (b) Papadopoulou, C.; Geronikaki, A.; Hadjipavlou-Litina, D. II Farmaco 2005, 60, 969, and references cited therein.
- (199) (a) Kumar, Y.; Green, R.; Borysko, K. Z.; Wise, D. S.; Wotring, L. L.; Townsend, L. B. J. Med. Chem. 1993, 36, 3843. (b) Ei-Subbagh, H. I.; Al-Obaid, A. M. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 1996, 31, 1017.
- (200) Pereira, R.; Gaudon, C.; Iglesias, B.; Germain, P.; Gronemeyer, H.; de Lera, A. R. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2006**, *16*, 49.
- (201) Tsuruni, Y.; Ueda, H.; Hayashi, K.; Takase, S.; Nishikawa, M.; Kiyoto, S.; Okuhara, M. J. Antibiot. 1995, 48, 1066.
- (202) (a) Millan, D. S.; Prager, R. H.; Brand, C.; Hart, P. H. *Tetrahedron* 2000, 56, 811. (b) Wang, W.-L.; Yao, D.-Y.; Gu, M.; Fan, M.-Z.; Li, J.-Y.; Xing, Y.-C.; Nan, F.-J. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2005, 15, 5284.
- (203) Metzger, J. V. In *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry*; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Pergamon Press: New York, 1984; Vol. 6, pp 235–332.
- (204) (a) Hantzsch, A.; Weber, J. H. *Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges.* 1887, 20, 3118. (b) Aguilar, E.; Meyers, A. I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1994, 35, 2473. (c) Varma, R. S. *Pure Appl. Chem.* 2001, 73, 193. (d) Ochiai, M.; Nishi, Y.; Hashimoto, S.; Tsuchimoto, Y.; Chen, D.-W. *J. Org. Chem.* 2003, 68, 7887, and references cited therein.
- (205) Bergstrom, D. E.; Zhang, P.; Zhou, J. Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 3029.
 (206) (a) Martin, L. M.; Hu, B.-H. Tetrahedron Lett 1999, 40, 7951. (b)
- You, S.-L.; Kelly, J. W. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9506.
- (207) Kazmaier, U.; Ackermann, S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 3184.
 (208) (a) Mustafa, S. M.; Nair, V. A.; Chittoor, J. P.; Krishnapillai, S. Mini-
- (a) Mustala, S. M., Nair, V. A., Chitton, J. T., Kishnaphia, S. Mul-Rev. Org. Chem. 2004, 1, 375. (b) Walek, W.; Pallas, M.; Augustin, M. Tetrahedron 1976, 32, 623. (c) Golankiewicz, B.; Januszczyk, P.; Gdaniec, M.; Kosturkiewicz, Z. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 5989. (d) Lin, Y.-I.; Seifert, C. M.; Kang, S. M.; Dusza, J. P.; Lang, S. A., Jr. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1979, 16, 1377. (e) Short, K. M.; Ziegler, C. B., Jr. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 71. (f) Wardakhan, W. W.; Elkholy, Y. M. Phosphorus, Sulfur, Silicon Relat. Elem. 2002, 177, 2661. (g) Hermitage, S. A.; Cardwell, K. S.; Chapman, T.; Cooke, J. W. B.; Newton, R. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2001, 5, 37.
- (209) Hou, R.-S.; Wang, H.-M.; Tsai, H.-H.; Chen, L.-C. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. 2006, 53, 863.
- (210) Le, Z.-G.; Xu, J.-P.; Rao, H.-Y.; Ying, M. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2006, 43, 1223.
- (211) (a) Liu, H.; Li, Z.; Anthansen, T. Molecules 2000, 5, 1055. (b) Lakhan, R. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1981, 46, 557.
- (212) Gürsoy, A.; Terzioglu, N.; Otük, G. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 1997, 32, 753.
- (213) (a) Goel, B.; Ram, T.; Tyagi, R.; Bansal, E.; Kumar, A.; Mukherjee, D.; Sinha, J. N. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **1999**, *34*, 265. (b) Walhad, D. A.; Uwaydah, I. M. US Patent 5,061,720, 1991.
- (214) Schlienger, N.; Bryce, M. R.; Hansen, T. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 5147, and references cited therein.
- (215) Munson, M.C.; Cook, A. W.; Josey, J. A.; Rao, C. Tetrahedron Lett 1998, 39, 7223.
- (216) Holmes, C. P.; Chinn, J. P.; Cook, G. C.; Gordon, E. M.; Gallop, M. A. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 7328.
- (217) Bazureau, J. P.; Fraga-Dubreuil, J. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 6121.
- (218) Cunico, W.; Gomes, C. R. B.; Ferreira, M. L. G.; Capri, L. R.; Soares,
- M.; Wardell, S. M. S. V. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2007**, *48*, 6217. (219) (a) Stout, D. M.; Meyers, A. I. *Chem. Rev.* **1982**, *82*, 223. (b) Wei,
- X. Y.; Rulledge, A.; Triggle, D. J. J. Mol. Pharmacol. **1989**, 35, 541. (c) Bossert, F.; Vater, W. Med. Res. Rev. **1989**, 9, 291.
- (220) (a) Janis, R. A.; Triggle, D. J. J. Med. Chem. 1983, 25, 775. (b) Bocker, R. H.; Guengerich, F. P. J. Med. Chem. 1986, 28, 1596.
- (221) Hantzsch, A. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1882, 215, 1.
- (222) (a) Love, B.; Snader, K. M. J. Org. Chem. 1965, 30, 1914. (b) Alajarin, R.; Vaquero, J. J.; Garcia, J. L. N.; Alvarez-Builla, J. Synlett 1992, 297.
- (223) Sausins, A.; Duburs, G. Heterocycles 1988, 27, 269.
- (224) Shaabani, A.; Rezayan, A. H.; Rahmati, A.; Sharifi, M. Monatsh. Chem. 2006, 137, 77.
- (225) Sridhar, R.; Perumal, P. T. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 2465.
- (226) (a) Vo, D.; Matowe, W. C.; Ramesh, M.; Iqbal, N.; Wolowyk, M. W.; Howlett, S. E.; Knaus, E. E. *J. Med. Chem.* **1995**, *38*, 2851. (b) Cooper, K.; Fray, M. J.; Parry, M. J.; Richardson, K.; Steele, J. *J. Med. Chem.* **1992**, *35*, 3115.

- (227) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Basak, A. K.; Narsaiah, A. V. Green Chem. 2003, 5, 60.
- (228) Karthikeyan, G.; Perumal, P. T. Can. J. Chem. 2005, 83, 1746.
- (229) Bagley, M. C.; Brace, C.; Dale, J. W.; Ohnesorge, M.; Phillips, N. G.; Xiong, X.; Bower, J. Perkin Trans. 1 2002, 1, 1663.
- (230) Ranu, B. C.; Ranjan, J.; Sowmiah, S. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 3152. (231) Evdokimov, N. M.; Magedov, I.; Kireev, A. S.; Kornienko, A. Org.
- Lett. 2006, 8, 899.
- (232) Ranu, B. C.; Banerjee, S. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3049.
 (233) Zhang, X. Y.; Li, Y. Z.; Fan, X. S.; Qu, G. R.; Hu, X. Y.; Wang, J. J. Chin. Chem. Lett. 2006, 17, 150.
- (234) (a) Chauhan, P. M. S.; Srivastava, S. K. Curr. Med. Chem. 2001, 8, 1535. (b) Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R., Ress, C. W., Scriven, E. F. V., Eds.; Pergamon: New York, 1996; Vol. 5. (c) Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Pergamon Press: New York, 1984; Vol. 2.
- (235) (a) Cheng, C.-C.; Yan, S.-J. In Organic Reactions; Dauben, W.G., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1982; Vol. 28, Chapter 2. (b) Friedlander, P. Ber. 1882, 15, 2572. (c) Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R., Ress, C. W., Scriven, E. F. V., Eds.; Pergamon: New York, 1996; Vol. 2.
- (236) Patteux, C.; Levacher, V.; Dupas, G. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3061.
- (237) Arcadi, A.; Chiarini, M.; Giuseppe, S. D.; Marinelli, F. Synlett 2003, 203.
- (238) Palimkar, S.S.; Siddiqui, S. A.; Daniel, T.; Lahoti, R. J.; Srinivasan, K. V. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9371.
- (239) Karthikeyan, G.; Perumal, P. T. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2004, 41, 1039.
- (240) Kempter, G.; Möbius, G. J. Prakt. Chem. 1996, 34, 298.
- (241) Das, B.; Damodar, K.; Chowdhury, N.; Kumar, R. A. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2007, 274, 148.
- (242) Du, B.-X.; Li, Y.-L.; Wang, X.-S.; Zhang, M.-M.; Shi, D.-Q.; Tu, S.-J. Chin. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 26, 698.
- (243) Wang, X.; Zhang, M.; Jiang, H.; Yao, C.; Tu, S. Tetrahedron 2007, 63. 4439.
- (244) Eisner, U.; Kuthan, J. Chem. Rev. 1972, 72, 1.
- (245) Martin, N.; Quinteiro, M.; Seoane, C.; Mora, L.; Suarez, M.; Ockoa, E.; Morales, A. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1995, 51, 235.
- (246) Wang, X. S.; Shi, D. Q.; Zhang, Y. F.; Wang, S. H.; Tu, S. J. Chin. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 24, 430.
- (247) Tu, S. J.; Miao, C. B.; Gao, Y.; Feng, Y. J.; Feng, J. C. Chin. J. Chem. 2002, 20, 703.
- (248) Li, Y.-L.; Zhang, M.-M.; Wang, X.-S.; Shi, Da-Q.; Tu, S.-J.; Wei, X.-Y.; Zong, Z.-M. J. Chem. Res. 2005, 600.
- (249) Seoane, C.; Martín, N.; Quinteiro, M.; Soto, J. L.; Mora, A.; Suárez, M.; Ochoa, E.; Morales, A.; Bosque, J. R. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1995, 32, 235.
- (250) (a) Zamocka, J.; Misikova, E.; Durinda, J. Pharmazie 1991, 46610. (b) Wang, J. L.; Liu, D.; Zhang, Z. J.; Shan, S.; Han, X.; Srinivasula, S. M.; Croce, C. M.; Alnemri, E. S.; Huang, Z. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2000, 97, 7124.
- (251) O'Callaghan, C. N.; McMurry, T. B. H. J. Chem. Res. S. 1995, 214.
- (252) (a) Martin, N.; Pascual, C.; Seoane, C.; Soto, J. L. Heterocycles 1987, 26, 2811. (b) Quintela, J. M.; Peinador, C.; Moreira, M. J. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 5901.
- (253) Peng, Y.; Song, G.; Huang, F. Monatsh. Chem. 2005, 136, 727.
- (254) Yi, F.; Peng, Y.; Song, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 3931.
- (255) Peng, Y.; Song, G. Catal Commun. 2007, 8, 111.
- (256) Green, G. R.; Evans, J. M.; Vong, A. K. In Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R., Ress, C. W., Scriven, E. F. V., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, U.K., 1995; Vol. 5, p. 469.
- (257) Yu, J.; Wang, H. Synth. Commun. 2005, 35, 3133.
- (258) Li, Y.-L.; Du, B.-X.; Wang, X.-S.; Shi, D.-Q.; Tu, S.-J. J. Chem. Res. S. 2006, 157.
- (259) Bedair, A. H.; Emam, H. A.; El-Hady, N. A.; Ahmed, K. A. R.; El-Agrody, A. M. IL Farmaco 2001, 56, 965.
- (260) Shaabani, A.; Samadi, S.; Badri, Z.; Rahmati, A. Catal. Lett. 2005, 104, 39.
- (261) Viener, C.; Schroeder, C. C.; Bruce, D. W.; Karl, P. L. J. Org. Chem. 1962. 27. 3086.
- (262) (a) Seijas, J.; Vázquez-Tato, M.; Carballido-Reboredo, R. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2855, and references cited therein. (b) Kabalka, G. W.; Mereddy, A. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 6315, and references cited therein.
- (263) Havsteen, A. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1983, 32, 1141.
- (264) Banerji, A.; Goomer, N. Synthesis 1980, 874.
- (265) Hoshino, Y.; Oohinata, T.; Takeno, N. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1986, 59, 2351
- (266) LeFloch'h, Y.; LeFeuvre, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986, 27, 2751.
- (267) Balogh, M.; Laszlo, P. Organic Chemistry Using Clays; Springer: Berlin, 1993.
- (268) Sarda, S. R.; Pathan, M. Y.; Paike, V. V.; Pachmase, P. R.; Jadhav, W. N.; Pawar, R. P. Arkivoc 2006, xvi, 43.

- (270) (a) Kappe, C. O. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2002, 6, 314. (b) Domling, A.; Ugi, I. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3168. (c) Zhu, J., Bienayme, H., Eds. Multicomponent Reactions; Wiley; Weinheim, Germany, 2005.
- (271) Biginelli, P. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1893, 23, 360.
- (272) (a) Kappe, C. O. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 6937. (b) Sabitha, G.; Reddy, G. S. K. K.; Reddy, K. B.; Yadav, J. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 6497
- (273) Hu, E. H.; Sidler, D. R.; Dolling, U. H. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 3454.
- (274) Peng, J.; Deng, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 5917.
- (275) Wang, Z. T.; Wang, S. C.; Xu, L. W. Helv. Chim. Acta 2005, 88, 986.
- (276) Khosropour, A. R.; Khodaei, M. M.; Beygzadeh, M.; Jokar, M. Heterocycles 2005, 65, 767.
- (277) Putilova, E. S.; Troitskii, N. A.; Zlotin, S. G. Russ. Chem. Bull., Int. Ed. 2005, 54, 1233.
- (278) Muldon, M. J.; Gordon, C. M.; Dunkin, I. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2001, 433.
- (279) Atwal, K. S.; Rovnyak, G. C.; O'Reilly, B.C.; Schwartz, J. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 5898.
- (280) Gholap, A. R.; Venkatesan, K.; Daniel, T.; Lahott, R. J.; Srinivasan, K. V. Green Chem. 2004, 6, 147.
- (281) Hakkou, H.; Vanden, J. J. E.; Hamelina, J.; Bazureau, J. P. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 3745.
- (282) Legeay, J. C.; Eynde, J. J. V.; Bazureau, J. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1063.
- (283) (a) Martin, T. A.; Wheller, A. G.; Majewski, R. F.; Corrigan, J. R. J. Med. Chem 1964, 7, 812. (b) Kurogi, Y.; Inoue, Y.; Tsutsumi, K.; Nakamura, S.; Nagao, K.; Yohsitsugu, H.; Tsuda, Y. J. Med. Chem. 1996, 39, 1443. (c) Ana, B.; Boteanu, S. Farmacia 1971, 19, 683. (d) Dienei, J. B.; Dowalo, F.; Hoeven, H. V.; Bender, P.; Love, B. J. Med. Chem. 1973, 16, 633. (e) Ravishankar, C. H.; Devender, A. R.; Bhaskar, A. R.; Malla, V. R.; Sattur, P. B. Curr. Sci. 1984, 53, 1069. (f) Chandrasekhar, V.; Raghurama, A. R.; Malla, V. R. Indian Drugs 1986, 3, 24. (g) Naithani, P. K.; Palit, G.; Srivastava, V. K.; Shankar, K. Indian J. Chem. 1989, 28B, 745. (h) Dempcy, R. O.; Skibo, E. B. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1993, 1, 39. (i) Tereshima, K.; Shimamura, H.; Kawase, A.; Tanaka, Y.; Tanimura, T.; Kamisaki, T.; Ishizuka, Y.; Sato, M. Chem. Pharm. Bull 1995, 43, 2021. (j) Liverton, N. J.; Armstrong, D. J.; Claremon, D. A.; Remy, D. C.; Baldwin, J. J.; Lynch, R. J.; Zhang, G.; Gould, R. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 484. (k) Kobayashi, S.; Ueno, M.; Suzuki, R.; Ishitani, H. Tetrahedron Lett. **1999**, 40, 2175. (l) Gueyrard, D.; Gurnel, V.; Leoni, O.; Palmieri, S.; Rollin, P. Heterocycles 2000, 52, 827. (m) Cao, S.-L.; Feng, Y.-P.; Jiang, Y.-Y.; Liu, S.-Y.; Ding, G.-Y.; Li, R.-T. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2005, 15, 1915.
- (284) (a) Rabillound, G.; Sillion, B. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1980, 17, 1065. (b) Chenard, B. L.; Welch, W. M.; Blake, J. F.; Butler, T. W.; Reinhold, A.; Ewing, F. E.; Menniti, F. S.; Pagnozzi, M. J. J. Med. Chem. 2001, 44, 1710. (c) Connolly, D. J.; Guiry, P. J. Synlett 2001, 1707. (d) Wang, L.; Xia, J.; Qin, F.; Qian, C.; Sun, J. Synthesis 2003, 1241. (e) Xue, S.; McKenna, J.; Shineh, W.-C.; Repic, O. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 6474. (f) Abdel-Jalil, R. J.; Voelter, W.; Saeed, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 3475.
- (285) Khosropour, A. R.; Mohammadpoor-Baltork, I.; Gohrbankhani, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 3561.
- (286) Connolly, D. J.; Cusack, D.; O'Sullivan, T. P.; Guiry, P. J. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 10153.
- (287) (a) Srinivasan, N.; Ganesan, A. Chem. Commun. 2003, 916. (b) Hotha, S.; Yarrow, J. C.; Yang, J. G.; Garret, S.; Renduehinttala, K. V.; Mayer, T. U.; Kapoor, T. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 2379. (c) Cox, E. D.; Cook, J. M. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 1797.
- (288) Joshi, R. A.; Muthukrishnan, M.; More, S. V.; Garud, D. R.; Ramana, C. V.; Joshi, R. R. J Heterocycl. Chem. 2006, 43, 767.
- (289) Yen, Y. H.; Chu, Y. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 8137.
- (290) Daugan, A.; Grondin, P.; Ruault, C.; de Gouville, A. C. L.; Coste, H.; Kirilovsky, J.; Hyafil, F.; Labaudiniere, R. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 4525.
- (291) Tseng, M.-C.; Liang, Y.-M.; Chu, Y.-H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 6131.
- Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Basak, A. K.; Narsaiah, A. V. (292)Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 2217.
- (293) Yen, Y.-H.; Chu, Y.-H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 8137.
- (294) Prins, H. J. Chem. Weekbl. 1919, 16, 1072.
- (295) (a) Adams, D.R.; Bhatnagar, S. P. Synthesis 1977, 661. (b) Arundale, E.; Mikeska, L. A. Chem. Rev. 1952, 51, 505.
- (296) (a) Nicolaou, K. C.; Daines, R. A.; Ogawa, Y.; Chakraborty, T. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 4696. (b) Rychnovsky, S. D.;

Griesegraber, G.; Kim, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2621, and references cited therein.

- (297) (a) Koichi, M.; Masaki, S. *Tetrahedron* 1996, 52, 7287. (b) Rychnovsky, S. D.; Yang, G.; Hu, Y.; Khiere, U. R. *J. Org. Chem.* 1997, 62, 3022. (c) Delmas, M.; Gaset, A. *Synthesis* 1980, 871. (d) Gharbi, R. E.; Delmas, M.; Gaset, A. *Synthesis* 1981, 361.
- (298) (a) Kobzar, E. A.; Korchagina, D. V.; Salakhutdinov, N. F.; Ione, K. G.; Barkhash, V. A. J. Org. Chem.USSR (Engl.Transl) 1992, 28, 1030. (b) Tateiwa, J.; Hashimoto, K.; Yamauchi, T.; Uemura, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 69, 2361. (c) Chandrasekhar, S.; Reddy, B. V. S. Synlett 1998, 851. (d) Bach, T.; Lobel, J. Synthesis 2002, 2521.
- (299) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Bhaishya, G. Green Chem. 2003, 5, 264.
- (300) (a) Tateiwa, J.; Kimura, A.; Takasuka, M.; Uemura, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 2169. (b) Aggarwal, V. K.; Vennall, G. P.; Davey, P. N.; Newman, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 1997.
- (301) (a) Streith, J.; Defoin, A. Synlett 1996, 189. (b) Defoin, A.; Sarazin, H.; Streith, J. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 13769. (c) Bach, P.; Bols, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 3460.
- (302) Miyashita, M.; Awen, B. Z. E.; Yoshikoshi, A. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 7569.
- (303) (a) Gilchrist, T. L. Chem. Rev. 1983, 12, 53. (b) Gilchrist, T. L.; Roberts, T. G. Chem. Commun 1978, 847. (c) Zimmer, R.; Reissig, H. U. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1991, 553. (d) Yoon, S. C.; Kim, K.; Park, Y. J. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 7334. (e) Naruse, M.; Aoyagi, S.; Kibayashi, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 595.
- (304) (a) Bowman, W. R.; Davies, R. V.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Sohal, G. S.; Titman, R. B.; Wilkins, D. J. *Perkin Trans. 1* 1997, 155. (b) Dondas, H. A.; Grigg, R.; Hadjisoteriou, M.; Markandu, J.; Kennewell, P.; Thornson-Pett, M. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 1119.
- (305) (a) Tiecco, M.; Testaferri, L.; Tingoli, M.; Bagnoli, L.; Marini, F. Perkin Trans. 1 1993, 1989. (b) Grigg, R.; Hadjisoteriou, M.; Kennewell, P.; Markandu, J. Chem. Commun. 1992, 1537.
- (306) Bishop, R.; Hawkins, S. C.; Quibuyen, T. A. O.; Brooks, P. R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1988**, 29, 6805.
- (307) Armesto, D.; Austin, M. A.; Griffiths, O. J.; Horspool, W. M.; Carpintero, M. Chem. Commun. 1996, 2715.
- (308) (a) Kaiser, A.; Mayer, K. K.; Sellmer, A.; Wiegrebe, W. Monatsh. Chem 2003, 3, 343. (b) Ellames, G. J.; Hewkin, C. T.; Jackson, R. F. W.; Smith, D. I.; Standen, S. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 26, 3471.
- (309) Saiki, H.; Mukai, T. Chem. Lett. 1981, 1561.
- (310) Lathbury, D.; Gallagher, T. Chem. Commun. 1986, 1017.
- (311) Castin, V.; Rentzea, C. N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1980, 92, 195.
- (312) Boberg, F.; Ruhr, M.; Garburg, K. H.; Garming, A. J. Heterocycl. Chem. **1986**, 23, 759.
- (313) Kitazume, T.; Zulfigar, F.; Tanaka, G. Green Chem. 2000, 2, 133.
- (314) Krapcho, J.; Szabo, A.; William, J. J. Med. Chem. 1963, 6, 214.
- (315) Unger, O. Ber. 1897, 30, 607.
- (316) Coutts, R. T.; Barton, D. L.; Smiyh, E. M. Can. J. Chem. 1966, 44, 1733.
- (317) Sakamoto, M.; Akimoto, T.; Fukutomi, K.; Ishii, K. Chem. Pharm. Bull. **1984**, 32, 2516.
- (318) Tandon, V.; Mishra, A. K.; Chhikara, B. S. *Heterocycles* 2004, 63, 1057.
- (319) Miyano, S.; Abe, N.; Sumoto, K.; Teramoto, K. *Perkin Trans. I* **1976**, 1146.
- (320) (a) Smolin, E.M.; Rapoport, L., s-Triazines and Derivatives; Interscience; New York, 1959; Chapter IV, p 217. (b) Tanaka, N.; Fukue, Y.; Mizusawa, K.; Ishikawa, M. World Patent WO9724338, 1997. (c) Piesch, S. D.; Wolf, A.; Sinsel, S. German Patent DE3512446, 1986. (d) Parker, B.; Son, D. Y. *Inorg. Chem. Commun.* 2002, 5, 516. (e) Flood, L. A.; Gupta, R. B. World Patent WO9604258, 1996. (f) Oishi, R.; Utaka, K.; Ono, K.; Ohki, M.; Yasue, T. Eur. Patent 348550, 1990. (g) Kalab, J.; Moravek, J. Patent CS254623, 1988. (h) Ogino, A.; Matsumura, S.; Fujita, T. J. Med. Chem. 1980, 23, 437. (i) Taguchi, H.; Katsushima, T.; Ban, M.; Watanabe, A. Japanese Patent JP 01117863, 1989.
- (321) (a) Deans, R.; Cooke, G.; Rotello, V. M. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 836. (b) Beijer, F. H.; Sijbesma, R. P.; Vekemans, J. A. J. M.; Meijer, E. W.; Kooijiman, H.; Spek, A. L. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6371.
- (322) (a) Lalezari, I.; Golgolab, H. J. Chem. Eng. 1971, 16, 117. (b) Smyrl, N. R.; Smithwick, R. W. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1982, 19, 493.
- (323) Peng, Y.; Song, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 5313.
- (324) (a) Schutz, H. Benzodiazepines, Springer: Heidelberg, Germany, 1982.
 (b) Landquist, J. K. In Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, U.K., 1984; Vol I, pp 166. (c) Randall, L. O.; Kappel, B. In Benzodiazepines; Garattini, S., Mussini, E., Randall, L. O., Eds.; Raven Press: New York, 1973; p 27.
- (325) (a) Balakrishna, M. S.; Kaboudin, B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 1127. (b) Curini, M.; Epifano, F.; Marcotullio, M. C.; Rosati, O.

Tetrahedron Lett. **2001**, *42*, 3193. (c) Zhong, W.; Zhang, Y.; Chen, X. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 73.

- (326) Stahlofen, P.; Ried, W. Chem. Ber. 1957, 90, 815.
- (327) Ried, W.; Torinus, E. Chem. Ber. 1959, 92, 2902.
- (328) Herbert, J. A. L.; Suschitzky, H. Perkin Trans. 1 1974, 2657.
- (329) Morales, H. R.; Bulbarela, A.; Contreras, R. *Heterocycles* **1986**, *24*, 135.
- (330) Jung, D. I.; Choi, T. W.; Kim, Y. Y.; Kim, I. S.; Park, Y. M.; Lee, Y. G.; Jung, D. H. Synth. Commun. 1999, 29, 1941.
- (331) (a) Kaboudin, B.; Navace, K. *Heterocycles* 2001, 55, 1443. (b) Minothora, P.; Julia, S.-S.; Constantinos, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 1755.
- (332) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Eshwaraiah, B.; Anuradha, K. Green Chem. 2002, 4, 592.
- (333) Jarikote, D. V.; Siddiqui, S. A.; Rajagopal, R.; Daniel, T.; Lahoti, R. J.; Srinivasan, K. V. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 1835.
- (334) Sheldon, R. Chem. Commun. 2001, 2399.
- (335) Dupont, J.; de Souza, R. F.; Suarez, P. A. Z. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 3667.
- (336) Ranke, J.; Stolte, S.; Störmann, R.; Arning, J.; Jastorff, B. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 2183.
- (337) Jastorff, B.; Mölter, K.; Behrend, P.; Bottin-Weber, U.; Filser, J.; Heimersm, A.; Ondruschka, B.; Ranke, J.; Schaefer, M.; Schröder, H.; Stark, A.; Stepnowski, P.; Stock, F.; Störmann, R.; Stolte, S.; Welz- Biermann, U.; Ziegert, S.; Thöming, J. Green Chem. 2005, 7, 362.
- (338) Pernak, J.; Rogoza, J.; Mirska, I. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2001, 36, 313.
- (339) Pernak, J.; Kalewska, J.; Ksycinska, H.; Cybulski, J. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2001, 36, 899.
- (340) Pernak, J.; Sobaszkiewicz, K.; Mirska, I. Green Chem. 2003, 5, 52.
- (341) Pernak, J.; Chwała, P. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 38, 1035.
- (342) Pernak, J.; Goc, I.; Mirska, I. Green Chem. 2004, 6, 323.
- (343) Stock, F.; Hoffmann, J.; Ranke, J.; Störmann, R.; Ondruschka, B.; Jastorff, B. *Green Chem.* **2004**, *6*, 286.
- (344) Ranke, J.; Mölter, K.; Stock, F.; Bottin-Weber, U.; Poczobutt, J.; Hoffmann, J.; Ondruschka, B.; Filser, J.; Jastorff, B. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2004**, *58*, 396.
- (345) Docherty, K.; Kulpa, C. F. Green Chem. 2005, 7, 185.
- (346) Stepnowski, P.; Składanowski, A. C.; Ludwiczak, A.; Łaczyn'ska, E. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 2004, 23, 513.
- (347) Swatloski, R. P.; Hobrey, J. D.; Memon, S. B.; Caldwell, G. A.; Caldwell, K. A.; Rogers, R. D. Chem. Commun. 2004, 668.
- (348) Bernot, R. J.; Kennedy, E. E.; Lamberti, G. A. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2005, 24, 1759.
- (349) Bernot, R. J.; Brueseke, M. A.; Evans-White, M. A.; Lamberti, G. A. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2005, 24, 87.
- (350) Lee, S.-M.; Chang, W.-J.; Choi, A.-R.; Koo, Y.-M. Korean J. Chem. Eng. 2005, 22, 687.
- (351) Stole, S.; Arning, J.; Bottin-Weber, U.; Matzke, M.; Stock, F.; Thiele, K.; Uerdingen, M.; Welz-Biermann, U.; Jastorff, B.; Ranke, J. *Green Chem.* 2006, 8, 621.
- (352) Wells, A. S.; Coombe, V. T. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2006, 10, 794.
- (353) Pretti, C.; Chiappe, C.; Pieraccini, D.; Gregori, M.; Abramo, F.; Monni, G.; Intorre, L. Green Chem. 2006, 8, 238.
- (354) Kralisch, D.; Stark, A.; Korsten, S.; Kreisel, G.; Ondruschka, B. Green Chem. 2005, 7, 301.
- (355) (a) Angell, C. A. J. Phys. Chem. 1966, 70, 2793. (b) Anthony, J. L.; Maginn, E. J.; Brennecke, J. F. J. Phys. Chem. B 2002, 106, 7315.
 (c) Arlt, W.; Seiler, M.; Jork, C.; Schneider, T., European Patent EP 2824 (2002074718), 2002. (d) Armstrong, D. W.; He, L.; Liu, Y. S. Anal. Chem. 1999, 71, 3873. (e) Berthod, A.; He, L.; Armstrong, D. W. Chromatographia 2001, 53, 63. (f) Blanchard, L. A.; Brennecke, J. F. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2001, 40, 287. (g) Boesmann, A.; Datsevich, L.; Jess, A.; Lauter, A.; Schmitz, C.; Wasserscheid, P. Chem. Commun. 2001, 2494. (h) Boudreau, L. C.; Driver, M. S.; Munson, C. L.; Schinski, W. L. US Patent 37044 (2003125599), 2001. (i) Bradley, A.; Cogan, C. J.; Hanson, B. C.; Lewin, R. G.; Ogden, M. D.; Owens, S. L.; Pitner, W. R.; Rooney, D. W.; Sanders, D.; Smart, N. G.; Taylor, R. J.; Thied, R. C. British Patent GB729 (2002066712), 2002.
- (356) (a) Brennecke, J. F.; Maginn, E. J. US Patent 113400 (2002189444), 2002. (b) Chun, S.; Dzyuba, S. V.; Bartsch, R. A. Anal. Chem. 2001, 73, 3737. (c) Dai, S.; Ju, Y. H.; Barnes, C. E. Dalton Trans. 1999, 1201. (d) Dietz, M. L.; Dzielawa, J. A. Chem. Commun. 2001, 2124. (e) Gutowski, K. E.; Broker, G. A.; Willauer, H. D.; Huddleston, J. G.; Swatloski, R. P.; Holbrey, J. D.; Rogers, R. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 6632. (f) He, L.; Zhang, W.; Zhao, L.; Liu, X.; Jiang, S. J. Chromatogr., A 2003, 1007, 39. (g) Huddleston, J. G.; Rogers, R. D. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1765. (h) Jensen, M. P.; Dzielawa, J. A.; Rickert, P.; Dietz, M. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 10664. (i) Jiang, T. F.; Gu, Y. L.; Liang, B.; Li, J. B.; Shi, Y. P.; Ou, Q. Y. Anal. Chim. Acta. 2003, 479, 249. (j) Koch, V. R.; Nanjundiah, C.; Carlin, R. T. US Patent 11097(9702252), 1996.

- (357) (a) Kroeckel, J.; Kragl, U. Chem. Eng. Technol. 2003, 26, 1166. (b) Letcher, T. M.; Soko, B.; Ramjugernath, D.; Deenadayalu, N.; Nevines, A.; Naicker, P. K. J. Chem. Eng. Data 2003, 48, 708. (c) Liu, F.; Abrams, M. B.; Baker, R. T.; Tumas, W. Chem. Commun. 2001, 433. (d) Liu, J. F.; Chi, Y. G.; Jiang, G. B.; Tai, C.; Peng, J. F.; Hu, J. T. J. Chromatogr. A 2004, 1026, 143. (e) Lo, W. H.; Yang, H. Y.; Wei, G. T. Green Chem. 2003, 5, 639. (f) Nakashima, K.; Kubota, F.; Maruyama, T.; Goto, M. Anal. Sci. 2003, 19, 1097. (g) O'Rear, D. J.; Boudreau, L. C.; Driver, M. S.; Munson, C. L. C. U.S. Patent 32211(2002034863), 2001.
- (358) (a) Pletnev, I. V.; Formanovskii, A. A.; Smirnova, S. V.; Torocheshnikova, I. I.; Khachatryan, K. S.; Shvedene, N. V.; Nemilova, M. Y. J. Anal. Chem. 2003, 58, 632. (b) Qin, W.; Wei, H.; Li, S. F. Y. J. Chromatogr. A 2003, 985, 447. (c) Roettger, D.; Nierlich, F.; Krissmann, J.; Wasserscheid, P.; Keim, W.; Oxeno, O. G. European Patent EP 430 (2003070667), 2003. (d) Schoonover, R. E. US Patent 289931(2003085156), 2002. (e) Scurto, A. M.; Aki, S. N. V. K.; Brennecke, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 10276. (f) Scurto, A. M.; Aki, S. N. V. K.; Brennecke, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 1997, 68, 351. (h) Seddon, K. R. Nat. Mater. 2003, 2, 363. (i) Stuff, J. R. J. Chromatogr. 1991, 547, 484. (j) Vaher, M.; Koel, M.; Kaljurand, M. J. Chromatogr. A 2002, 979, 27.
- (359) (a) Warren, D.; Letcher, T. M.; Ramjugernath, D.; Raal, J. D. J. Chem. Thermodyn. 2003, 35, 1335. (b) Wasserscheid, P. Kragl, U.; Kroeckel, J. European Patent EP12253 (2003039719), 21, 2002. (c) Wasserscheid, P.; Boesmann, A. Jess, A.; Datsevitch, L.; Schmitz, C.; Lauter, A. European Patent EP12239 (2003037835), 2002. (d) Wei, G. T.; Yang, Z.; Chen, C. J. Anal. Chim. Acta 2003, 488, 183. (e) Wu, B.; Reddy, R. G.; Rogers, R. D. US Patent 982190 (2002070122), 2001. (f) Yanes, E. G.; Gratz, S. R.; Baldwin, M. J.; Robison, S. E.; Stalcup, A. M. Anal. Chem. 2001, 73, 3838. (g) Yoshida, J.; Itami, K. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 3693. (h) Zhang, W.; He, L.; Gu, Y.; Liu, X.; Jiang, S. Anal. Lett. 2003, 36, 827.
- (360) (a) Bradaric-Baus, C. J.; Chernishenko, M. J.; Robertson, A. J. Chim. Oggi-Chem. Today 1999, 17, 65. (b) Brennecke, J. F.; Maginn, E. J. AIChE J. 2001, 47, 2384. (c) Fletcher, K. A.; Baker, S. N.; Baker, G. A.; Pandey, S. New J.Chem. 2003, 27, 1706. (d) Hoffmann, M. M.; Heitz, M. P.; Carr, J. B.; Tubbs, J. D. J. Dispersion Sci. Technol. 2003, 24, 155. (e) Nunes, V. M. B.; Lourenco, M. J. V.; Santos, F. J. V.; de Castro, C. A. N. J. Chem. Eng. Data 2003, 48, 446. (f) Seddon, K. R. Kinet. Catal. 1996, 37, 693. (g) Seddon, K. R. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 1997, 68, 351. (h) Sheldon, R. A. Pure Appl. Chem. 2000, 72, 1233.
- (361) (a) Abdul-Sada, A. A. K.; Ambler, P. W.; Hodgson, P. K. G.; Seddon, K. R.; Stewart, N. J. British GB252 (9521871), 1995, and European Patent EP 300679 (558187), 1993. (b) Arendt, R. H., Rosolowski, J. H. US Patents US 896634 (4152281), 1978, and US 896633 (4152280), 1978. (c) Atkins, B. L.; Bashaw, R. N.; Gardner, J. B., Harper, B. G. US Patents 693070 (3575881), 1967. (d) Biedron, T.; Kubisa, P. *Polym. Int.* 2003, *52*, 1584. (e) Carlin, R. T.; Trulove, P. C.; Mantz, R. A.; O'Dea, J. J.; Osteryoung, R. A. *Faraday Trans.* 1996, *92*, 3969. (f) Carlin, R. T.; Fuller, *J. Chem. Commun.* 1997, 1345. (g) Carmichael, A. J.; Haddleton, D. M.; Bon, S. A. F.; Seddon, K. R. *Chem. Commun.* 2000, 1237. (h) Chauvin, Y.; Olivier, H.; Wyrvalski, C. N.; Simon, L. C.; de Souza, R. F. J. Catal. 1997, *165*, 275.
- (362) (a) Ding, J.; Zhou, D.; Spinks, G.; Wallace, G.; Forsyth, S.; Forsyth, M.; MacFarlane, D. Chem. Mater. 2003, 15, 2392. (b) Eaton, S. S.; Kee, A.; Konda, R.; Eaton, G. R.; Trulove, P. C.; Carlin, R. T. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 6910. (c) Fox, D. M.; Awad, W. H.; Gilman, J. W.; Maupin, P. H.; De Long, H. C.; Trulove, P. C. Green Chem. 2003, 5, 724. (d) Fukushima, T.; Kosaka, A.; Ishimura, Y.; Yamamoto, T.; Takigawa, T.; Ishii, N.; Aida, T. Science 300, 2072. (e) Giakoumelou, I.; Caraba, R. M.; Parvulescu, V. I.; Boghosian, S. Catal. Lett. 2002, 78, 209. (f) Hlatky, G. G. US Patent 6086 (2001081436), 2001. (g) Hong, K.; Zhang, H.; Mays, J. W.; Visser, A. E.; Brazel, C. S.; Holbrey, J. D.; Reichert, W. M.; Rogers, R. D.

Chem. Commun. **2002**, 1368. (h) Hope, K. D.; Driver, M. S.; Harris, T.V. US Patent 588103 (6395948), 2000. (i) Hope, K. D.; Twomey, D. W.; Stern, D. A.; Collins, J. B. US Patent 12821 (2003089390), 2003;(j) Ikeda, A.; Sonoda, K.; Ayabe, M.; Tamaru, S. I.; Nakashima, T.; Kimizuka, N.; Shinkai, S. *Chem. Lett.* **2001**, 1154.

- (363) (a) Kabalka, G.W.; Malladi, R. R. Chem. Commun. 2000, 2191. (b) Kadokawa, J.I.; Iwasaki, Y.; Tagaya, H. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 2002, 23, 757. (c) Kawano, R.; Watanabe, M. Chem. Commun. 2003, 330. (d) Keim, P.; Wilhelm, P.; Waffenschmidt, P.; Horst, P.; Wasserscheid, P. German Patent DE 19901524 (19901524), 1999. (e) Keim, W.; Korth, W.; Wasserscheid, P. British Patent GB 3150 (2000016902), 1999. (f) Khaled, M. M.; Carlin, R. T.; Trulove, P. C.; Eaton, G. R.; Eaton, S. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 3465. (g) Klingshirn, M. A.; Broker, G. A.; Holbrey, J. D.; Shaughnessy, K. H.; Rogers, R. D. Chem. Commun. 2002, 1394. (h) Kragl, U.; Kaftzik, N.; Schoefer, S.; Wasserscheid, P. European Patent EP124195 (1205555), 2000. (i) Lu, W.; Mattes, B. R.; Fadeev, A. G. US Patent 50321 (2002063073), 2001. (j) Lu, W.; Fadeev, A. G.; Qi, B.; Smela, E.; Mattes, B. R.; Ding, J.; Spinks, G. M.; Mazurkiewicz, J.; Zhou, D.; Wallace, G. G.; MacFarlane, D. R.; Forsyth, S. A.; Forsyth, M. Science 2002, 297, 983.
- (364) (a) Ma, H.; Wan, X.; Chen, X.; Zhou, Q. F. *Polymer* 2003, 44, 5311.
 (b) Marcilla, R.; Blazquez, J. A.; Rodriguez, J.; Pomposo, J. A.; Mecerreyes, D. *J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.* 2003, 42, 208.
 (c) Mastrorilli, P.; Nobile, C. F.; Gallo, V.; Suranna, G. P.; Farinola, G. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* 2002, 184, 73. (d) Mays, J. W.; Bu, L.; Rogers, R. D.; Hong, K.; Zhang, H. US Patent 10091(2002079269), 2002. (e) Mehnert, C. P.; Cook, R. A.; Dispenziere, N. C.; Afeworki, M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2002, 124, 12932. (f) Mehnert, C. P.; Cook, R. A. US Patent 13599 (2002098560), 2002;(g) Murphy, V. US Patent 28740 (2000032658), 1999. (h) Nakashima, T.; Kimizuka, N. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2003, 125, 6386. (i) Naudin, E.; Ho, H. A.; Branchaud, S.; Breau, L.; Belanger, D. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2002, 106, 10585. (j) Noda, A.; Hayamizu, K.; Watanabe, M. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2001, 105, 4603.
- (365) (a) Noel, M. A. M.; Trulove, P. C.; Osteryoung, R. A. Anal. Chem. 1991, 63, 2892. (b) Pelrine, B. P.; Comolli, A. G.; Lee, L. K. US Patent 238310 (6139723), 1999. (c) Perrier, S.; Davis, T. P.; Carmichael, A. J.; Haddleton, D. M. Chem. Commun. 2002, 2226. (d) Riisager, A.; Wasserscheid, P.; van Hal, R.; Fehrmann, R. J. Catal. 2003, 219, 452. (e) Scott, M. P.; Brazel, C. S.; Benton, M. G.; Mays, J. W.; Holbrey, J. D.; Rogers, R. D. Chem. Commun. 2002, 1370. (f) Shibata, Y.; Kato, T.; Kado, T.; Shiratuchi, R.; Takashima, W.; Kaneto, K.; Hayase, S. Chem. Commun. 2003, 2730. (g) Susan, M.; Noda, A.; Mitsushima, S.; Watanabe, M. Chem. Commun. 2003, 938. (h) Vlacil, F.; Vins, I.; Coupek, J. J. Chromatogr. 1987, 391, 119. (i) Wasserscheid, P.; Keim, T. British Patent GB992 (9847616), 1998. (j) Wasserscheid, P.; Godeon, C. M.; Hilgers, C.; Muldoon, M. J.; Dunkin, I. R. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1700. (k) Wasserscheid, P.; Boesmann, A.; Van Hal, R. European Patent EP10206 (2003022812), 2002.
- (366) (a) Zhang, S.; Zhang, Q.; Zhang, Z. C. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2004, 43, 614. (b) Pitner, W. R.; Bradley, A. E.; Rooney, D. W.; Sanders, D.; Seddon, K. R.; Thied, R. C.; Hatter, J. E. NATO ASI Ser., Ser. C 2003, 92, 209. (c) Zhang, S.; Zhang, Z. C. Green Chem. 2002, 4, 376. (d) Fadeev, A. G.; Meagher, M. M. Chem. Commun. 2001, 295. (e) Bosmann, A.; Datsevich, L.; Jess, A.; Lauter, A.; Schmitz, C.; Wasserscheid, P. Chem. Comm. 2001, 2494. (f) Kawata, K.; Zakeeruddin, S. M.; Graetzel, M. Proc. Electrochem. Soc. 2002, 2002-19, 16. (g) Lo, W. H.; Yang, H. Y.; Wei, G. T. Green Chem. 2003, 5, 639. (h) O'Rear, D. J.; Boudreau, L. C.; Driver, M. S.; Munson, C. L. C. U.S. Patent US32211 (2002034863), 2001,
- (367) Swatloski, R. P.; Rogers, R. D.; Holbrey, J. D., PCT Int. Appl., 2003, 59 pp; Patents WO 2003029329, A2 20030410, CAN 138:289216, and AN 2003:282640.

CR078399Y